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THE WORLD OF FINANCE

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

In this chapter we will consider the basic definitions and concepts
of the financial world, the meaning and scope of finance, and how
it impacts daily activities. We will then consider the goals of
finance, which center on how a firm maximizes value, ensures
proper liquidity and solvency, and manages risks. With this back-
ground in hand we will then discuss the financial process, a cycle
based on financial reporting, planning, and decision-making, and
consider how market factors can impact the cycle. We will con-
clude with a brief overview of the book, describing in general
terms the concepts/tools, instruments/transactions, and markets/
participants discussed in subsequent chapters.

DEFINITION AND SCOPE OF FINANCE

Finance is the study of concepts, applications, and systems that affect
the value (or wealth) of individuals, companies, and countries over
the short and long term. The study of finance is both qualitative and
quantitative, and we shall consider both dimensions in this book.
Once we understand the essential elements of finance, we can identify
the motivations and goals that drive specific actions and decisions.
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Finance affects the daily lives of people and organizations.
Though financial dealings have existed for centuries, their presence
and importance have become even more apparent in our modern
era of technology, information, consumption, and investment.
Indeed, the penetration of finance is so thorough that we needn’t
look far to see its impact: on any given day we are likely to be
aware of economic growth and inflation estimates, stock market
and interest rate quotes, oil price trends, credit and mortgage loan
offers, corporate earnings announcements, and takeovers and
bankruptcies. A financial transaction occurs every time we place
savings into a deposit account or the stock market, or make a
purchase on a credit card. A financial transaction also occurs when
a company borrows money from its bankers or issues bonds to
investors or acquires a competitor. And a financial transaction
occurs when a government agency issues bonds to finance its
budget requirements, sells state-owned assets to the private sector,
or changes its interest rate policies. It's easy to imagine that, when
each one of these individual transactions is multiplied by thou-
sands or millions of similar transactions, asset prices and capital
flows can change and affect the fortunes of individuals, companies,
and countries.

While finance can obviously affect a whole range of
participants — from countries to companies and individuals — we
will focus our discussion on companies. The corporate focus is
useful because companies drive much of the financial activity that
impacts all other participants. For instance, companies issue stock
and bonds, which individuals can purchase for their savings and
investment plans. Similarly, companies generate earnings and
create jobs, which together help boost a country’s national output.
The narrower corporate focus is also practical, as it makes the
material easier to manage and focus.

THE GOALS OF FINANCE

A company exists to produce goods and services, and doing so
successfully leads to the creation of an enterprise with value. In
fact, a company operating in a free market economy aims to
maximize the value of its operation. Naturally, this is just one
primary goal — we can easily imagine that a company may also
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try to achieve other goals, such as building market share, estab-
lishing competitive leadership, creating an international presence,
developing brand name recognition, promoting employee/commu-
nity support, and so forth. Ultimately, however, a company seeks
to create a maximum level of enduring enterprise value. This, in
turn, can be accomplished by maximizing profits, managing
liquidity and solvency, and managing financial and operating
risks.

MAXIMIZING PROFITS

Companies seek to maximize value (wealth) while adhering to
certain social, legal, and regulatory constraints. When markets are
left to their own devices — meaning government involvement is at
an absolute minimum and consumers are free to choose what
goods/services to buy — strong companies will expand and profit,
while weaker ones will be relegated to a small market niche or
even close down. How can a company become stronger and
increase its wealth? The obvious answer is by increasing its profits:
a company that makes more money is more valuable than one that
makes less money, and if it can do so continuously, over a long
period of time, it becomes stronger.

Let’s consider a simple example to help frame the discussion.
Assume that a hypothetical company, ABC Co. (which we shall
revisit throughout the book), is in business to produce certain
goods, which it sells to its customers. In order to produce these
goods it has a staff of workers and owns a factory (which it
depreciates, or reduces in value, on a regular basis as a result of
normal “wear and tear”). The purchase price of the factory is paid
by taking out a loan from a local bank. The rest of the company’s
assets (i.e. items that it owns) are kept in short-term bank deposits.
The revenues earned by selling the goods are used to buy raw
materials from abroad, repay the interest and principal on the loan,
the salaries of the employees, the rent on the office space, and
taxes to the government. The remaining balance, net income or
net profit, is then reinvested in the business. This example raises a
number of important questions about how the company operates
and how it can maximize its profits. For instance, does the com-
pany maximize profits by:
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Buying raw materials from abroad rather than locally?
Borrowing from the local bank, rather than issuing bonds or stock?
Purchasing the factory instead of leasing it?

Depreciating the factory on an accelerated basis rather than a
straight-line basis?

Renting the office space instead of buying it?

Keeping its remaining assets in short-term bank deposits rather
than long-term securities?

e Reinvesting net profits rather than paying them out to the
owners?

The correct answers are not immediately apparent, mainly because
we need to understand more about the company, its financial
structure, its operating environment, and the competitive market-
place. And, of course, we need a proper suite of financial concepts
and tools so we can evaluate the issues and alternatives; we shall
consider these concepts and tools in subsequent chapters. The point
to stress is that each one of these questions forms part of the
financial decision-making process that every company must go
through in managing its operations.

Let’s now extend the example one step further, to illustrate that
the scope of finance is very broad. Assume that the company wants
to expand its operations and decides to buy a competing firm. To
arrange the acquisition it borrows from its local bankers. Once the
acquired company is fully integrated the firm invests in factories
located around the world, which allows it to source raw materials
in each local marketplace, produce goods in a local setting, and
then sell them to the local consumer base. Any profits it earns are
50 percent reinvested in the local operations, while the remaining
50 percent is repatriated to the home office.

Once again, we ask whether ABC Co. maximizes profits by:

e Acquiring a competitor instead of growing through internal
resources?
Using loans instead of stock to buy the competitor?
Making a series of long-term investments in local markets
instead of concentrating production in the home market?

e Sourcing raw materials in each local market rather than arran-
ging a single centralized purchase agreement for all markets?
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e Retaining 50 percent of its local profits in each local operation
and repatriating the other 50 percent to head office?

The correct answers are still uncertain because we again lack the
necessary tools and information.

So how does a company actually create profits? Broadly speak-
ing it can do so by investing, speculating, or restructuring. Let’s
consider each one.

Generating revenues and profits is accomplished primarily
by investing in productive resources — plant and equipment, tech-
nology, intellectual property, human resources, and financial
assets. We can define investing as the commitment of capital in a
venture, project, asset, or security in order to create more value.
Investment is often geared toward physical assets, like the pur-
chase or construction of a factory, the development of a power
plant, or the purchase or lease of a fleet of ships. Automobile
manufacturers, airlines, energy companies, steel companies, and
others regularly invest in such physical assets. In other cases
investment is based on the purchase of securities, such as stocks
and bonds, that are also designed to generate a return. This is an
“indirect” form of investment in productive assets, as the company
buying securities (perhaps for its investment or retirement benefits
portfolio) is actually contributing its capital to the firm that has
issued the security; that firm, in turn, is likely to be using the
proceeds to invest in the hard assets and projects we have just
mentioned. Some firms, like banks, insurance companies, and
mutual funds/unit trusts, have a great deal of investments in
securities.

Some firms try to make profits by speculating. Speculating, like
investing, is a method of committing capital in order to generate a
satisfactory return. Speculative activities are generally centered on
a company’s purchase or sale of securities, financial contracts, or
select physical assets (commodities, real estate) rather than the
direct purchase of productive assets used to create goods and ser-
vices. In fact, specialized institutions like banks and investment
funds are primarily involved in speculative activities. The intent in
these situations is to balance risk and return: speculators are often
willing to assume a great deal of risk if they believe the returns
they can earn are adequate.
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A firm can also create or expand profits by restructuring corpo-
rate operations. It may do so by altering its business through a
corporate finance transaction such as a merger or acquisition, or
the sale of a subsidiary no longer considered essential to the cor-
porate process. It can also do so by restructuring its balance sheet.
A company pursuing such strategies hopes to expand the revenue
base, lower costs, and/or increase operating efficiencies — any, or
all, of which can help generate profits.

MANAGING LIQUIDITY AND SOLVENCY

While a company may wish to maximize its profits and value, it
must first be in sound financial condition. A company that has
been weakened by bad decisions or market circumstances is inter-
ested primarily in surviving from month to month and is unlikely
to be thinking about ways of expanding its earnings power and
value. Accordingly, it must make sure that its foundation is
strong. In financial terms this relates to two key areas: liquidity
and solvency.

Liquidity is defined as a sufficiency of cash to pay bills and cover
any surprises or emergencies. Liquidity management, a key aspect
of short-term financial planning, deals with daily cash inflows and
outflows. Firms that lack enough cash to cover their short-term
outflows and those that rely on only a few sources of external
funding, such as bank credit lines, are at a greater risk of losses if
they encounter difficulties. Companies that keep a prudent amount
of cash on hand and arrange external financing across a broad
range of markets, instruments, investors/lenders, and maturities,
stand a much better chance of weathering problems arising from
an excess of unexpected payments or the loss of a particular
funding source.

So, companies create liquidity by keeping some portion of assets
in the form of cash or short-term securities (such as treasury bills)
and establishing proper bank credit arrangements. If ABC Co. has
a £10 million credit line with its bank and is presented with
unexpected payments of £5 million, it can pay the charges using
the credit line and continue on with its operations undisrupted.
Naturally, it will have to repay the money it has borrowed to
meet the emergency payment, but it will have more time to do so
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(perhaps up to several years). The main point is that ABC Co. has
averted a cash crisis. Or, instead of using the bank facility ABC Co.
may sell £5 million of short-term treasury bills that it holds in its
portfolio expressly for emergencies. The objective is the same:
averting a liquidity squeeze by arranging in advance the right
mechanism to deal with the problem. Naturally, proper manage-
ment of liquidity raises certain questions:

What is the best type of liquidity credit facility for a company?
Should liquidity be accessed by preserving more cash and short-
term assets on the balance sheet (internal), arranging more
bank credit lines (external), or both?

o If assets are to be used, is a discount to the value of those assets
necessary in order to provide a better reflection of liquidation
value?

How much liquidity capacity is necessary?

Do liquidity needs change during the season or economic cycle?
How much enterprise value is lost by holding too much non-
earning cash on the balance sheet?

The finance framework helps a company answer these questions
and develop the right kind of program to ensure a liquidity crisis is
avoided. While liquidity planning is an essential process for all
companies, it is especially critical for small- and medium-sized
companies that lack the resources and credit access that large firms
enjoy.

Solvency is defined as a sufficiency of capital (or permanent/
semi-permanent funds) to meet unexpected losses. Companies
generally operate their businesses with a certain amount of equity
capital and retained earnings (and certain classes of long-term
debt) to protect against potentially large and unexpected losses that
consume its resources. By preserving this buffer a company tries
to ensure that it can remain a going concern, even under dire cir-
cumstances. For instance, if ABC Co. has a capital base of £250
million that supports £1 billion of assets, and it generates loss of
£150 million as a result of negative judgments on a lawsuit, it will
deplete a portion of its capital base, i.e. the buffer falls from £250
million to £100 million. While this is clearly a dangerous situation
and ABC Co. will need to rebuild its financial position as quickly
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as possible, it can still continue operating. If the company didn't
have enough capital funds to absorb the loss it would be techni-
cally insolvent and have to file for bankruptcy. In order to manage
solvency properly a company must address the following types of
issues:

e How much of a capital buffer is needed to protect the firm
under various scenarios?

e Should that buffer grow over time, with expansion of the bal-
ance sheet, or both?
What is the best mix of capital?
Do regulators demand a minimum level of capitalization?
Can long-term debt be counted as part of the capital buffer?

Once again, the finance framework helps answer these questions in
a manner that is rational and consistent.

MANAGING RISK

Since finance is concerned with a series of fluctuating variables and
dynamic decisions it is keenly focused on risk — which we define as
the uncertainty or variability surrounding a future event. In fact,
evaluating and managing risks are fundamental components of
financial management. We will formalize our discussion of risk
over the coming chapters, but note for now that in a risky world a
company must weigh all of the costs and benefits arising from a
short-term or long-term action designed to boost profits or value.
If a firm absorbs too much risk it may suffer losses or financial
distress, or even failure/bankruptcy. Conversely, if it takes too
little risk a firm may miss the opportunity to create profits or
accumulate market share. While taking risk can help a company
achieve its goals, at some point incremental risk-taking may not be
sensible. The marginal benefit gained from each incremental risky
project or investment may decline, to the point where risk and
return are misbalanced.

Risk comes in many different forms, including operating risk,
financial risk, legal risk, and environmental risk; each of these can
be decomposed into even more granular classes. For instance, ABC
Co., as a producer of goods, is exposed to operating risk, which is
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the risk of loss arising from the firm’s inability to sell goods/
services or obtain raw material inputs, or from damage to its plant
and equipment. The company is almost assuredly exposed to some
degree of financial risk, which is the risk of loss coming from an
adverse movement in financial markets/prices or the failure of a
client/counterparty to perform on its contractual obligations. ABC
Co. may also be exposed to legal risk, which is the risk of loss
arising from litigation or other legal/documentary errors, and
environmental risk, or the risk of loss arising from damage to the
environment.

Risk can be managed by hedging, risk reduction, and risk
diversification; some risks can also be mitigated by loss control, or
pre-emptive behaviors that reduce the likelihood that perils will
occur.

Hedging protects a company’s risk exposures from adverse
market movements, so that the likelihood of a loss is reduced or
eliminated. For instance, assume that ABC Co. relies on natural
gas to power the factory that makes its goods. As the price of
natural gas rises, ABC Co.’s costs increase and its operating
income declines; this assumes that the firm cannot pass on the
price increase to its customers, which is probably a fair assump-
tion. In order to protect its operating income, ABC Co. can hedge
itself against rising natural gas prices by arranging a transaction
that provides it with a gain, or income, as gas prices rise. The gain
on the hedge can be used to offset the increased costs (which lower
operating income). Conversely, if gas prices fall, ABC Co.’s
costs decline and its operating income rises; this will be offset by
losses on the hedge. A properly constructed hedge will therefore
make ABC Co. indifferent to the level and direction of natural gas
prices.

Risk can also be reduced through financial contracts such as
insurance. Assume ABC Co. is exposed to losses if its factory is
damaged. If fire destroys the factory, for example, the company
will suffer a loss from both physical destruction of the plant and
from interrupted business. In order to protect against this even-
tuality, it can purchase an insurance policy that provides a
compensatory payment if fire damage occurs.

Before creating a risk management strategy ABC Co. must
resolve various questions:

11
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How much risk should the company take in each category?

Is this risk core or ancillary to the business?

Is the company being properly compensated for taking risk?
Should the risk be transferred, reduced or eliminated, or should
it be preserved?

Which mechanism should be used to transfer/reduce risk?
How much does it cost the company to shift or eliminate
particular classes of risk?

The definitive answers to these questions will again depend on a
company and its operations, its comfort and experience with risk,
and the nature of the markets/opportunities.

THE FINANCIAL PROCESS

A company trying to maximize the value of its operations clearly
faces many financial decisions. Financial decision-making depends
on a process that standardizes the task and provides continuous
feedback. The financial process can be viewed as a three-stage cycle
that is driven by the financial goals a firm hopes to achieve. The
process begins with a review of the company’s financial position
(financial reporting/analysis) and is followed by the development
of short- and long-term plans (financial planning), which leads to
the execution of certain actions (financial decisions). These deci-
sions will yield results that affect the firm’s financial position,
allowing the cycle to begin anew. The process is thus continuous: a
company operating in a dynamic environment must constantly
evaluate its financial position and options in order to continue
meeting its goals.

FINANCIAL REPORTING/ANALYSIS

Financial reporting/analysis relates to the composition, structure,
and trend of a company’s financial position, most often conveyed
through three key financial statements that are prepared and dis-
tributed every quarter or year:

e Balance sheet: A point-in-time reflection of a company’s assets,
liabilities, and capital
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e Income statement: A cumulative reflection of a company’s
revenues, expenses, and profits

e Cash flow statement: A cumulative reflection of the cash flowing
into, and out of, a company.

These statements are supplemented by other information, includ-
ing financial footnotes and detailed management discussion
and analysis. All of this reporting/analysis demands established
accounting rules, which inject uniformity into the process.
Through the reporting mechanism internal and external stake-
holders can determine how a firm, such as ABC Co., has performed
over time (and versus the competition) and what its financial
position is at any moment. We will review these key financial
statements in more detail in Chapter 2.

FINANCIAL PLANNING

Financial planning is the second phase of the financial process. It
helps define the actions that a firm needs to take over the short
term and long term to meet its goals.

Some aspects of financial planning deal with an immediate time
horizon, generally one week to one year. These issues center on
the daily management and progress of corporate operations, such as:

e Working capital and liquidity management: Managing cash,
short-term assets and liabilities

e Hedge management: Rebalancing financial/operating risks
through the use of various types of instruments intended to
protect against losses

e Funding management: Arranging financing through the loan or
capital markets.

Other dimensions of financial planning are based on longer-term
goals. Such strategic financial management is critical to the meth-
odical expansion of corporate operations and enterprise value.
Issues in this category relate to:

e Capital investment: Managing long-term investment projects,
research and development, and capital expenditures

13
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e Capital structure: Identifying the optimal blend of debt, equity,
and off balance sheet funding

e Mergers and acquisitions: Creating expansion opportunities
through corporate combinations or restructuring
Tax planning: Optimizing operations to reduce the tax burden
International operations: Managing operations in, and expand-
ing into, offshore markets

e Dividend policy: Developing a proper methodology to pay
dividends to investors

e Risk management: Creating a consistent, long-term, approach
to the management of financial, operating, and legal risks.

While short- and long-term planning are essential to the con-
tinued success of any company, they can lead to different goals:
plans (and subsequent decisions) that are based on the short term
tend to focus on near-term profitability; those of a longer-term
nature center on sustainable enterprise value creation over multiple
reporting periods.

FINANCIAL DECISIONS

A company can make decisions once its financial position is well
understood and its tactical/strategic plans have been formulated.
Decisions are made by using specific financial concepts and tools,
such as the risk/return tradeoff, risk diversification, cost of capital,
time value of money, net present value, and investment rules (all
of which we will discuss in Chapter 3). Concepts and tools help a
company objectively understand the impact of translating plans
into actionable decisions.

The three dimensions of the financial process are thus part of a
continuous cycle: a firm examines its financial position, develops
short-term and long-term plans and makes decisions to put the
plans into motion. The next set of financial statements will reflect
some aspects of decisions that have been taken, and can be used as
the basis for further short-term and long-term financial plans and
decisions. Figure 1.1 summarizes this cycle. Naturally, a company
following this process must make its short- and long-term financial
actions meaningful and must also be flexible enough to adapt to
changing circumstances.
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Figure 1.1 The three-stage cycle of the financial process

EXTERNAL AND INTERNAL FACTORS

External and internal forces impact the financial actions and activ-
ities of firms operating in a complex economic world. Every com-
pany is influenced, directly or indirectly, by macro-economic
factors, such as economic growth, inflation, interest rates, currency
rates, commodity/input prices, consumer confidence, and debt
levels. It may also be impacted by the state of the industry in
which it operates, competitive pressures, availability of sub-
stitutes, and regulatory restrictions. A company must generally
react or adapt to these external forces: since they are so powerful
and pervasive, they are typically beyond the control or influence
of any single company (or industry), and must therefore be
viewed as factors that shape the base operating environment.
Assume, for instance, that ABC Co. is operating in a macro
environment characterized by healthy growth, strong consumer
confidence, and robust demand; all other things being equal,
ABC Co.’s ability to sell its products will be greater than if

15
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the economy were in recession. Similarly, if several new com-
petitors have entered the same industry, ABC Co. may feel
heightened pressures that force it to change its pricing or market-
ing tactics. It can react or adapt to, but not change, the competitive
environment.

Internal forces are equally important in dictating a company’s
path to success. These may include a company’s financial
strength and resources, its access to cash and financing, its
approach to strategic ventures, its ability to respond to pricing/
costing changes in the face of fluctuating supply and demand,
and the quality and experience of its leadership. Each one of
these factors is within a company’s control and can be changed
over the short or medium term, generally unilaterally. For
example, ABC Co. may believe that raising additional capital to
expand its operations or purchase a smaller rival may give it the
competitive edge it requires. Or, the company may believe that
it needs a stronger marketing team in order to boost its sales, so
it may choose to hire top sales producers from a competitor. It
can take these actions on its own, and hopefully improve its
fortunes.

THE COMPLETE FINANCIAL PICTURE

We’ve now introduced several elements of the financial world:
definition/scope, goals, and process, along with the impact of
internal/external forces. Once these are assembled, we develop a
summary picture of the financial world.

To recapitulate, we know that finance is the study of how com-
panies (and individuals and countries) can increase value or wealth.
By using financial concepts and tools in a three-stage financial
process, a company can achieve its financial goals. While value
maximization is the ultimate goal for a firm operating in a free
market economy, it is driven by maximization of profits, effective
management of liquidity and solvency, and proper management of
risks. But the financial process is dynamic and subject to the effects
of internal and external factors. So, any process that is imple-
mented to fulfill financial goals must take account of these factors
and adapt to them through a continuous feedback process. This
financial picture is summarized in Figure 1.2.
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Figure 1.2 The complete financial picture

OUTLINE AND STRUCTURE OF THE BOOK

Finance is clearly vital to the activities of companies, individuals
and sovereign nations. The question is how to deal with the topic
in a manner that is comprehensive — but also manageable, rele-
vant, and interesting. To accomplish this goal we will approach the
subject by focusing on three broad areas, or “pillars”: concepts and

17
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tools, instruments and transactions, and participants and markets.
By exploring finance in this way, we’ll be able to cover the key
micro and macro dimensions in a logical manner.

We begin by considering concepts and tools. This provides the
essential background needed to understand the mechanics of
finance, and helps clarify the company-wide issues that we’ll con-
sider in subsequent portions of the book. We will start with an
examination of corporate financial statements, focusing on:

e Financial structure and reporting: The nature and use of the
balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash flows.

With an understanding of financial statements and how they can
be used as part of the decision-making process, we will then turn
our attention to fundamental financial tools. These are well estab-
lished principles for quantifying and evaluating many of the issues
companies face:

e Risk considerations: The nature of risk and return, risk diver-
sification, and value maximization

e The price of capital: The determination of interest rates/yield
curves, stock prices, and the weighted cost of capital
Time value of money: The use of present value and future value
Investment decisions: The use of net present value, internal rate
of return, and decision rules.

Once we’ve assembled this financial “toolkit” we’ll explore the
nature of financial instruments and transactions that let companies
achieve particular goals. Our intent with this second pillar is to
demonstrate how specific assets, liabilities, off balance sheet con-
tracts and restructuring transactions are used to advance the for-
tunes of companies and their stakeholders. Our discussion will
focus on:

e Common and preferred stock: The nature and use of equity-
related instruments
Loans and bonds: The nature and use of debt-related instruments
Investment funds: The nature and use of investment mechanisms
that incorporate multiple assets
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Concepts and Tools

Financial statement
analysis and reporting
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Loans and bonds
Investment funds
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Corporate finance

Risk considerations
The price of capital
Time value of money
Investment decisions

Figure 1.3 Three pillars of finance

Derivatives and insurance: The nature of risk management and
the use of instruments to hedge or assume risk

Corporate finance: The nature and use of corporate restructur-
ing transactions.

We will then examine the third pillar of finance — the macro pic-
ture. Specifically, we will consider how key participants and mar-
kets support, and are supported by, activities at the micro level.
We shall do this by describing:

Financial participants: Intermediaries, end-users, and investors
Global financial markets: Macro-structure of the markets, macro
variables, monetary policy, and the nature of the twenty-first-
century marketplace.

The three pillars that comprise the world of finance are summar-
ized in Figure 1.3.

Chapter summary

Finance, which is the study of factors that impact the wealth or value of
participants, is an essential component of daily life in the business
world. Financial dealings and transactions are prevalent throughout
modern society, affecting individuals, companies, and entire countries.
A company’s overarching goal of increasing value can be achieved by
meeting a series of important financial goals, including profit max-
imization, prudent liquidity and solvency management, and careful risk
management. The standard three-stage financial process, which is
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THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

A company attempting to maximize profits, maintain appropriate
levels of liquidity and solvency, and prudently manage risks, must
first understand the state and trend of its financial position. In this
chapter we consider the process of standard financial reporting,
analyze the structure and use of the three main financial state-
ments (balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash
flows), and discuss how financial statement ratio analysis can be
used to decipher the financial strengths and weaknesses of a firm.
We will conclude by considering how financial statements are used
in the decision-making process.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

Financial reporting — the process by which a company prepares and
presents its accounts — is a key element of the modern accounting
framework. Modern accounting is, itself, built atop the dual entry
system, meaning that every commercial transaction results in a
debit (subtraction) and a credit (addition) to particular ledger
accounts. For instance, when a company purchases a computer
for cash it debits the “cash” account and credits the “computer
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equipment” account. Similarly, when it sells the computer to a
third party it debits the “computer equipment’ account and credits
the “cash” account.

Financial reporting leads ultimately to the creation of financial
statements that let managers, investors, and other stakeholders
evaluate financial strength or weakness. Naturally, a degree of
uniformity in approach and presentation must exist in order for
statements to be useful. If no standards existed, then every com-
pany would simply do as it pleased, making it impossible to
compare performance across companies — or, indeed, within a
company, if it decided to change its standards every year.

Regulators and companies have adopted standards of financial
reporting to ensure consistency. Though these can vary across
some national systems, the essential process of financial reporting
and presentation is the same: every company posts transactions
that affect its daily operations to relevant ledger accounts
according to pre-defined rules or guidelines. The major guidelines
are set forth via Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP) and the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS); GAAP and IFRS provide guidance on how different trans-
actions need to be treated from an accounting perspective, but
provide some degree of leeway regarding interpretation. These
accounts are then aggregated into unaudited trial statements over
certain common reporting periods. An external auditor indepen-
dently audits (examines) statements to ensure conformity to
established standards. This gives those outside the company
comfort that the financial picture being presented is true and
accurate. The end goal is, of course, uniform production every
quarter and year of the key financial statements we discuss in the
sections below. Figure 2.1 summarizes the financial reporting
process.

KEY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We can capture the essence of a company’s financial position
through:

e The balance sheet: A uniform, “point-in-time” representation
of assets, liabilities, and capital
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e The income statement: A cumulative record of the firm’s profits
and losses

e The statement of cash flows: A cumulative record of the firm’s
cash inflows and outflows.

Let’s consider each in greater detail.

Recording of individual financial transactions

Ionon on (on om pn )

Application of
accounting standards

Preparation of trial financial statements

Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited
balance income statement of
sheet statement cash flows

Preparation of official financial statements

Audited Audited Audited
balance income statement of
sheet statement cash flows

Figure 2.1 The financial reporting process
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THE BALANCE SHEET

A company that is in business to produce goods or services
requires assets (items of value that are legally owned by the com-
pany) that it funds through liabilities (amounts that are owed by
the company to others) and some form of equity (amounts repre-
senting an ownership interest in the company); note that the terms
equity, capital, and stock are synonymous. These three broad
categories, presented in a statement known as the balance sheet,
are linked together by an important accounting relationship, which
says that:

Assets = Liabilities + Equity [2.1]

If this equation holds true, then the balance sheet “balances.” The
relationship makes intuitive, as well as financial, sense. If a com-
pany possesses some asset, it has either purchased it using its own
resources (i.e. equity) or it has borrowed to buy the asset (i.e.
liabilities) — or both. For instance, if ABC Co. has a computer
worth £10,000 (an asset) it has either borrowed £10,000 to buy the
computer (a liability), it has purchased the computer outright from
its own capital (equity), or it has arranged some combination of
the two, i.e. it has paid off half of the computer’s value (£5,000 of
equity) and borrowed to finance the difference (£5,000 of liabil-
ities). It is relatively easy to see that we can extend this process to
include all of ABC Co.’s assets.

We can also rearrange the equation above to understand some-
thing about the equity (or net worth or book value), of the firm:

Equity = Assets — Liabilities [2.2]

This tells us that the actual worth of the company is the difference
between its assets and liabilities. Thus, if ABC Co. has borrowed
£5,000 to buy the £10,000 computer, its equity (or net worth) in
the asset is equal to £5,000 (i.e. £10,000—£5,000). Again, we can
extend this across all accounts to find the equity value of the firm.
A critical point to note is that when assets are worth less than
liabilities, the firm has “negative equity” and is considered insolvent.
Thus, if the computer is really worth £2,000 and the company
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borrowed £5,000 to buy it, its equity is equal to —£3,000. Not
surprisingly, financial managers are heavily focused on ensuring
that the value of assets always exceeds the value of liabilities.

It's also worth pointing out that balance sheet items can be
valued in historical terms or current market terms; when historical
values are used (e.g. the original acquisition price of an asset),
some accounts may be understated as a result of inflation pressures
and changing replacement cost values.

Though the actual number of asset accounts in a large firm can
number into the hundreds or thousands, we can condense them
into a smaller group of key accounts:

e Cash and short-term securities: Accounts that form the company’s
asset-based liquidity. A company needs to keep some amount of
cash and “equivalents” on hand to pay bills as they come due,
or to meet unexpected payments. However, since cash doesn’t
generate much of a return, a company can’t afford to tie up too
much of its resources in such liquid accounts: it must strike a
balance between sufficient cash and sufficient earnings.

e Accounts receivable: A form of credit extended by the company
to its customers. For instance, customers receive goods/services
from the company and may only pay the balance within 30-180
days; in other words, the company effectively makes short-term
loans to its customers. The volume of receivables is a function
of a company’s business (sales volume) and its credit policies: a
small base of business, and/or a more stringent credit policy
will lead to a smaller amount of receivables, and vice-versa.

e Prepayments: Payments made by a company for goods/services
to be received at a future time. For instance, a company may
prepay all of its property and casualty insurance premiums,
even though it receives the benefits of insurance coverage
throughout the year.

e Inventories: Accounts comprised of the items needed to manu-
facture physical goods that are ultimately sold to customers.
Inventories are generally classified by their stage in the pro-
duction process, including raw material, work-in-progress, and
finished goods. Inventories have to be managed smoothly so
that there is no disruption in the production process and
enough finished goods are available for sale. In some cases it is
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beneficial for a company to build up its inventory of raw
materials, particularly when it can do so at a good price. But
accumulating too much inventory is not a good idea: a company
with a great deal of unsold inventory must still finance it,
which becomes a cost that detracts from profits.

Property, plant, and equipment (PP&E): All of the physical
infrastructure a company needs to run its business, such as
computers, office buildings, trucking fleets, assembly lines, and
so forth. Since PP&E declines in value through normal “wear
and tear” its value is regularly reduced through depreciation, a
non-cash expense. Accumulated depreciation may be shown as a
“contra account,” or deduction, to the PP&E accounts.
Intangibles: All assets that cannot be physically seen or touched,
but which add value to the firm. This includes items such as
trademarks, patents, and intellectual property, as well as good-
will, which is excess value paid when acquiring another firm.

Let us note that cash, securities, receivables, prepayments, and
inventories are regarded collectively as current assets and form one
half of the working capital equation. We'll discuss working capital
at several points later in the chapter.

Liability accounts generally include:

e Accounts payable: A form of credit accepted by the company

from its suppliers. For instance, the company may receive raw
materials/services from its suppliers and can then pay its bill
immediately and gain the benefit of a “cash” discount, or it can
forego the discount and defer payment for 30-180 days; the
latter is equivalent to accepting short-term loans from the sup-
pliers. The level of payables is a function of a company’s busi-
ness (sales), its access to other forms of credit, and its overall
creditworthiness. Thus, if a firm has a great deal of business it
requires more raw material inventories, which it can finance
through payables. If it has limited access to other forms of
credit it may want to boost its payables, though its ability to do
so will depend on the overall strength of its financial position.

Short-term debt: Credit extended to a company through short-
term loans and securities (maturities are generally less than one

year).
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e Deferred taxes and expenses: Accounts representing payments
due from the company but which have been deferred until
some future period.

e Medium- and long-term debt: Credit extended to a company
for maturities ranging from 1-30 years; this may again be in
the form of loans or securities.

We shall discuss some of these liability accounts in more detail in
Chapter 5. Accounts payable and short-term debt comprise the
general category of current liabilities, which forms the second half
of the working capital equation. Total working capital is simply
current assets less current liabilities and serves as a good proxy for
firmwide liquidity, as we’ll see below.

The capital accounts, which represent the residual balance
remaining after all assets have been liquidated and all creditor
(liability) claims have been repaid, may include:

e Preferred stock: A form of dividend-paying ownership capital
issued by the company to investors.

e Common stock: Another form of ownership capital issued by
the company to investors. The common stock account may be
divided into several sub-accounts including par value (the
nominal amount of shares issued) and paid-in surplus (the dif-
ference between the market value of the amount raised and the
par value). If a company repurchases its common stock from the
market, it reduces the amount outstanding via the treasury
stock contra-account.

e Retained earnings: An account representing profits generated
over time that are preserved within the company and reinvested
in additional projects/investments.

We shall discuss capital instruments in greater depth in Chapter 4.
The actual balance sheet mix of assets, liabilities, and capital is, of
course, company-specific. Each individual firm has its own size and
proportion of assets, liabilities, and capital, as we shall note in
subsequent chapters.

In addition to balance sheet items, companies may also have
certain “off balance sheet” accounts that represent contingencies or
uncertainties that can ultimately impact the financial position.
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Items that are generally presented off balance sheet include
undrawn/unfunded bank loans, financial guarantees, derivative
contracts, and leases. However, gradual changes in accounting
rules over the past few years have brought some aspects of
this activity back on the balance sheet, leading to improved
transparency.

The actual presentation of the balance sheet is often specific to a
country or accounting regime. While most accounting systems
feature the accounts listed above and adhere to the fundamental
accounting equations we have noted, presentation can vary. Fig-
ures 2.2 and 2.3, for instance, show accounts in terms of US GAAP
and UK GAAP.

In the US presentation current assets plus fixed assets must
equal current liabilities plus long-term liabilities plus equity. In
the UK presentation, fixed assets plus current assets less current
liabilities less long-term liabilities yield net assets; this must then
equal net capital.

Assets Liabilities
Cash and securities Accounts payable
Accounts receivable Short-term debt
Prepayments Total current liabilities
Inventories i Deferred taxes and payments
Total current assets ! Medium-/ long-term debt
Property, plant and equipment Total long-term liabilities
(Accumulated depreciation) ;
Intangibles
Total fixed assets

Equity

Preferred stock
Common stock

¢ par value

¢ paid-in surplus
(Treasury stock)
Retained earnings
Total equity

Figure 2.2 Sample US GAAP balance sheet



THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To show how the accounts are constructed (and that the US and
UK versions are, in fact, equivalent), let’s introduce key accounts
for ABC Co.. Assume that ABC Co., which manufacturers certain
goods, has a factory worth £50 million (that has already been
depreciated by 10 percent, or £5 million), accounts receivable of
£10 million, accounts payable of £15 million, inventories of goods
in various stages of completion valued at £20 million, cash on hand
of £10 million, and medium-term loans of £40 million; over the
past few years it has accumulated retained earnings of £150 mil-
lion and has issued common stock of £150 million (comprised of
£10 million of par value and £140 million of paid-in surplus).

ABC Co.’s balance sheet position under the US and UK versions
is shown in Figures 2.4 and 2.5.

The presentation of the balance sheet created through the
financial reporting process is, of course, important, as it provides a
snapshot of the firm’s position. But the balance sheet becomes
even more useful when we examine how it evolves over time and
how it compares with the balance sheets of competitors. We'll
consider this trend/comparison analysis later in the chapter.

Property, plant and equipment
(Accumulated depreciation)
Intangibles
Long-term investments
Total fixed assets
Cash and securities
Accounts receivable
Prepayments
Inventories
Total current assets
Accounts payable
Short-term debt
Total current liabilities
Medium-and long-term debt
Net assets
Preferred stock
Common stock
(Treasury stock)
Retained earnings
Net capital

Figure 2.3 Sample UK GAAP balance sheet
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Assets Liabilities
Cash £100m Accounts payable £150m
Accounts receivable £100m i Short-term loan 1 £100m
Inventories £200m i Medium-term loan i £300m
Property, plant and £500m : :
equipment
(Accumulated depreciation) | (£50m) | Total liabilities | £650m
Total assets £850m ERy
¢ Common stock £150m
Retained earnings i 2150m
Total equity £300m

Figure 2.4 ABC Co.”s US GAAP balance sheet

Property, plant and equipment £500m
(accumulated depreciation) (£50m)
Total fixed assets £450m
Cash £100m
Accounts receivable £100m
Inventories £200m
Total current assets £400m
Accounts payable £150m
Short-term loan £100m
Total current liabilities £250m
Medium-term loan £300m
Net assets £300m
Common stock £150m
Retained earnings £150m
Net capital £300m

Figure 2.5 ABC Co.’s UK GAAP balance sheet

THE INCOME STATEMENT

The income statement, the second major statement we consider,
records the revenues and expenses of the firm throughout the fiscal
accounting period. Unlike the balance sheet, which reflects a
company’s financial position at a single point in time (e.g. each
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quarter- or year-end), the income statement accumulates all of the
revenue and expense information for the reporting period and is
therefore cumulative — and not “point-in-time.”

Though the income statement may again include a significant
number of entries, we focus on the key items:

e Gross revenues, which is the total amount of goods/services
sold by the company to its customers. This is often known as
gross sales or turnover, and is considered the “top line” reflec-
tion of a company’s ability to generate some volume of goods/
services at a particular price.

e Cost of goods sold, which is the amount it costs the company to
produce or convey the goods/services it sells; this generally
includes raw materials and other inputs, as well as labor/
production costs.

e Gross profit, which is the difference between the revenues
earned and the cost involved in producing those revenues.

e Selling, general, and administrative expenses (SG&A), which
represent the non-production costs the company incurs in
creating its goods/services; this may include marketing, adver-
tising, occupancy, employee health benefits, executive salaries,
and so forth.

e Interest expense, which is the amount the company pays its
creditors in periodic interest. Interest payable relates to short-
and long-term loans and bonds, as well as accounts payable.

e Interest income, which is the amount the company earns in
interest from its investments in short- or long-term securities.

e Other income/expenses, which includes other inflows and out-
flows that are unrelated to the firm’s core business; if these are
non-recurring and exceptional, they may be classified under a
separate “‘extraordinary items’’ account.

e Operating (or pre-tax) income, which is simply gross profit less
SG&A, interest expense, and other income/expenses; this figure
yields a taxable income equivalent
Taxes, which is the amount the firm has paid in income taxes
Net income, which is the difference between pre-tax income
and taxes paid. This is the “bottom line” result of a company’s
business, and reflects the true profitability of the operation.
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Managers and analysts often examine another income statement
subtotal — earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) — which is
simply gross profit less SG&A expenses, before any interest or
taxes are paid. EBIT is often used as a way of measuring a com-
pany’s ability to absorb a given amount of debt.

We have again generalized this statement for simplicity — firms
in different industries face somewhat different account entries that
reflect the unique nature of their businesses. Similarly, different
accounting regimes (e.g. US versus UK) feature slightly different
entries and subtotals. Nevertheless, the structure noted above, and
summarized in Figure 2.6, depicts the logic behind income state-
ment construction and is adaptable across industries and countries.
As with the balance sheet, income statement trends and peer
comparison are very important in helping interpret a company’s
true position.

Let’s assume that ABC Co. has sold goods that generate reven-
ues of £650 million and the costs associated with the production of
these goods amount to £520 million. The company has also booked
£50 million in SG&A expenses, £20 million in interest expenses,
and £5 million in other expenses; these have been partly offset by
£15 million in other income. Together, these items produce net
income of £70 million. Based on a tax rate of 30 percent, ABC
Co.’s net income for the year amounts to £49 million, as illustrated
in Figure 2.7.

Income Statement

Gross revenues
— Cost of goods sold
= Gross profit
— SG&A expenses
— Interest expense
+ Interest income
+ Other income
— Other expenses
= Operating income
— Income taxes
= Net income

Figure 2.6 Sample income statement
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Income Statement

Gross revenues £650m
—Cost of goods sold £520m
=Gross profit £130m
—SGE&A expenses £50m
—Interest expense £20m
+Other income £15m
—Other expenses £5m
=Pre-tax income £70m
—Income taxes £21m
=Net income £49m

Figure 2.7 ABC Co.’s income statement

THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The last of the major financial statements intended to convey a
picture of a company’s financial structure and operations is the
statement of cash flows. This statement draws together items from
the income statement and balance sheet in a uniform manner to
reveal the nature of the firm’s cash sources and uses, and its net
cash position at the end of a reporting period. The basic cash flow
statement is generally divided into three segments: operating cash
flow, investing cash flow, and financing cash flow (though again,
some subtle cross-border differences exist).

e Operating cash flow provides information on the actual cash
impact (receipts and outflows) of the firm’s normal operations.
This section begins with the net income generated by the busi-
ness, adds back depreciation (which is a non-cash operating
expense) and then adjusts for changes in working capital
(which, as noted above, includes cash and securities, receivables,
and inventories, less payables and short-term debt). Deprecia-
tion is a particularly important item: though it’s a non-cash
expense, it produces cash flow by reducing taxable income. The
net of the operating cash flow section provides information on a
firm’s ability to generate cash from its core business.

e Investing cash flow yields information on how the company
uses its cash in the pursuit of productive ventures or invest-
ments. The investing cash flow section examines the purchase
of other companies or PP&E (outflows of cash), the purchase of
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securities and other financial assets (outflow), the sale of exist-
ing subsidiaries or joint venture stakes (inflow), or the sale of
securities (inflow). The net of this section provides an indication
of whether a company is using its cash to expand into new or
existing areas.

Financing cash flow indicates how much external funding (if
any) the firm requires in order to finance its operating and
investing activities. The financing cash flow section focuses on
new debt and stock issuance (which represent cash inflows),
debt repayment (outflow), dividend payments (outflow), and
treasury stock repurchases (outflow). The net of the financing
cash flow section indicates whether the firm needs to access
external financing to carry on its business activities.

The statement of cash flows helps us understand the state of a
company’s health: it reveals whether sufficient cash, and access to

Statement of Cash Flows

Operating cash flow

Net income
+ Depreciation
— Increase in working capital
+ Decrease in working capital
= Net operating cash flow

Investing cash flow
Sale of securities
+ Sale of PP&E
— Purchase of securities
— Purchase of PP&E
= Net investing cash flow

Financing cash flow
Issuance of debt, stock

— Repayment of debt

— Repurchase of stock

— Payment of dividends

Net financing cash flow

I = Net cash surplus/deficit

Figure 2.8 Sample statement of cash flows
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cash, exists in order for the company to operate as a going
concern, how that cash is being used, and whether external finan-
cing, such as we discuss in Chapters 4 and 5, is required. Impor-
tantly, the statement reflects cash balances at a specific point in
time and whether the firm can meet its debt, financial/capital
investment, and dividend obligations. This brings us back to our
earlier point on liquidity management: it is essential for every
company to maintain sufficient cash access from operating,
investing, and financing sources to cover known obligations and
any unexpected payments. Figure 2.8 summarizes the essential
cash flow statement; Figure 2.9 provides the same information in
slightly different form, focusing on sources of cash and uses of
cash.

Let’s again extend our example of ABC Co. by examining its
statement of cash flows. We know from the income statement
presented above that ABC Co.’s net income for the year amounted
to £49 million. Let’s assume that it had depreciation expenses of
£10 million and decreased its payables by £15 million. From an
investing perspective the company sold £25 million of securities
from its portfolio and bought new plant and equipment valued at
£50 million. Finally, from a financing perspective let’s assume that
ABC Co. repaid £10 million of debt and reissued another £50 million

Sources of cash (inflows)
Net income
Depreciation
Medium- and long-term debt issuance
Common and preferred stock issuance
Decreases in assets (e.g., receivables, investments)
Increases in liabilities (e.g. payables, deferrals)

Uses of cash (outflows)
Net losses
Capital expenditures
Investment purchases
Medium- and long-term debt repayment
Common stock repurchase
Dividend payments

Increases in assets {e.g. receivables, inventory)
Decreases in liabilities (e.g. payables, deferrals)

Figure 2.9 Common sources and uses of cash
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and that it paid £20 million in dividends to its investors. Based on
these simple entries, the company’s net cash position at the end of
the year amounted to £69 million; the results are summarized in
Figure 2.10.

Adding the £69 million cash surplus to the firm’s existing cash
holdings on the balance sheet reveals its net cash position at the
end of the reporting period. Once again, examining ABC Co.’s cash
performance over time is critical.

FINANCIAL RATIOS

Financial ratios are used to supplement the analysis and decision-
making process by allowing easy measurement and interpretation
of important indicators within, and across, the key statements.
Though we can compute and analyze a large number of ratios, it is
helpful to focus on measures that a financial manager is most

Statement of Cash Flows

Operating cash flow

Net income £49m
+ Depreciation £10m
— Increase in working capital
+ Decrease in working capital £15m
= Net operating cash flow E74m

Investing cash flow

Sale of securities £25m
+ Sale of PP&E
— Purchase of securities
— Purchase of PP&E £50m
= Net investing cash flow —£25m

Financing cash flow

Issuance of debt, stock £50m
— Repayment of debt £10m
— Repurchase of stock
— Payment of dividends £20m
= Net financing cash flow £20m
{ = Net cash surplus/deficit £60m |

Figure 2.10 ABC Co.’s statement of cash flows
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likely to be concerned about, including those related to profit-
ability, liquidity, and solvency (leverage/capitalization).

PROFITABILITY RATIOS

Profitability ratios quantify how much money a firm makes based
on its assets or capital, and how much of its revenues it is able to
translate into net income.

e Return on assets describes how much profit the firm’s asset base
is able to produce. It is computed as:

net income

return on assets (ROA) = [2.3]

total assets

The higher the ROA result, the more efficient the company is in
using its assets to generate profits. In our example, ABC Co.’s ROA
is equal to 5.76 percent (£49 million/£850 million). Naturally, in
order to be meaningful this ratio needs to be compared against
ABC Co.’s ROA over previous periods and against its competitors
and industry peers. This will tell us whether the company is doing
better or worse. For instance, if ABC Co.’s ROA over the previous
two years amounts to 4.50 percent and 5.25 percent, then the
measure suggests the firm’s profitability is improving. However, if
the average for companies in ABC Co.’s industry is 6.25 percent,
then ABC Co. appears weaker and will have to focus on ways of
improving its profit position to close the competitive gap.

e Return on equity measures how much profit the firm’s equity
base is able to produce. It is computed via:

net income

return on equity (ROE) = [2.4]

total equity

In this example ABC Co.’s ROE is equal to 16.2 percent (£49
million/£300 million). As with ROA, the higher the figure, the
more effective the company is in using its equity base to generate
profits. Once again, however, the result must be compared against
prior periods and industry peers in order to be meaningful.
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e Gross margin indicates how much of each dollar or pound of
revenue (from sales of goods/services) remains after removing
the costs of producing the goods/services, and is calculated as:

gross profit

gross margin = [2.5]

revenues

In ABC Co.’s case the gross margin is 20 percent (£130 million/
£650 million), meaning that for every pound of sales it gen-
erates, 80 pence is used to cover the cost of producing the
goods/services. It is easy to see that if the gross margin rose to 30
percent, only 70 pence of every pound would be used to cover
production costs; accordingly, the result becomes more favorable
as the margin increases. The same is true of all profit margin
computations.

e Operating margin is similar to the gross margin computation,
except that it focuses on profitability after deducting all expenses
except taxes. It is computed as:

) . operating profit
operating margin F— [2.6]

ABC Co.’s operating margin amounts to 10.76 percent (£70
million/£650 million), meaning that costs of production and asso-
ciated expenses consume more than 90 pence of each pound of
sales.

e Net margin is again similar to the gross and operating margins,
except that it is based on a firm’s “bottom line” profitability —
after all expenses, including income taxes, have been met. It is
computed as:

. net income
net margin = —— [2.7]
revenues

Not surprisingly, the higher the net margin, the more efficient the
firm is in managing its total costs. In ABC Co.’s case its net
margin is 7.54 percent (£49 million/£650 million). That is, for



THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

every £1 of sales, 7.5 pence flows to the bottom line for onward
distribution to investors (as dividends) or for reinvestment (as
retained earnings).

LIQUIDITY RATIOS

We have already noted the importance of liquidity: a sufficiency of
cash, and access to cash, is essential to continuing prosperity.
Accordingly, finance managers must pay keen attention to various
liquidity ratios, most of them based on the working capital
accounts. But we’ve also said that preserving liquidity involves a
tradeoff: assets that are kept in liquid form do not earn the same
return as those that are committed to medium- or long-term (i.e.
less liquid) endeavors. Similarly, while short-term liabilities may
be less expensive than long-term liabilities in most market sce-
narios, they must be managed more actively and can be withdrawn
by providers (creditors) very easily. All liquidity measures,
including the ones below, focus on the short-term (sub-12 month)
horizon.

e The current ratio is a version of the working capital measure
that compares current assets to current liabilities. It is computed
via:

) current assets
current ratio = ————— [2.8]
current liabilities

ABC Co.’s current ratio is equal to 1.6Xx (£400 million/£250 mil-
lion), meaning that the firm has £1.60 of current assets that can be
liquidated to meet each £1 of short-term liabilities coming due.
Though the trend of the current ratio over time and its relation to
peer results are again important in interpreting the result, any
ratio over 1x is favorable as it means that liabilities coming due
can be properly met by assets.

e The quick ratio is a more stringent version of the current ratio
that focuses only on the most liquid of a firm’s current asset
accounts. This means that the true liquidity available to meet
maturing liabilities is based on cash, securities, and receivables,
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while inventories, which may not be as readily saleable in an
emergency, are excluded. The ratio is calculated as:

current assets — inventories

quick ratio = [2.9]

current liabilities

ABC Co.’s quick ratio of 0.80x (£200 million/£250 million)
reveals that it has 80 pence of cash, securities, and receivables
available to cover accounts payable and short-term loans coming
due. It is not unusual for firms to post quick ratios below 1.0x,
but the closer the result is to 1.0x, the greater the liquidity
buffer. Again, however, the liquidity/return tradeoff has to be
weighed.

SOLVENCY (LEVERAGE/CAPITALIZATION) RATIOS

We’ve noted in the fundamental accounting equation that solvency
is one of the most important factors companies must focus on
when managing the financial position. Leverage, or the degree of
debt (liabilities) contained within the capital structure, is a key
measure of solvency. Its impact on a firm’s operations can be
measured through various ratios:

e Debt to equity, as the name suggests, compares the amount of
debt to the amount of equity in the company’s capital structure,
and can be computed as:

total debt

debt to equity = m

[2.10]

ABC Co.’s payables, short-term debt, and long-term debt lead to a
ratio of 1.83x (£550 million/£300 million). This means that ABC
Co. has £1.83 of debt for every £1 of equity. As we shall discover
in Chapter 5, debt is cheaper than equity and can help maximize
corporate value, but too much debt can threaten financial stability —
so, the costs/benefits of leverage have be considered during the
financial planning process.
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e Debt to assets is similar to the ratio immediately above, except
that it focuses on the amount of debt being used to finance the
entire asset base. It can be computed as:

total debt
debt to assets = — 0 [2.11]
total assets

ABC Co.’s debt to assets ratio amounts to 0.647x (£550 million/
£850 million), meaning that nearly 2/3 of its asset base is funded
through debt, with the remaining 1/3 coming from equity.

e Interest coverage is an income statement measure of a firm'’s
ability to pay its interest expense. Any use of debt creates an
obligation to pay periodic interest, meaning that a firm must
have enough profit on hand to meet the expense. A common
interest coverage ratio is:

EBIT

interest expense

interest coverage = [2.12]

ABC Co.’s interest coverage amounts to 4.5x (£90 million/£20
million), suggesting that the firm has more than four times the
level of pre-tax profit needed to meet its obligations. The interest
cover measure is used in conjunction with the previous two measures
to indicate how much debt a firm can comfortably support. For
instance, even though debt/equity and debt/assets may appear
high, they may be acceptable if the interest coverage is also very
large. Conversely, if interest coverage is very low (e.g. sub-1x) the
debt burden is likely to be too large and the company’s inability to
meet its obligations may threaten its solvency.

Many other ratios can be computed, each measuring slightly
different aspects of the key areas noted above. The central point to
consider in this discussion is that financial ratios provide an
important metric by which company managers can track perfor-
mance and make decisions. They also allow outside stakeholders,
including potential investors and lenders, to compare current and
past performance, and the overall position versus other competitors.

Let’s expand our example across time and against industry peer
averages to consider the firm’s financial position more closely.
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Table 2.1 contains the current year ratios (as computed above)
along with three years of historical data; it also includes the
industry average current year ratios for all of the companies
operating in ABC Co.’s sector.

These results tell us that ABC Co.’s overall ROA and ROE per-
formance has started to improve, but that it still lags behind the
industry average. While ABC Co.’s operating and net margins
have improved steadily — to the point where they are coming close
to the industry average — its gross margins are still weak. This
may indicate that ABC Co. is not charging enough for the goods it
sells, or is paying too much for its product inputs (e.g. cost of
goods sold). The firm’s ROA and ROE underperformance can also
be traced back to its very strong liquidity position, which is well
above the industry average: the very high current and quick ratios
mean that ABC Co. may be holding too much in liquid assets that
do not generate much of a return (e.g. £100 million of cash on the
balance sheet). However, the firm may be recognizing the problem,
as both measures have begun to decline toward industry norms.
From a capitalization perspective the company’s overall debt levels
are only slightly above industry norms and have been declining
for the past two years. Interest coverage is extremely strong,
indicating that ABC Co. has managed to secure favorable borrowing
levels over time.

We can draw various summary points from this simple analysis:

Table 2.1 ABC Co’s historical, current, and industry ratio data

Ratio Year Year Year Current  Industry
t—3 t—2 t—1 year average

Return on assets 4.40% 4.50% 5.25% 5.76% 6.25%
Return on equity  15.50%  15.87%  16.05% 16.20%  18.20%

Gross margin 20.05% 17.62% 18.75% 19.00%  23.50%
Operating margin ~ 11.12% 9.62% 10.08%  10.76%  11.00%
Net margin 7.79% 7.35% 7.40% 7.54% 8.20%
Current ratio 1.62x 1.68x 1.63x 1.60x 1.20x
Quick ratio 0.79x 0.90% 0.87x 0.80% 0.75%
Debt to equity 1.75% 1.90x 1.87x 1.83x 1.75x
Debt to assets 0.69x 0.68x 0.70x 0.65x 0.58x

Interest coverage 3.75% 3.90x 4.21x 4.50% 3.75%
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e Profitability is improving but remains below industry averages;
difficulties establishing proper pricing of goods being sold and
managing cost inputs appear to be the primary problems, along
withholding an excess of non-earning liquid (e.g. cash) assets.

e Liquidity is well above industry norms and can safely be
reduced in order to help boost earnings.

e Leverage is close to industry norms and has been in a moderate
downtrend; the current level of debt is acceptable given the
firm’s ability to cover its interest costs so thoroughly.

This example is obviously simplified. Financial managers, inves-
tors, credit rating analysts and other interested parties go into
considerably more detail to understand the workings and perfor-
mance of a company on its own, and versus the industry.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND DECISION-MAKING

Financial statements and the ratios that can be derived from them
are obviously an integral part of the decision-making process
because they give interested parties information by which to eval-
uate a firm’s position. They must, of course, be used and analyzed
in the context of detailed information contained in the “manage-
ment discussion and analysis” section, which often provides vital
clues about a company’s performance, strategies, and future goals.
Footnotes to the financial statements, which form part of the
company accounts, must also be reviewed as they provide a much
greater level of detail than the high-level accounts. In fact, foot-
notes provide valuable insight into trends and possible problems
(e.g. lawsuits or product recalls, growing bad debt problems within
the receivables accounts, the nature and extent of financial risks
being taken, environmental liabilities, and so forth).

The financial statements we have described above are all related
in some fashion: decisions taken by financial managers over the
short or long term will have an impact on the balance sheet,
income statement, and cash flow statement. Financial statements
are clearly an essential component of effective financial manage-
ment because they inject uniformity into the reporting and deci-
sion-making process. For instance, knowing that the balance sheet
has a great deal of current liabilities but very little in current
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assets should cause management to make financial decisions that
create a stronger position (e.g. lengthening the maturity of liabil-
ities, building up a greater cash reserve). Or, seeing that gross
revenue growth in the income statement has started to slow might
cause management to examine opportunities to reduce its operat-
ing costs and/or expand into new markets via acquisition. Simi-
larly, if the net cash position of the firm as reflected in the
statement of cash flows is looking very strong, management may
elect to repay some of its debt, issue a special dividend, or invest in
a new venture. While each one of these decisions must be sup-
ported by proper decision metrics, including the risk/return and
net present value frameworks we discuss in the next chapter,
financial reporting is the essential starting point in the process.

Let’s consider a simple example to illustrate the linkages
between statements and the decisions that a financial manager
might face. Assume that ABC Co. expects its sales to increase (an
income statement item). In order to support this increase it must
make sure that its cash and inventory are properly synchronized
and that it knows how much it may need to borrow to fund the
increased amount of sales (balance sheet items). How might it do
so?

Assume that ABC Co. forecasts that sales will increase by £1
million. To support this increase it will need to increase its assets
by 60 percent of this amount, or £600,000; this represents the
additional inventory needed to produce the greater amount of
goods to be sold. Let’s further assume that ABC Co.’s policy is to
finance 40 percent of any sales increase through accounts payable;
this amounts to a £400,000 increase in liabilities. ABC Co.’s net
working capital to support £1 million of increased sales is therefore
£200,000 (£600,000 less £400,000). If management has a net profit
margin requirement equal to 5 percent of sales (i.e. each £1 of sales
must generate a minimum profit after expenses and taxes of 5
pence), the firm must therefore be prepared to borrow £150,000
(e.g. £200,000 of available net assets less £50,000 of net profit
requirement). This simple example helps demonstrate how a com-
pany can use its financial statements to analyze requirements for
boosting sales.

Let’s consider another simple example based on liquidity.
Liquidity management, as we've noted in Chapter 1, is an essential
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corporate goal. From a corporate perspective, the process can be
monitored and managed through cash budgeting, which involves
comparing future cash receipts against cash payments (income
statement/cash flow statement items) over specific weekly or
monthly time intervals. The cash budget allows a firm’s financial
managers to detect any surpluses or deficits in a given maturity
bucket. Any surpluses can be invested in short-term securities
(balance sheet item), while deficits must be funded from the firm’s
cash account or by drawing down on a credit facility (balance sheet
items). Note that the cash budgeting process involves both known
receipts/payments and potential/”what-if”" receipts/payments; the
latter act as a form of stress-testing to ensure that the company
has enough flexibility to meet unexpected payments. Table 2.2
illustrates a simplified example of ABC Co.’s cash budgeting for
the coming year, which links together all 3 financial statements in
a single framework.

There are, of course, other tools that companies can use to help
estimate how much cash they should keep on hand to cover an
average level of deficits. One, the cash turnover method, divides
annual operating expenses by cash turnover; cash turnover is,
itself, a simple computation of 360 days divided by the number of
days between the purchase of raw materials and the collection of

Table 2.2 Cash budgeting framework

Ratio Jan  Feb Mar  Apr  May  Jun  Jul {..)

Receipts 150 125 140 150 160 170 180
Payments 140 140 140 145 165 175 170

Net 10 —15 0 5 -5 -5 10
Invest in Draw down from
short-term cash account or
securities credit line
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cash from sales (i.e. the entire life cycle of a product). For instance,
if ABC Co.’s annual operating expenses amount to £200,000 and
its cash cycle is estimated at six times (e.g. 360 days/60 days
between production and sales receipt), then the minimum amount
of cash the company should keep on hand to cover deficits is
£33,333 (i.e. £200,000/6). In order for ABC Co. to manage its
working capital properly it must be sensitive to the minimum level
of cash it needs to keep and the maximum seasonal cash it may
require; accordingly, it can supplement computation of the average
annual operating figures with maximum and minimum figures,
which will provide a range of sensitivities. The difference between
the two can be factored into seasonal short-term financial planning.

Financial statements must always be viewed in the context of
the overall environment. As we’ve already noted, external forces
affect a company every day. This means that analysis and decisions
must take account of what’s happening with external factors like
economic growth, interest rates, inflation, consumer confidence,
deregulation, competition, and so forth. Some estimate of how
these external forces might impact a firm’s financial position is
useful, and can often be made through scenario, or “what if,”
analysis that explores the impact of external variables on a com-
pany’s position. This brings us to a cautionary note: financial
managers, investors, and lenders who rely on financial statements
to make decisions on where to lead the company or whether to
provide capital must remember that the statements, while vitally
important, are “backward-looking.” Past trends are obviously
important, but the past is history and the future is unknown.
Accordingly, to be truly effective the decision-making process has
to factor in “forward-looking” assumptions about what could
occur.

Chapter summary

Financial reporting is the process by which a company prepares and
presents its accounts. It leads ultimately to the creation of financial
statements that allow managers, investors, and other stakeholders to
evaluate a company’s financial strength or weakness. Financial report-
ing is based on the accumulation of all daily transactions that impact a
firm’s operations, which are posted to ledger accounts. Ledger accounts
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FINANCIAL CONCEPTS AND
TOOLS

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

In this chapter we consider essential financial concepts and tools
that financial managers use to make decisions. We begin with a
discussion of risk considerations, including the risk/return tradeoff,
risk diversification, and the impact of risk on enterprise value max-
imization. We then describe the general structure of interest rates
and stock prices and the determination of the cost of capital. We
conclude the chapter with a detailed look at time value of money,
including present value and future value, and consider how the time
value framework can be used to develop investment decisions rules.

RISK CONSIDERATIONS

As we've noted in Chapter 1, a company operating in a free
market environment seeks to deliver goods and services to its
customers in a timely, cost-effective, and prudent manner so that
it can increase its net income. However, a company will only be
able to do so if it can balance its risks properly. If it takes too much
risk it stands a chance of reducing revenues and/or posting losses.
If it takes too little risk it won’t be able to generate sufficient
revenues or offer investors a suitable return.
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RISK VERSUS RETURN

Risk, a reflection of uncertainty, comes in many forms (such as
financial risk, operating risk, and legal risk). Return is the amount
that a risk-taker requires in order to accept a particular type and
quantity of risk. Both elements are intimately related: the greater
the risk, the greater the return the risk-taker will demand, and the
lower the risk, the lower the return they can expect to receive.
This is a fundamental tenet of finance that we will revisit
throughout the book.

Risk can be measured in various ways. One common method is
standard deviation, or the degree to which an outcome deviates
from the norm (or average). Standard deviation (often denoted by
the Greek letter ) can be computed by adding up the probability-
weighted outcomes of the squared differences between expected
and actual outcomes and then taking the square root; this is shown
in (3.1):

std dev = y/[sum across all observations (actual observation
—expected observation)?x probability]

3.1]

A higher standard deviation means a greater chance that some
future outcome will deviate from the average and a lower chance
that the expected result will occur. A lower standard deviation
means a smaller chance of deviating from the norm and a greater
chance that the expected result will occur.

Let us consider a simple example of high and low standard
deviation. Table 3.1 illustrates the calculations involved in com-
puting the standard deviations of Project 1 (low risk) and Project 2
(high risk).

Project 2 (standard deviation of 7.71), features more risk than
Project 1 (standard deviation of only 2.12); this provides very
useful information for financial managers considering capital
projects or investments with risky characteristics.

Return is often measured as percentage of the capital invested
in, or allocated to, a project or asset; this puts results on an equal
footing for comparative purposes. For instance, a 10 percent return
means that a company will receive a gain of 10 percent on the
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Table 3.1 Standard deviations of projects 1 and 2

Project 1
Actual  Expected (Actual — (Actual — Probability  (Actual —
Expected) Expected)? Expected)?
x Probability
35 40 -5 25 10% 2.5
38 40 -2 4 70% 2.8
41 40 1 1 20% 2
Sum = 4.5
std dev = V4.5 =212
Project 2
Actual  Expected (Actual — (Actual — Probability  (Actual—
Expected)  Expected)? Expected)?
x Probability
30 40 -10 100 20% 20
48 40 8 64 50% 32
45 40 5 25 30% 7.5
Sum = 59.5
stddev= /59.5 =771

amount invested in the risky project, while a 20 percent return
means that it will receive a gain of 20 percent.

Figure 3.1 brings these concepts together: return, as a percentage
of capital invested, is depicted on the y-axis, while risk, as the
standard deviation of returns, is shown on the x-axis. The upward
sloping line suggests that lower risk projects/investments earn a
lower return, and higher risk projects/investments earn a higher
return. This is consistent with the risk/return tradeoff mentioned
earlier.

It can also be useful examining expected returns versus risk over
time to illustrate how two different projects that provide the same
expected return might actually expose a firm to very different
risks. These profiles are illustrated in Figure 3.2. While Projects 1
and 2 generate the same average expected return, the standard
deviation of the return varies significantly: Project 2 exposes the
firm to much greater risk, as the realized return might be much
higher, or much lower, than expected. In other words, there is a
smaller likelihood that Project 2 will achieve the expected return,
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and a much greater likelihood that it will achieve a return that is
either much higher or lower. A company’s ability to estimate the
actual outcome on Project 2 is lower than on Project 1, which fea-
tures an expected return pattern that is much closer to the average.
A financial manager facing an investment decision will select Pro-
ject 1: both yield the same returns, but Project 1 does so with less
uncertainty. Only when the expected return on Project 2 is higher
will the financial manager consider an investment.

Return (%)

High return

Low return

Low risk High risk Risk
Figure 3.1 Risk and return

Expected
return {%)

.- Project 1: low risk

== S -+~ Average expected
= return

Project 2: high risk

Time

Figure 3.2 High- and low-risk projects

51



52

FINANCIAL CONCEPTS AND TOOLS

We can also examine the likelihood that the return on a project
will approximate the expected return. Examining the normal dis-
tribution (i.e. the familiar bell-shaped curve), which represents the
distribution of all possible outcomes in a population, is central to
the process. Given the shape of the curve we would expect most
observations to occur around the average, and a smaller amount to
be above and below; this means that the average has the greatest
probability of occurrence. Figure 3.3 illustrates Projects 1 and 2 in
terms of statistical distributions. As before, Project 2 features a
wider dispersion from the average, and is therefore riskier than
Project 1.

We've already noted that risk/return is a balancing act — a risky
project must always provide a greater return than a less risky one
if capital is to be allocated optimally. The actual tradeoff between
risk and return can be measured by the coefficient of variation,
which is the standard deviation divided by the expected return. So,
if Project 1 and Project 2 each feature an expected return of 10
percent, but Project 2 has a standard deviation of 10 percent and
Project 1 has a standard deviation of 5 percent, the coefficient of
variation on Project 2 is twice as large as that of Project 1. This,
again, makes Project 2 appear less attractive from a risk/return
perspective.

We can also use the probability distribution and the concept of
expected value to measure the relative appeal of different projects.
The expected future return that a company can expect to receive

Probability

Project 2: high risk
T=-~===Project 1: low risk

Average Expected
return (%)

Figure 3.3 Probability distributions
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on a project or investment is a product of the estimated return and
the likelihood that the return will be achieved. Multiplying these
two yields the expected value of a project/investment. Consider the
hypothetical investments listed in Table 3.2.

Based on these combinations of returns and risks, a company
can select investment 1 and, after adjusting for risk, expect to earn
5 percent. Since the probability of the expected return is 100 per-
cent, the investment is effectively risk-free. If the company wants
to take more risk it can choose investment 3, which offers a greater
estimated return (9 percent) but injects more uncertainty (e.g. a 30
percent chance that the return won’t be realized); this is clearly a
risky investment. The expected value, however, is greater than the
expected value of investment 1, meaning the risk/return tradeoff is
consistent with the relationship illustrated in Figure 3.1. Invest-
ment 2, which is also risky, provides an “intermediate” opportu-
nity: more risk and return than investment 1, but less risk and
return than investment 3.

We are most concerned about a scenario where the risk and
return appear misbalanced: let’s assume that the risk on invest-
ment 3 is higher, meaning the probability of obtaining the esti-
mated result is now lower (50 percent). The results, summarized in
Table 3.3, show that the risk/return is no longer balanced — a
company can invest in risk-free investment 1 and generate expected

Table 3.2 Risk/return tradeoffs 1

Investment Estimated Probability Expected
return (%) (%) value (%)
1 - low risk 5% 100% 5%
2 — middle risk 7% 80% 5.6%
3 — high risk 9% 70% 6.3%

Table 3.3 Risk/return tradeoffs 2

Investment Estimated Probability Expected
return (%) (%) value (%)

1 - low risk 5% 100% 5%

2 — middle risk 7% 80% 5.6%

3 — high risk 9% 50% 4.5%
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value of 5 percent or invest in risky investment 3 and generate
expected value of 4.5 percent.

These simple examples lead us to important conclusions about
corporate behavior. First, a “rational” company will want to be
paid more when the uncertainty associated with a future event is
high. If a firm has an opportunity to invest in a project that will
provide a future cash flow, but the likelihood of successfully earn-
ing that cash flow is relatively uncertain (i.e. a high standard
deviation), it must make sure that the return on that investment is
large enough to cover the uncertainty. This is the essence of
informed risk-taking. Second, when a company is deciding between
two (or more) competing investments that provide the same
return, it will choose the one with the lower risk; alternatively, if
two projects have the same risk, it will choose the one with the
higher return. Proper management of corporate resources therefore
requires a strong focus on both risk and return.

RISK DIVERSIFICATION

Once a firm has estimated the expected return and risk of a single
project or investment it can apply the same process to all others it
might be contemplating. The diversification process helps a firm
understand how individual projects/investments interact with one
another when they are combined. Sometimes risks can increase
when two or more projects/investments are combined, and some-
times risks can actually decrease. Evaluating this relationship is
therefore critical.

Let’s begin by noting that risks can be classed as diversifiable
(idiosyncratic) or non-diversifiable (systematic). A diversifiable risk
is a risk that is specific to a project/investment, and which can
therefore be changed by adding other projects/investments.
Importantly, by creating the right mix of projects/investments, the
overall risk of the firm’s portfolio can be reduced — without
necessarily reducing the overall expected return. This is a key
element of financial theory and investment management.

Projects/investments that are uncorrelated or negatively
correlated with existing projects/investments can help boost
returns and/or reduce risk. Correlation is a statistical measure
that is computed from the covariances and standard deviations
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of two variables (i.e. projects/investments), which we denote as a

and b:

cov(a,b)
std dev(a) x std dev(b)

correlation =

[3.9]

Correlation measures the variance of variable a relative to variable
b, reflecting the degree to which the two variables move together:
correlation of +1.0 means that the two projects/investments move
in lock-step, suggesting that the risk of the two individual projects
is additive; correlation of —1.0 means that the two projects move
in opposite directions, indicating that the risks offset one another;
and, a correlation of 0 means that the two are independent —
whatever happens to one project has no bearing on what happens
to the second project.

For instance, if ABC Co. invests in a project that becomes riskier
as interest rates rise and another that becomes less risky under the
same scenario (i.e. negative correlation), the combination of the
two produces a mini-portfolio that is indifferent to the movement
of interest rates. By eliminating the risk, the stability of the
returns is ensured. In fact, this is the foundation of hedging, as
we'll discover in Chapter 7. Conversely, if both react in the same
way (i.e. positive correlation), then ABC Co. will either generate a
very large return or a very small one; this implies a greater degree
of earnings volatility.

A non-diversifiable risk is a risk factor that affects all projects/
investments equally and cannot, therefore, be reduced or elimi-
nated by adding additional projects/investments. For instance, if all
projects/investments are negatively affected if the economy falls
into recession, no amount of new projects can be added to reduce
the overall risk of a firm’s project portfolio.

We can summarize the risk diversification framework by noting
that as more uncorrelated/negatively correlated projects/invest-
ments are added to a firm’s portfolio, diversifiable risk declines;
non-diversifiable risk, in contrast, holds steady, as noted in Figure
3.4.

We can apply the same logic to entire firms. Firms can be char-
acterized by their degree of diversifiable and non-diversifiable
risks. For instance, an auto company has risks that are unique to
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Overall risk

------------ Diversifiable risk

Non-diversifiable risk

# of projects/investments

Figure 3.4 Diversifiable and non-diversifiable risks

its operations (e.g. its own balance sheet, management and strategy
issues, cost structure, and so on). It is also impacted by factors that
affect all auto manufacturers (e.g. fuel prices, consumer demand
for large automobiles, emissions standards). An investment man-
ager who is trying to build a diversified portfolio can diversify
away the risks to a specific auto company by purchasing the stocks
of other auto companies, which have different strategies, financial
positions, management and so forth. But this does nothing to
eliminate the risk to factors that are common to all auto
companies — all are impacted by the same systematic variables. The
only way the investment manager can reduce the industry risk is
by investing in sectors that aren’t impacted by the same factors. It
may be able to do so by purchasing the stocks of companies in the
technology, banking, and pharmaceutical sector, for instance. Once
this portfolio is assembled, the investment manager has a diversi-
fied portfolio. However, even these industries may be affected by
some of the systematic variables — such as a slowdown in economic
growth or rise in inflation. This means that the portfolio will still
retain some element of non-diversifiable risk.

A key financial concept known as the Capital Asset Pricing
Model (CAPM) is a logical and important extension of the diver-
sification concept. CAPM is a framework that attempts to relate
non-diversifiable risk to the expected return of a security, project,
or investment. While CAPM is used primarily with stocks, it can
also be applied to projects (though care must be taken in defining
an appropriate market benchmark).
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The first step in the CAPM framework is to divide risk into
diversifiable and non-diversifiable components and assume that
there is some relationship between the return of individual assets
and the return of the market as a whole (in practice there is some
debate as to what assets comprise the “market,” but in general
very broad market indexes are used). The next step is to calculate
the degree of risk by determining how sensitive asset returns are
to market (or index) returns. A stock that moves more than the
whole market is riskier than one that moves less than the market.

This risk sensitivity can be determined by dividing the volatility
(standard deviation) of a stock’s return by the volatility of the
market return, which is then multiplied by the correlation between
the stock and the market; this yields a result known as the beta of
a stock (i.e. the slope of the line between the stock return and
market return). A beta greater than 1.0 means the stock is riskier
than the market; a beta smaller than 1.0 means the stock is less
risky than the market. So if stock A has a beta of 1.2, we might
expect it to rise or fall by 20 percent more than the market; if it
has a beta of 0.8 we expect that it would rise or fall by only 80
percent of the market’s move. Beta can therefore be viewed as a
relative measure of the non-diversifiable risk associated with the
returns of a stock, relative to the return of the market index.
Figure 3.5 illustrates high and low beta stocks.

Steep slope, high
beta = stock riskier

/ than market

__________ Gradual slope,

—low beta = stock

.......... less risky than
market

Stock return
(%)

Market return (%)

Figure 3.5 A stock’s beta
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CAPM states that the actual risk of a stock is equal to a constant
(the base risk-free interest rate) plus a market return that is
adjusted by beta (plus a minor residual error term):

stock return = constant + (beta x market return) + error term
(3.3]

This is a useful relationship that allows a firm to compare the risk
of individual stocks or investment projects against the market as a
whole. By doing so, a company can create an optimal portfolio —
one that provides a maximum amount of return for a given
level of risk, or a minimum amount of risk for a given level of
return.

ENTERPRISE VALUE MAXIMIZATION

Enterprise value maximization is closely related to risk and return.
We’ve outlined the concept of value maximization in Chapter 1
and indicated that, in a free market economy, a company seeks to
maximize wealth while complying with various social, legal, and
regulatory constraints. This seems like a logical aim. But how does
a firm actually accomplish this goal?

The primary way is by using corporate resources as efficiently
and effectively as possible. The financial value of a firm is based on
its ability to generate net income (or earnings) — the more income
the firm produces on a particular base of assets, the greater its
worth. Assume Company X and Company Y have the same base of
productive assets: Company X, which can only generate $1 million
of earnings every year is worth less than Company Y, which can
generate $10 million of earnings every year. So, actions taken to
maximize the amount of earnings produced will help maximize the
value of the firm — the enterprise value.

The volatility, or standard deviation, of earnings also plays a
role in value determination: the greater the volatility of earnings,
the lower the worth of the company, as a strong year might be
followed by a weak one. A company with a good record of stable to
steadily growing earnings can be regarded as stronger, and more
valuable, than one with an erratic pattern of earnings.
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Let’s refer back to the income statement described in the last
chapter to see how a firm might be able to boost its net income. A
company can:

e Increase its revenues while keeping cost of goods under
control
Reduce its SG&A expenses
Reduce its interest expense
Boost its other operating income/lower its other operating
expenses

e Lower its tax bill.

Each one of these will lead to higher net income, and higher levels
of (stable) net income mean greater enterprise value.

Let’s also remember that active management of the balance
sheet can help achieve similar goals. A company can:

Lower the amount of debt on its balance sheet

Reduce the amount of non-earning assets on the balance sheet
(e.g. cash/equivalents)

Minimize the amount of inventory on hand

Invest in projects/investments that reduce risk (i.e. are nega-
tively correlated and thus reduce earnings volatility).

Earnings can also be protected through a proper risk management
program that ensures inputs/financial risks, as well as productive
assets, are not subject to loss or cash flow interruption. Risks can
unexpectedly detract from income, which detracts from value.
We'll discuss this concept in Chapter 7.

In fact, proper management of every financial account can lead
to efficiencies, and these efficiencies can create greater earnings
and, ultimately, enterprise value. Each asset on the balance sheet
must create a minimum return for the firm in order to create
earnings and enterprise value. So, the disciplined firm focused on
financial management will evaluate its assets and returns to
determine whether they are adequate. This takes us back to a point
we've just discussed: if a firm can allocate its resources in projects
that maximize return for a given level of risk, it is helping
maximize value.
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ESSENTIAL TOOLS OF FINANCE

Financial managers use many different tools to make decisions. In
this section we consider several fundamental tools, including the
general cost of capital, time value of money, and the investment
decision framework.

THE GENERAL COST OF CAPITAL

We begin our discussion with a brief overview of interest rates and
stock prices and how they impact a firm’s weighted cost of capital —
or the average cost of the resources companies need to finance
productive assets. We'll expand on the topic when we consider
capital-raising instruments in Chapters 4 and 5.

An interest rate — or debt cost of capital — is simply the cost of
borrowing money, or the amount that can be earned by lending
money or depositing funds. The financial markets feature many
types of interest rates: government interest rates, private sector
(corporate) interest rates, short-term interest rates, long-term
interest rates, fixed interest rates, and floating interest rates.

Government interest rates represent a national cost of borrow-
ing via a government treasury or central bank. Highly developed
and financially strong nations, such as the US, UK, Germany,
Switzerland, Japan, Canada, and Australia, borrow money at the
lowest possible interest rates since they are considered good credit
risks with essentially no likelihood of defaulting (i.e. not paying)
on their obligations. We refer to these as risk-free interest rates
(rr). The Government rates of less creditworthy nations (e.g. many
emerging market nations) are not considered risk-free, as the
likelihood of default is higher. To compensate the lender for this
additional specter of default a risk premium (r,) is added to the
risk-free rate. The same is true of corporate rates: since all com-
panies have at least some chance of default, they must also pay a
risk premium. This is, of course, consistent with the risk/return
tradeoff.

Some interest rates are fixed for a particular maturity (such as 3
years, 5 years, or 30 years), while others are variable, changing
every 1, 3, 6 or 12 months. For instance, the London Interbank
Offered Rate (LIBOR), which represents the borrowing cost for
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banks in the international deposit market, is a key floating interest
rate. The yield curve is a representation of interest rates with
respect to maturity — that is, the cost of borrowing across different
maturities, from overnight to thirty years. Figure 3.6 illustrates a
hypothetical yield curve built from rates extending from 1 to 30
years. In a normal market environment the yield curve is upward
sloping (positive), meaning short-term rates are lower than long-
term rates; this means it costs less to borrow in the short term
than over the long term. Yield curves that are flat (i.e. short-term
rates equal long-term rates) or inverted (i.e. short-term rates
exceed long-term rates) are rather less common. These states are
depicted in Figure 3.7. Note that separate yield curves can be cre-
ated for different types of rates/borrowers (e.g. a US government
yield curve, a £ AA corporate curve, and so forth).

What drives the shape of the yield curve? Academic and
empirical research points to several forces, including expectations,
liquidity, and market segmentation. Expectations embedded in the
middle and long maturities of a yield curve are simply an expres-
sion of the market’s belief of what will happen to rates in the
future. An upward sloping curve suggests that the market expects
rates in the future will be higher than they are today. Contained

Rate (%)
10.00
8.00
6.50
4.00
3.00 [
1 year 30 years
| I | | |
1 year 3 year 5 year 10 year 30 year
3.00% 4.00% 6.50% 8.00% 10.00%

Figure 3.6 Hypothetical yield curve
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Rate (%)

Inverted yield curve
Flat yield curve
Positive yield curve

Maturity

Figure 3.7 Sample yield curves

within the expectations theory is a liquidity preference argument,
which says that the longer the investment horizon, the greater the
chance of default-related losses; accordingly, investors buying
long-term securities will require a liquidity premium in order to
accept this risk. The market segmentation theory looks primarily
at market structure and the supply/demand forces that exist within
different investor groups. This theory suggests that different types
of investors concentrate their activities in specific segments of the
curve and tend not to invest in other areas. Accordingly, if demand
for securities by the long-term investors is very strong, long-term
bond prices will rise and rates will fall.

Interest rates are important because they help establish part of a
company’s cost of capital and aid in computing the effect of future
cash flows on corporate or investment operations. We'll consider
both of these points later in the chapter.

The second element of capital we must consider centers on cor-
porate stock. A stock price is a representation of a company’s value
and is determined every day through buying and selling by
investors, dealers, and speculators. Though we’ll talk more about
corporations and the issuance of stock in the next chapter, it is
important for our current discussion to note that the fair price of a
stock is based on expectations related to the future worth of the
firm. It reflects the discounted amount of earnings the company is
expected to make over a period of time. Investors purchase stock in
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a company in expectation of receiving a return — either a rise in
the stock price (capital gain), a periodic payment (dividends), or
both. The value assigned to the stock is therefore the market’s
collective assessment of such return opportunities. Companies with
strong prospects trade at higher prices (other things being equal)
than those with poor prospects. In practice the price of the stock is
often compared to actual or expected earnings via the price/
earnings (P/E) ratio. Thus, a firm that trades at $10/share and
earns $2/share has a P/E multiple of 5; one that trades at $20/
share and earns $2/share has a P/E multiple of 10. The market
generally views high P/E stocks as having better prospects.

If a company wants to issue more stock, it faces a cost that is a
direct function of its stock price. A higher stock price means less
shares have to be issued to raise a given amount of stock (e.g. if
$500 million is required and the stock is trading at $50/share,
10 million shares have to be issued; if the stock is trading at
$25/share, 20 million shares have to be issued). This is important
because it lowers the amount of ownership and increases earnings
dilution, which we’ll consider in the next chapter. In fact, the
optimal time to issue stock is when the price is high. Issuing stock
is a cost to the company because investors will only supply capital
if they receive a fair return. The cost of stock is thus the second
major component of corporate financing, and can be used to
compute a firm’s total cost of capital.

Every company needs some amount of capital in order to
operate (e.g. to purchase or lease a factory, hire staff, buy raw
materials, and so forth). This capital is not, of course, free. The
cost a firm ultimately faces relates to the amount it must pay to
generate funds internally or externally. The actual cost assigned to
this capital depends on the nature of the funds being raised.
Since different forms of capital have different benefits and risks,
each has a specific cost. This means that a firm must weigh the
relative costs and benefits before deciding on the best possible
mix.

Capital can be raised internally and externally. As detailed in
the last chapter that a firm’s net income, if not paid out as divi-
dends, can be reinvested in productive operations. This is internal
capital, reflected in the retained earnings account. External capital
comes from outside sources: either lenders or credit investors (in
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the case of debt [loans and bonds], which is our topic in Chapter 5),
or equity investors (for common and preferred stock, which we
cover in Chapter 4). We’ve already noted above that interest rates
represent the cost of borrowing, and stock prices represent the
amount it costs to raise an incremental amount of stock. For the
purposes of our discussion in the rest of this chapter we shall
consider the cost of capital to be a generic weighted “average” of a
firm’s internal and external costs based on its retained earnings,
equity and debt (computed on an after-tax basis for reasons we
will consider in Chapter 5). This weighted average cost of capital
(WACC), which includes total capital as the sum of debt, equity,
and retained earnings, can be computed as:

WACC = after-tax cost of debt x D;bt.
Total capital
Equity )

t of it e PUET
+cost of equity x (Total capital

) ) Retained earnings
+ cost of retained earnings x ,
Total capital

[3.4]

We shall note in Chapter 4 that the cost of equity and the cost of
retained earnings are actually the same; for now, however, we
consider them to be separate. Based on this equation a firm's
WACC is a function of both the amount of a particular type of
capital in the total capital structure, and the specific cost assigned
to that class of capital. It can be used to consider the advisability of
investing in one or more investments and of raising an incre-
mental amount of funding for future expansion (i.e. the next
dollar or pound of financing).

Consider a situation where ABC Co. has £100 million in total
capital, including £50 million of equity, £25 million of retained
earnings, and £25 million of debt. Its cost of equity is 10 percent,
its cost of retained earnings is also 10 percent, and its after-tax
cost of debt is 5 percent. Based on this information, ABC Co.’s
WACC is 8.75 percent. It can use this figure to evaluate a series of
financing and investing decisions, as noted below.
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TIME VALUE OF MONEY

Time value of money, one of the most important tools of finance,
is routinely used in financial analysis and decision-making. In this
section we consider present value and future value, the corner-
stones of time value of money.

The value of money is driven by competing forces: its value
decreases over time as a result of inflation risk and liquidity
preferences, but it can increase as a result of interest rates. Infla-
tion erodes the purchasing value of money over time: as prices
rise, each dollar or pound buys less. Similarly, liquidity pre-
ferences suggest that institutions prefer to hold cash to meet
unexpected payments. That is, institutions prefer to have cash on
hand so that it can be invested immediately in productive endeavors
or used for emergency purposes. In order to induce these institutions
to shift into more uncertain (i.e. longer-term) assets, a premium
has to be paid. When interest rates are positive, a sum of money
invested today will be worth more in the future. By extension, the
value of a future sum of money will be lower today than in the
future.

Determining a present value (PV, which is today’s value) or a
future value (FV, which is the value at some future point) requires
three inputs:

e The cash flow (CF) that is to be paid or received today or in the
future
The relevant time horizon
The proper interest rate, discount rate, or cost of capital (the
terms are interchangeable). We will use the generic cost of
debt from our discussion above as the discount rate in the for-
mulas that follow. For a risky company or nation this is, of
course, equal to the risk-free rate and risk premium described
earlier.

While the equations below look somewhat involved, they are
intuitively simple and based on the most fundamental algebra.
Let’s begin with PV. If we are to receive some cash flow in the
future, we know that it will be worth less today than tomorrow.
This means we must divide (or discount) the future CF by the
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discount rate over the time horizon in question. This simple rela-
tionship can be captured by the following:

PV — cash flow 3.5]
(1 + discount rate)time horizon '

This formula is straightforward and powerful: it reduces the value
of a cash flow that we expect to receive in the future by the dis-
count rate, meaning we can make decisions today using today’s
discounted cash flows. For instance, the PV of a $1 million cash
flow to be received in 1 year when the discount rate is 5 percent is
simply:

PV =

$1m
(1+0.05)"

or $952,380.

We can expand this basic equation in two ways: by adding
additional cash flows, and by changing the discounting frequency.
Each of these will help us when we begin to value investments or
projects with multiple cash flows over time.

To add more cash flows, we simply sum across the individual
cash flows and their relevant time periods via:

PV = sum across each time period

time horizon

(1+discount rate)

cash flow 1

[3.6]

So, if we expect to receive $1 million in periods 1 and 2, then the
PV (using the same 5 percent discount rate is):

$1m n
(1+40.05)

$1m
(14 0.05)

or, $1,859,409 ($952,380 + $907,029). In other words, $2 million

that we expect to receive in equal $1 million installments over the
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next two periods is worth approximately $1.86 million today at a 5
percent discount rate. Note that a contract that pays equal cash
installments over an extended period of time is also known as an
annuity. Individuals that want a fixed income over time can pur-
chase an annuity by making an upfront payment that is based on
the discount rate and the size of desired future cash flows.

What happens if the discount rate is greater than 5 percent? We
would intuitively expect the result to be smaller, because dividing
by a larger figure yields a smaller result. For instance, if the dis-
count rate is 10 percent instead of 5 percent, the two-period cash
flows are now:

(14 0.10)" (1+40.10)*

$1m ] .

$1m ]

or $1,735,536 ($909,090 + $826,446); this is $124,000 less than the
cash flows discounted at 5 percent. Accordingly, the larger the
discount rate the greater the discounted cash flows, and the
lower the resulting PVs. This is an important fact that we will
revisit when we discuss risky debt in Chapter 5; we will see that
risky cash flows have a higher discount rate, leading to smaller
PVs.

What if the cash flows occur twice in a single period (e.g. every
six months instead of every year)? We can make the formula
above more generic by including a factor that takes account of the
frequency of payments, as in:

cash flow
fractional period
time horizon

discount rate  Fractional period
(1 + fractional period)
3.7]

PV = sum across each time period

If we assume from the example above that the $1 million of cash
flows for each of two periods is actually paid as $500,000 over
four periods (e.g. semi-annual instead of annual), and the annual
discount rate is 5 percent, the PV is:
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$500, 000 $500, 000
PV = 1 2
(140.025)]  [(1+0.025)}
$500,000 | | $500,000
(140.025)]  [(1+0.025)}

or $1,939,394 ($493,864 + $487,804 + $481,819 + $475,907). Note
that this PV result is greater than the one in the single period
payment immediately above ($1,859,409) because it assumes
that as the $500,000 payments are received each period, they are
reinvested at the same discount rate.

As the fractional period gets smaller and smaller (e.g. quarterly,
monthly, weekly, daily) we can condense the process by deriving
the continuously compounded cash flow as an exponential function
(exp); this is equal to instantaneous discounting, and can be computed
via:

PV = sum across each time period [cash flow 3.4
x exp(discount rate x time horizon)] '

For instance, a single $1 million payment to be received in two
years is worth $904,837 today when discounted continuously at 5
percent. We can, of course, add multiple cash flows together, as in
the examples above.

We can also consider the special case of the perpetuity, which is
simply a fixed cash flow that is paid forever (e.g. as in an endow-
ment fund or perpetual bond). Its value can be estimated through a
simplification of the PV formula above:

PV — { cash flow }

_ 3.9
discount rate [3.9]

For instance, a perpetuity might pay $100,000 per annum. If the
discount rate is 5 percent, the PV of the perpetual stream is:

$100, 000
pV ="
0.05
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or $2 million. If the discount rate is 10 percent, the PV is $1
million. It is important to remember that, although a perpetuity
exists forever, the most distant cash flows PV to a very small
amount.

The reverse of the PV calculation is, of course, the FV calcula-
tion, or how much a series of cash flows will be worth in the
future. If we invest a cash flow today, we know that it will be
worth more in the future. This means that we must now multiply,
or compound, the current cash flow by some appropriate rate over
the relevant time horizon, and can do so via:

FV = cash flow(1 + discount rate)t™me herizen [3.10]

For example, a $1 million sum invested today, for one year, at an
annual discount rate of 5 percent, is equal to:

FV = $1m(1 + 0.05)*

or $1,050,000. Similarly, if the discount rate is increased to
10 percent, the FV rises to $1,100,000. This makes intuitive, as
well as mathematical, sense, since the greater the return on a
cash flow invested today, the greater the future value of that cash
flow.

The FV of multiple cash flows received over time again requires
summation:

FV = sum across each time period|cash flow 3.11]

time horizon]

x (1 + discount rate)

Thus, $1 million of cash flows to be received in periods 1 and 2
when the discount rate is 5 percent yields an FV of:

FV = $1m(1 + 0.05)" + $1m(1 + 0.05)*
or $2,152,500 ($1,050,000 + $1,102,500).

When cash flows are invested in fractional periods we can again
introduce a fractional multiplier process, as in [3.11]:
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cash flow

FV = sum across each time period| —————
fractional period

time horizon

discount rate Fractional period
x (14 scount rate

fractional period

So, $1 million received over two semi-annual periods (i.e. CF of
$500,000 per period) rather than a single annual period, with an
annual discount rate of 5 percent, yields an FV of:

%
FV = $500, 000 (1 + g) +$500, 000 (1 + g)

or $1,018,711 ($506,211 + $512,500).
Using the logic above, we can summarize the future value of a
continuously compounded cash flow as:

FV = sum across each time period|cash flow 3.12]
x exp(discount rate X time horizon)] '

Again, $1 million compounded continuously at 5 percent for two
years yields an FV of $1,105,170.

In practice the discounting and compounding exercises described
above can be performed through financial calculators or spreadsheets
with pre-programmed functionality; they can also be estimated
through standard discounting/compounding tables. However, under-
standing the logic and intuition of time value of money is very
important, as the framework is fundamental to many financial
decisions.

INVESTMENT DECISIONS

Financial managers seeking to allocate scarce resources must be
able to make rational financial decisions during the financial plan-
ning phase. Net present value (NPV) gives managers a measure by
which to evaluate multiple projects or investments being con-
sidered. The NPV equation, which builds on the time value con-
cepts we have just mentioned, takes an extra step by including
initial costs or capital investment.
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We know from the section above that a productive project
(investment) will yield cash flows over its life, and these can be
discounted to provide a PV estimate. In order to receive the benefit
of such future cash flows a company must first put up some
amount of capital. This initial investment is a cost to the firm and
leads to the creation of a simple NPV equation which embeds both
costs and benefits. We may express this through:

NPV = — investment + sum across each

cash flow [3.13]

) time horizon

time period
(1 + discount rate

The initial investment is not discounted by the cost of capital
because it is made in the current period. If the project requires
interim investment or maintenance costs, these can be subtracted
from the positive cash flows directly (i.e. the periodic cash flow is
net of additional costs paid). Consider, for instance, a firm that has
an opportunity to invest in a simple three-period project that costs
$5 million and yields equal annual cash flows of $3.5 million. If
the firm’s cost of capital is 10 percent, the NPV of the project is:

NPV = —$5m + <$3'5m $3.5m $3.5m>

+ +
(1.10)" * (1.10)*  (1.10)?

or $3,704,000 (e.g. $8,704,000 — $5,000,000). Let’s now assume
that the firm can also decide to invest in another project, which
costs $7.5 million but generates $3.75 million per year for four
years. Which project is better? The NPV approach allows an
examination of the two on an equal basis:

NPV — —$7.5m +<$3-75m $3.75m  $3.75m $3.75m>

(1.10)* - (1.10)* * (1.10)° " (1.10)*

This yields an NPV of $4,386,000, suggesting the second project is
the preferred investment. Alternatively, a company can use the
NPV framework to identify projects that meet some minimum
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rate of return, or hurdle rate. This can be done by computing an
internal rate of return (IRR), which is simply the cost of capital
that forces the NPV to zero. Converting the example immediately
above into the IRR framework looks like this:

7 7 7 7
0:_$7’5m+<$3 5m  $3.75m  $3.75m  $3 5m>

(1—|—Jc)1 (1+x)2+(1+x)3+(1—&-x)4

In this case the firm solves for x, or IRR, to find whether the
minimum return meets an internal hurdle rate set by manage-
ment. In this example the IRR is 10 percent. This framework is
particularly useful for comparing amongst several competing pro-
jects, all of which demand an investment of the firm'’s capital. Even
though all feature positive NPVs, the IRR rule lets a company
make an objective decision. For instance, if a company is presented
with the projects noted in Table 3.4, Project 4 appears to be the
superior alternative.

When project IRR is greater than the cost of capital, the com-
pany achieves a higher return than it is paying for its capital,
meaning that investment in the project is sensible. When IRR is
less than the cost of capital the company does better not to use its
capital to invest in the project. By defining a master IRR curve,
such as the one illustrated in Figure 3.8, we create an entire
relationship of NPVs and acceptance/rejection decisions.

A firm may assign a different cost of capital to each one of its
investment projects, or it may opt for a blended cost of capital (i.e.
the WACC). Individual cost of capital may be selected when

Table 3.4 Sample projects, NPVs and IRRs

Project Horizon (years) NPV, $ millions IRR

1 3 5 8.50%
2 3 6.5 8.75%
3 5 55 4.50%
4 4 6 9.75%
5 5 7.25 9.00%
6 5 7 8.75%
7 3 6.5 8.80%
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projects have unique characteristics, such as long maturities, spe-
cial risks, and so forth; this approach can lead to more accurate
decisions as project profitability won’t be overstated or under-
stated. A blended WACC approach may be suitable when a firm's
investments are largely uniform and no individual project features
unusual risks or characteristics.

We refine this process slightly to make it even more realistic.
Every time a company raises funds to invest or expand, its mar-
ginal cost of capital rises; capital is scarce and the limited supply
means higher cost for each increment raised. This should make
sense: as a firm raises more debt, its financial position becomes
slightly more strained, as debt carries with it the obligation to
make interest payments. This additional pressure, perceptible by
lenders and investors, increases the cost of debt capital slightly.
The same is true of equity: each new share that a company issues
increases dilution, which causes the value of the shares to drop
slightly — again increasing costs. Therefore, if we are considering
each incremental dollar or pound of investment, we can’t look only
at the WACC. We must examine decisions in light of the weighted
marginal cost of capital (WMCC), which is an upward sloping func-
tion (i.e. marginal cost increases with each incremental amount of
capital raised). Figure 3.9 replicates Figure 3.8 with a WMCC
curve (rather than a constant cost of capital or WACC curve); we
notice in this illustration that the acceptance region for projects

NPV
IRR
Project accepted
NPV =0 Cost of capital
Project rejected

Investment

Figure 3.8 IRR, NPV and decision rules
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NPV
IRR WMCC
Project
/ accepted
NPV =0 Project
rejected

Investment

Figure 3.9 IRR, NPV and WMCC

becomes smaller, meaning that a firm will have to find projects
with a higher IRR in order to satisfy an increasing cost of capital.

EXTERNAL FORCES AND FINANCIAL DECISIONS

While our discussion above focuses on internal issues we must not
forget our comments from Chapter 1: a firm doesn’t operate in
isolation, but is impacted by external market forces that must be
considered when applying financial concepts and tools to decision-
making. It’s easy to imagine that the current and anticipated state
of the economy, the level of interest rates and inflation, the size
and direction of essential capital flows, and the nature of competi-
tion and regulation can all play a part in shaping a company’s
fortunes. The decision-making process must therefore take account
of these external variables.

Consider one very simple example: ABC Co. wants to invest in a
new project that will expand capacity. Its initial decision on whe-
ther to invest will be based on various internal concepts (motiva-
tions, optimal financial structure) and its quantitative evaluation of
the opportunity (WACC, NPV decision rules). However, if ABC
Co. is acting prudently, it must also consider how the expansion
will affect, and be affected by, the outside environment. If
the economy is in recession and expected to stay that way for
several more quarters, it may be prudent to delay the project. If
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inflation is accelerating and ABC Co.’s costs of production will rise
in tandem, the profit margins on the new production may be
squeezed to the point where the investment is no longer compel-
ling. Or, if the economy is strong and interest rates are at a low
point in the cycle it may be sensible to proceed to lock in a low
cost of capital. If competitors are similarly planning to add
capacity, ABC Co. may even wish to accelerate the process in order
to gain market share more rapidly. Each one of these forces may
have a bearing on ABC Co.’s ultimate success/failure with the
project.
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receipts (inflows) on a project or investment. Internal rate of return is
the cost of capital that forces the NPV computation to zero.
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COMMON AND PREFERRED
STOCK

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

In this chapter we consider common and preferred stock, which
together comprise equity capital, the first of two major classes of
external corporate financing; note that the terms equity capital,
stock, and shares are synonymous. We commence with a review of
why and how stock is used, the relative costs and benefits of bor-
rowing through the equity markets, and the tradeoffs that exist
between using too much and too little equity financing. We then
analyze dividend policy and the forces that determine equity costs
and share values. We conclude the chapter by describing the char-
acteristics of major classes of stock and how the instruments are
issued and traded. The material in this chapter should be compared
and contrasted with the debt financing discussed in the next
chapter.

USES OF COMMON AND PREFERRED STOCK

As we’ve seen in Part I, a company exists to provide its customers
with goods and services while simultaneously creating a profitable
business that rises in value; this eventually builds wealth for the
proprietors (owners). The actual ownership structure of a firm can



8o

COMMON AND PREFERRED STOCK

take various forms. For instance, a firm can be founded as a sole
proprietorship (single owner), a partnership (several partners ser-
ving as owners), or a corporation (many investors serving as
owners). The corporate structure provides the greatest amount of
flexibility, because it allows a firm to raise a much larger amount
of capital, it provides for continuity over time, and it shields the
owners from unlimited liability. Let’s explore each of these char-
acteristics before considering the particulars of common and
preferred stock.

First, a firm constituted as a corporation can raise a greater
amount of capital as it will have access to the public capital mar-
kets, where the pool of investment capital is substantial. Proprie-
torships and partnerships tend to rely on informal sources of
funding (e.g. some amount of bank loans, government grants,
personal resources), meaning capital access is quite restricted. This
capital restriction invariably constrains growth. Second, a corpora-
tion is not identified with a single individual or group since it
features large and diffuse ownership. In fact, it is intended to exist
as a perpetual entity over many years. Proprietorships and part-
nerships do not necessarily provide the same continuity: they
often rely on a few individuals to guide the business, and their
outlook may be threatened if such individuals depart or cannot
continue their dealings. This can ultimately lead to an unwinding
of the structure. Third, corporations convey the right of limited
liability, meaning that owners of a corporation’s shares are not
liable for more than the amount invested. Partnerships and pro-
prietorships, in contrast, follow the tenet of unlimited liability:
owners and partners are responsible and liable for debts they incur
on behalf of their organizations, and must repay claims from per-
sonal assets if insufficient funds exist within the business. The
shortcomings of using the proprietorship and partnership struc-
tures for any formal, enduring business are quite apparent.
Accordingly, firms seeking to create a robust and scalable structure
generally opt for the corporate form.

In most national systems a corporation is created through a
corporate charter (a document detailing the scope and nature of
business), which is approved by relevant legal and regulatory
authorities. A typical corporation features a board of directors, or
professionals that are set apart from daily operations of the com-
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pany in order to fairly represent the interests of investors, and an
executive management team, which is granted authority by the
board to manage the daily affairs of the company.

The issuance of shares proceeds once all approvals have been
obtained and the board and executive management team are in
place. Share issuance, which we discuss later in the chapter, is the
essential capital-raising effort that allows a corporation to sell to
investors transferable interests representing pro-rata ownership of
its operations. The proceeds raised through such issuance are used
to buy productive assets (e.g. plant and equipment), hire employ-
ees, rent or purchase office space, and so forth. This equity capital
becomes a permanent form of financing on the company’s bal-
ance sheet, providing a continuous source of funds that can be
supplemented by future share issuance as needed.

Each share issued to investors represents an ownership interest
in the company, conveying a series of legal and rent rights. The
legal rights entitle the investor to vote on issues of importance to
the continuing success of the company and to receive periodic
audited financial statements. The rent rights (or economic rights)
entitle the investor to a share in the profits of the company. These
profits can be conveyed via dividends (i.e. a periodic fixed or dis-
cretionary payment) or capital appreciation (i.e. a rise in the share
price), or both. Shares can be issued as common stock or preferred
stock; we’ll consider the differences below, but for now we focus
our discussion on common stock, which is the most widely used
form of external equity financing.

Let’s assume that ABC Co., currently a partnership, wants to
expand beyond the partnership stage, increase the scope of its
operations, and repay all of the informal sources of funding it has
relied on over the years. It decides to incorporate and sell shares to
investors through a public stock offering. Since this deal is its
inaugural funding in the stock market, the transaction takes the
form of an initial public offering (IPO). The funds raised through
the IPO will allow ABC Co. to purchase a bigger factory to expand
its product line, and a fleet of trucks to transport the goods to
distributors and retailers; it will also permit the firm to buy an
office building and hire some additional employees, and repay its
outstanding informal funding. The capital that it raises is thus
essential to the continued expansion and success of the firm.

81



82

COMMON AND PREFERRED STOCK

ABC Co.’s treasurer, working with a bank, decides to issue £200
million of common stock. In doing so, the firm specifies a par value
for its shares, which becomes part of the accounting treatment of
the stock after flotation. So, if ABC Co. selects £1 of par value for
each share, it can issue up to 200 million shares. After the IPO is
completed, ABC Co., as an enduring corporation with limited lia-
bility, will have a capital base of £200 million, which it can use to
meet all of the objectives cited above.

As ABC Co. conducts its operations over the coming years, it
will (hopefully) begin to generate profits. These profits can be used
in various ways once expenses and taxes have been paid. First,
after-tax income can be used to pay equity investors — the new
owners of the company — a dividend. Corporations regularly pay
dividends, which represent a disbursable profit, to common (and
preferred) stock investors. But common stock dividend payments
are discretionary, rather than mandatory, meaning that a com-
pany’s board of directors can choose not to pay them if it believes
the funds can be put to better use. Second, after-tax income can be
reinvested in the company, so that additional productive resources
can be acquired to produce more goods and services. This happens
by leaving a portion of the profits undistributed — preserving them
in an account that is aptly named “retained earnings.” As we’ve
noted in Chapter 2, retained earnings form part of the equity
account on the corporate balance sheet. Importantly, retained
earnings represent an internally generated source of financing
(unlike the issuance of equity, which is an external source of
financing).

The decision on what to do with after-tax profits is centered on
achieving the highest possible return for the owners of ABC Co.
shares. If ABC Co. can invest in additional productive endeavors
that generate an internal rate of return equal to, or better than,
some benchmark, then it may choose to retain most of its earnings
and pay only a modest amount (if any) in the form of dividends.
Reverting to our discussion from the last chapter, this means
approving investments/projects where the NPV is greater than the
cost of capital. However, if the company can’t identify profitable
opportunities that will increase enterprise value (i.e. cost of capital
> project NPV), it may decide to pay a larger amount of dividends.
In some cases it may even declare a special cash dividend, returning
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Income Statement

Revenues
- Expenses
- Taxes
= Net income
Assets Liabilities + Equity
Equity
Preferred stock » Dividends
(external financing) to investors
Commop stogk . » Dividends
(external financing) i to investors
Retained earnings
(internal financing) €

Figure 4.1 Income statement, balance sheet and net income

to existing investors a larger portion of their capital. This tends to
happen periodically with large companies when it becomes clear
that they have capital on hand that they can’t invest efficiently. In
practice companies tend to pay dividends and reinvest profits so
that they can boost the value of their shares and build enterprise
value simultaneously. Figure 4.1 highlights a simple income
statement and balance sheet that reflect the flow of net income on
the external and internal equity financing accounts.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Investors buying stock often expect to receive dividends as a form
of risk compensation. Some investors prefer investing in the stocks
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of companies that pay very high dividends, while others are con-
tent to buy those that pay lower dividends, under the assumption
that net income not paid in the form of dividends will be profitably
reinvested in the firm. Since dividends are a representation of a
company’s ability to generate earnings, both currently and in the
future, they affect the value of a company’s shares. Dividends also
affect, at least indirectly, a company’s investing and financing
plans. For instance, a company that insists on paying very high
dividends will have less internal funds available to pay for new
projects or corporate expansion, and may require external
financing — which can alter its capital structure and cost of capital,
as we'll see in the next chapter.

Financial managers must craft a sensible dividend policy during
the planning stage. Finance features competing theories on optimal
dividend policies. One theory (put forth by economists Modigliani
and Miller) suggests that the value of a firm isn’t actually affected
by dividend policy. The reasoning is as follows: since dividends are
a residual payment they don’t form part of the investment deci-
sion of a firm and generate no earnings. The cost of capital and the
level of earnings therefore don’t change when dividend policy
changes. A rational firm will reinvest all of its retained earnings as
long as the return on investments is greater than the return that
can be obtained in the market. In other words, reinvestment will
occur as long as returns on reinvested retained earnings are greater
than the cost of capital; paying dividends when this condition is
true prevents a company from maximizing share value. However,
this theory is put forth under a series of assumptions that appear
rather restrictive (e.g. a “no tax” regime or one where capital gains
taxes are less than ordinary income taxes, no friction costs, perfect
capital markets).

Another theory indicates that the value of the firm is, indeed,
affected by its selection of a dividend policy. This approach fea-
tures no assumptions apart from the fact that investors value cur-
rent cash dividends more than future cash flows obtained from
reinvested retained earnings. In effect, payment of cash dividends
leads to lower investor uncertainty, which lowers risk and the cost
of capital. Some investors also prefer the current income provided
by dividends (rather than pure long-term capital gains), and may
therefore value such shares more highly. Importantly, dividend
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payments serve as a signaling device: if investors believe a com-
pany intends to pay dividends at a constant or gradually increasing
rate over time, they will have greater comfort that future earnings
will be strong; the reverse is also true, of course. Either will have
an impact on share price.

There is empirical evidence to support the notion that dividend
policy has an effect on cost of capital and share valuation. This
means that the financial manager faces another balancing act,
having to select between maintaining (or gradually increasing)
dividends to keep the share price strong and investors satisfied,
and reinvesting profits to keep future growth on track. Ideally,
dividends should only be paid after all profitable investment
opportunities have been reviewed via the NPV/IRR framework.

EQUITY CAPITAL COSTS AND SHARE VALUATION

We know from Chapter 2 that risk/return is the fundamental tra-
deoff of the financial world. Investors that seek a greater return
must be willing to accept a greater amount of risk; those preferring
a smaller amount of risk can expect a smaller return. A company
arranging financing faces the same tradeoff: if it is funding
through an instrument that generates more risk for investors it
will have to pay them a greater return than if it uses a less risky
instrument. This relationship is central in determining a firm's
capital costs and optimal financing mix.

Below we’ll see how these tradeoffs relate to a company’s
funding. First, however, let’s consider the position that investors in
ABC Co.’s new shares have in the company’s capital structure. As
owners of the company, equity investors are the first to bear losses
should the worst come to pass. When a company experiences
financial difficulties that generate large losses, it depletes its
retained earnings account, which is held for the benefit of equity
investors. As this occurs, the company’s stock price is certain to
fall, again causing investors some degree of loss (e.g. if they
bought shares at £10 and the price falls to £1, at which time they
sell, they realize a loss of £9 per share). During this period of
financial distress the equity investors effectively bear the first
losses. Their capital infusion, which we’ve said is limited to the
amount invested, is used as a buffer to protect all other forms of
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financing that rank above it, including the preferred stock issues
that we discuss below, as well as bond and loan financing that we
consider in the next chapter. If bankruptcy occurs investors with a
claim that ranks above the equity claim will be repaid first. When
all the assets of value are liquidated and outstanding claims are
repaid, the residual amount left for the common equity investors
may only amount to a few cents on the dollar.

Why would an investor be interested in bearing this first loss
risk? Why not sit higher up in the capital structure where there is
more protection against losses and a greater chance of a larger
recovery if the worst happens? The answer is a higher return. In
order to entice investors to supply capital through shares, the
company will have to offer a return that compensates for the risk
of bearing the first losses. Some investors are willing to accept the
increased level of risk associated with stock — but only if they
believe they are being appropriately compensated. We can there-
fore view the common stock buyers as limited liability investors,
with voting power, who receive a higher return than other capital
suppliers because they bear first losses and are subordinated in
bankruptcy. We must also bear in mind that the higher cost of
equity capital — the equity risk premium — must also compensate
for time: an equity security is a perpetual instrument that will
never mature or be redeemed. Accordingly, the probability that an
investor may one day bear some degree of first loss is higher than
it is on a dated security. Finally, we must note that in most jur-
isdictions investors are taxed on their dividend income. In order to
entie investors to commit capital to the purchase of stock, a com-
pany must make the after-tax return sufficiently attractive, meaning
a gross-up of the dividend payment, which adds to the cost of equity.

So, how much does equity capital cost? How much will ABC Co.
have to offer investors in order to raise the type of permanent
financing that it needs to fund its operations? The answer depends
on various external and internal factors.

Let’s start with the external factors. Market supply of, and
demand for, equity capital influences the cost of equity for all
firms. When investors believe the market provides a proper equity
risk/return, they will be inclined to participate. This means
liquidity flows into the market and the overall cost of equity
declines (but bear in mind that costs for individual firms may still
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be higher or lower than the overall market, depending on the
internal factors noted below). In other words, a market that fea-
tures a greater amount of liquidity in search of fair return is going
to lead systematically to lower equity financing costs. This tends to
happen when an economy is stable, corporate earnings are strong,
and financial volatility is low. The opposite scenario also holds
true. If investors don't believe that equity prices correctly reflect
risk they will withhold their capital, causing a supply shortage that
leads ultimately to a rise in overall equity financing costs. Com-
panies that want to issue stock will have to entice investors to
supply funds, and will only be able to do so by offering them
greater returns (i.e. selling stock at a cheaper price, which means a
higher cost of financing). In practice, this scenario appears when
economic growth is sluggish, investors are nervous, corporate
earnings are poor, and/or the financial markets are very volatile. In
fact, all new equity issuance may be temporarily curtailed if the
market environment is especially unstable.

Internal company-specific factors play an equally important role
in establishing equity costs. Once market forces establish the
minimum expected equity return, the ability of a company to
generate earnings that create value for shares (via dividends and
capital appreciation) helps define the actual cost of accessing equity
capital. As we know, the greater the risk, the greater the return
capital suppliers will require, so a risky company that has uncer-
tain earnings-generation power will have to pay more for its capi-
tal than one that has a stable, gradually expanding, earnings
stream. If a company regularly misses its earnings targets because
it cannot properly control its revenues or costs, then investors will
view this as an extra risk that demands compensation; this addi-
tional compensation is obviously a cost to the company, which will
be reflected in the premium over the market return paid to attract
investor capital. Naturally, other financial variables can impact
the stability of the company and affect the perceived riskiness of
the firm — these can include insufficient liquidity, failed expansion
or merger attempts, significant legal/regulatory issues, weak
management, and so forth.

The opposite is also true: a firm that is able to manage its busi-
ness and financial position properly, expand its revenues, control
its costs and flow more dollars or pounds to the bottom line will
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regularly meet or exceed its earnings targets, providing investors
with a proper degree of comfort. This ultimately translates into a
lower equity risk premium.

Though exogenous and endogenous forces clearly affect costs,
actually estimating the cost of equity capital can be a complicated
endeavor. One method is to use a form of CAPM we described in
the last chapter as a risk value proxy. Remember, we are attempt-
ing to estimate the cost of equity capital for a single company, and
this will be influenced by the external and internal variables
described above. We know that beta is a measure of a company’s
riskiness versus the market at large. Accordingly, the cost of
equity can be set as a function of beta, the risk-free rate and the
market return:

cost of equity = risk-free rate
, [4.1]
+ beta(market return — risk-free rate)

For instance, if ABC Co.’s market beta is 1.25, the market return is
10 percent and the risk-free rate is 4 percent, ABC Co.’s estimated
cost of equity capital — the return investors will demand for hold-
ing ABC Co.’s equity — is 11.50 percent. While this approach is
widely used and perfectly valid, it obviously requires comfort with
the assumptions underlying CAPM.

While our discussion has intentionally focused on externally
generated equity, we must not forget that retained earnings also
involve a cost. Though there are no fees associated with retained
earnings since they are generated by post-tax/post-dividend
income, they attract a cost of capital that is generally set equal to
the cost of common stock. This approach is appropriate because if a
company doesn’t have any retained earnings, it will have to issue
common stock to fund its balance sheet (i.e. it cannot be purely
debt financed, for reasons that we explore in Chapter 5).

A firm does not face a single cost of equity capital. We can
generalize overall costs by noting that a company faces a situation
where:

cost of common stock = cost of retained earnings
> cost of preferred stock [4.2]
> cost of debt
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This relationship holds true because of claims seniority in the
capital structure and the order in which losses are allocated.

Once a company’s cost of equity has been estimated, it is possi-
ble to value preferred or common shares that have been, or are
about to be, issued. This process is based primarily on discounting
of future dividends, which we know represent a company’s earn-
ings power. Estimating dividends is not a precise science since it
involves unknown future cash flows. We cannot be precisely cer-
tain, for instance, how much ABC Co. will earn in the future or
how much it might choose to pay in dividends. Nevertheless, some
estimates have to be made to produce a fair value. The general
valuation framework depends on three key variables: the cost of
equity, dividends, and dividend growth rate.

Before looking at various dividend-based valuation models, let’s
consider a few general issues regarding dividends. Dividends are
often paid on a quarterly basis to investors holding shares as of a
particular record date; an ex-dividend date occurs up to four days
before record date and indicates which investors are entitled to the
dividends. When a stock goes “ex-dividend,” its price declines by
the dividend per share value, since this is value existing within the
company that is being paid away. While most dividends are paid in
cash, some non-cash exceptions exist: the stock dividend, which
involves the issuance of a fractional quantity of new shares in lieu
of cash (e.g. each investor receives 0.05 new shares for every ten
shares owned) and the stock split, which is similar but often much
larger in scope (e.g. each investor exchanges one old share for
two shares, though the value of the stock is reduced by the same
proportion).

Naturally, not every company pays dividends. For instance,
when a firm is in a start-up phase and prefers to reinvest its capital
in growth opportunities, or if it is in a poor financial state and
can’t generate a profit, shareholders may not receive any dividend
payments. Furthermore, it is illegal in some jurisdictions for a firm
to borrow funds to pay dividends, as this simply places the com-
pensation of equity investors on the shoulders of creditors. Simi-
larly, bank lenders may bar a firm from issuing dividends if it
breaches any financial ratios in its lending facilities.

As we've noted, dividends are paid from after-tax earnings,
meaning they generate no tax advantage; this represents an
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additional cost to investors, which we’ll discuss in more detail in
the next chapter. The dividend yield of a security, computed by
dividing the current dividend by the current stock price, is an
important measure of the current return of an equity security,
allowing investors to compare returns across companies and
industry sectors. The dividend payout ratio indicates how much of
a company’s net earnings is going to investors rather than the
retained earnings account; this is computed by dividing dividends
per share by earnings per share. A company that has predictable
earnings growth is more likely to pay a high portion of its earn-
ings out in the form of dividends. But a high dividend payout ratio
doesn’t imply earnings stability. A company may pay large por-
tions of its earnings in dividends in order to attract investors, but
may also suffer from volatile earnings that can jeopardize its abil-
ity to deliver dividends. In fact, investors view companies that cut
their dividends in an unfavorable light, and often sell their hold-
ings. A rational dividend policy requires directors and executives of
a firm to determine future earnings growth and analyze sensitivity
to changing market circumstances and economic cycles. For
instance, one approach calls for dividend payouts to remain low
until a company’s earnings base is stable and well established.

The dividend growth rate is another important tool used in
valuations, and can be estimated via:

growth — net income {1 3 <d1v1dends per share)} 03]

equity earnings per share

We note in Equation 4.3 that the growth rate is a function of both
return on equity (net income/equity) and the dividend payout
ratio (dividends/earnings). We shall return to the dividend growth
rate below.

With these basic thoughts, let’s begin our share valuation ana-
lysis with preferred stock, the simplest of the equity claims. We
know that preferred stock is an equity-like security that grants the
investor access to a fixed dividend payment stream in perpetuity;
this means valuation of the security is quite simple: the future
dividend cash flows are contractually fixed and there is no need to
take account of the future value of the principal, as the security is
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never redeemed. So, if we assume a share of preferred stock pays a
periodic dividend (quarterly, semi-annually, or annually), the
value of a share of stock is simply the PV of the dividend stream in
perpetuity, discounted by the firm’s cost of preferred equity. This
is shown in [4.4] as:

dividends
(1 + cost of preferred
dividends

(1 + cost of preferred
dividends

cost of preferred

price of preferred = et

Jime? + ... [44]

For instance, if we assume ABC Co.’s cost of preferred is 15 per-
cent and a share of its preferred stock pays an annual dividend of
£2.50/share, the fair price of the preferred is £16.67/share. This
formula also suggests that as the price of the dividend rises, the
value of the preferred increases, and vice-versa — a perfectly logical
relationship. Thus, if the annual dividend increases to £3.50/share,
the price of the preferred rises to £23.33/share; if it declines to
£1.50/share, the price of the preferred falls to £10/share. In prac-
tice preferreds with fixed dividends tend to pay the same fixed
dividend over a long period of time, so that upward and downward
moves tend to be relatively small.

The same general approach can be used to value a share of
common stock. Common stock, like preferred stock, will never be
redeemed so there is no need to account for the PV of the
redemption amount. Unlike preferreds, however, common stock
does not always pay dividends — we recall that the dividend pay-
ment is at the discretion of a company’s directors. And, if a com-
pany does pay dividends, those payments are likely to change over
time.

Accordingly, common stock can be valued using one of several
approaches, including the constant dividend model (which is the
same as the process above), the growing dividend model, or the
discrete dividend model. Regardless of the method used, we recall
that cost of common equity used to discount common dividend
cash flows is higher than the cost of preferred equity used to
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discount preferred dividend cash flows, since common stock is
riskier than preferred stock.

When the dividend on a common stock is expected to grow at a
constant rate we adjust estimated dividends to reflect that growth,
and can do so via dividend payments x (1 + growth rate); this is
simply a scaling of the dividend payment for each period. How-
ever, we also have to adjust the cost of capital by the same growth
rate to take account of the fact that additional returns will be
earned. This yields the following formula:

dividends(1 + growth rate)
cost of common — growth rate

[4.5]

price of common =

Let’s assume that ABC Co.’s cost of common stock is 18 percent,
its current dividend is £1/share, and the expected dividend growth
rate is 3 percent. The fair value of ABC Co.’s common stock under
the constant dividend growth model is £6.87. Under this scheme it
is relatively easy to deduce that if earnings increase and dividends
expand in tandem, the cost of equity capital will decline. This
finding is consistent with our earlier statement: companies with a
stronger base of earnings and growth are perceived as less risky
than those with weak and/or volatile earnings, meaning the
returns payable to investors are lower.

Valuing a share of stock based on discrete dividends, or indivi-
dual dividend payments that vary from period to period, follows
the same approach but requires a more precise estimate of how
much a company will pay in each period. This can be a complicated
process, as it demands a reasonably realistic method of forecasting
potential earnings and dividend payouts. Once the estimate is
obtained cash flows are simply discounted back using the cost of
common equity, which yields an estimate of the value.

Determining the value of an IPO share is slightly more
involved, because the firm issuing stock is a private company or
partnership with no historical price record of its own. To get
around this problem market participants typically rely on one of
several different techniques. The first is to use comparable public
firms as a proxy. Thus, if ABC Co. has several publicly traded
competitors in its market sector, it can examine how those
companies have traded over a period of time and what specific
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differences exist between those firms and ABC Co. The price of the
stock can then be set in relation to what the comparables suggest
might be a fair value.

A more precise approach involves using comparables data in the
constant dividend model, and then making an adjustment for
the target company’s specific forecast earnings. Rearranging the
terms from equation [4.5] to solve for the cost of common equity, we
note:

dividend
cost of common = — 0y growth rate  [4.6]
price of common

Thus, if comparable company XYZ Co. is trading at a price of £30/
share, pays £3/share in dividends every year, and features earnings
growth of 5 percent, its cost of capital is 15 percent. If we assume
for simplicity that ABC Co. expects to earn £500,000 in year 1
which it will pay out as dividends, and plans to issue 500,000
shares of stock, then the price of the stock, based on the compar-
ables’ constant growth dividend model, is £6.67/share (£500,000/
0.15 = £3.33 million/500,000 shares). If the bankers and ABC Co.’s
management don’t believe the same growth rate parameters apply,
they can adjust the growth rate and, by extension, the cost of
capital (i.e. a lower growth rate will translate into a lower stock
price, and vice-versa). Note that if the company wants to raise a
specific amount of equity, such as £20 million, it can use the same
share price and simply adjust the number of shares it plans to
issue, e.g. £20 million/£6.67 = 3.03 million shares, rather than
500,000 shares.

We see that dividends play a significant role in all of the valua-
tion methods noted above. As a result, a proper dividend policy,
based on a company’s fundamental earnings strength, capacity, and
volatility, along with attention to what competitors/industry peers
are doing, is an effective way of avoiding any surprises that can
hurt the share price. It’s worth noting that analysts, investors, and
financial managers commonly use the methods of share valuation
we have described above. There are, of course, other ways of esti-
mating value, including frameworks that make use of balance sheet
information and earnings per share information. While these are
valid, they are beyond the scope of our discussion.
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While most of the cost of equity financing is covered by the
external and internal variables noted above, a company still needs
to pay its bankers for arranging a transaction. Bankers arranging
new or secondary issues are responsible for coordinating the entire
process and charge fees for doing so. In fact, the fees payable by a
company for an equity issue can be significant, ranging in most
markets from 4 percent to 7 percent. This, as we'll see in the next
chapter, is relatively expensive, and adds considerably to an
issuer’s total funding expense. In practice, the size of an equity
issue can be scaled up to take account of the fees, or reduced by
subtracting the fees. Thus, if ABC Co. requires a minimum of
£500 million of common stock on a net basis and must pay a 4
percent fee, it will need to raise a total sum of approximately £52
million. Alternatively, if it simply wants to raise £500 million on a
gross basis, its net proceeds will be £480 million.

INSTRUMENT CHARACTERISTICS

Equity comes in various forms, each with unique characteristics. In
this section we describe the features of the main types of external
equity instruments, which are summarized in Figure 4.2.

KEY CHARACTERISTICS

Common and preferred stock issues are defined by a number of
characteristics, all of which are negotiated in advance of flotation.
These include size, dividend, maturity, placement mechanism,
market, and seniority.

e Size: The amount of stock being placed with investors. This can
range from less than $1 million to well over $1 billion,
depending on the issuing company, its needs, investor appetite,
and market circumstances. For instance, ABC Co. may decide to
issue £200 million in common stock and £100 million in
preferred stock as part of its overall financing plan.

e Dividend: The specific dividend being paid for a given series of
shares. This applies primarily to preferred stock issues, which
may feature a fixed or variable dividend payable on a cumula-
tive or non-cumulative basis. Remember, common stock often
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pays a dividend (generally every quarter), but such payments
are entirely discretionary and cannot therefore be included as a
defining characteristic of an issue. ABC Co., for instance, may
pay an annualized dividend of 7 percent every quarter on its
preferred stock issue, which becomes a contractual characteristic
of the security. (It may also pay 3 percent dividends on its
common stock, but since these are discretionary and change-
able, they do not form part of the ex-ante definition of the
security.)

Maturity: The specific term of the issue. This is quite an
exceptional characteristic, and relates only to a small minority
of preferred stock issues with redemption features. In all other
cases, e.g. common stock issues and conventional preferred
stock issues, the securities are perpetual, and can only be retired
or redeemed through a specific repurchase mechanism.
Placement mechanism: The manner in which securities are
placed with investors. Inaugural issues of stock form part of the
IPO mechanism, meaning the securities can be offered to a
broad range of investors. Any subsequent issues (e.g. secondary
placements) may be offered as rights issues (to existing inves-
tors) or add-on issues (to all investors). We consider rights
issues, which are relatively common, in more detail in the
instrument section below. In floating its initial stock offerings,
ABC Co. arranges the transactions as IPOs. Any subsequent
share offerings it may arrange can be done as a rights offering
or an add-on issue.

Market: The specific marketplace being accessed. This applies
primarily to common stock, which may be issued in the
domestic (onshore) market, where funds are raised from resi-
dent investors, or the international (offshore) market, where
funds are raised from non-resident investors. The non-resident
issues are raised in the form of global depository receipts
(GDRs), global depository shares (GDSs), American depository
receipts (ADRs) or American depository shares (ADSs); we
discuss these in the next section. The selection of a market
depends on various factors, including cost (i.e. where a company
can issue stock on the best terms), availability (i.e. which pools
of investors are willing to supply capital), and overall market
conditions (i.e. where market stability (volatility) may attract
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(repel) capital). Preferred stock tends to be issued mainly in
domestic markets, though some offshore exceptions occur.
Since ABC Co. is UK-based and is well known to UK investors,
it may choose to float sterling-denominated common and
preferred shares in the domestic market.

e Seniority: The priority of the stock regarding claims on the
issuing company’s assets. The seniority of shares dictates the
priority of payments to equity holders should a company
declare bankruptcy. While all forms of debt rank senior to
equity (as we shall discuss in more detail in Chapter 5), pre-
ferred stock ranks above common stock. This means that in a
bankruptcy situation, preferred stock investors will be repaid
from the company’s assets before common stock investors — but
only after debt holders (creditors) have been repaid. Since all
forms of stock rank below debt, recovery levels in bankruptcy
are generally very low — perhaps only a few cents for every
dollar invested.

KEY INSTRUMENTS

The key instruments of the equity sector include:

e Common stock. Common stock can be issued in the local
market, or it can be floated in the offshore markets in order to
attract a base of international investors. As noted, the initial
launch of common stock is known as an IPO, and any sub-
sequent secondary issues take the form of rights issues or add-
ons — though both ultimately lead to the creation of additional
common shares. Common stock is typically issued as a scripless
(dematerialized) ownership interest with a stated par value; it is
a perpetual security that can pay dividends, though is not con-
tractually obliged to do so. As we’ve indicated above, non-resi-
dent issues can be issued in various forms. Depository receipts
(GDRs, ADRs) are securities that are issued by a depository on
behalf of the issuing company; the company lodges shares with
the depository, which then issues tradable receipts to investors
(with each receipt often representing a single share). Depository
shares (GDSs, ADSs) function in a similar manner, except that
the depository issues shares rather than receipts to investors.
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Note that both forms can be traded as any normal stock offer-
ing.

Rights issues. Rights issues are secondary placements of stock
that are offered initially to existing shareholders, giving them
the right of first refusal to invest in the new shares; the rights
effectively allow existing investors to control dilution: by exer-
cising the rights to take up new shares (generally at a small
discount to the prevailing market price), existing investors
retain the same proportion of ownership and control, meaning
dilution is avoided. Rights can be issued in transferable or non-
transferable form: transferable rights can be sold by existing
investors to other investors, while non-transferable rights
cannot be conveyed to third parties and simply expire if they
are not used. Once issued and taken up, the shares form part of
the company’s common stock base.

Preferred stock. Preferred stock is a security that pays investors
a periodic dividend, and does not generally permit any partici-
pation in capital gains (i.e. its price is quoted in a relatively
fixed range). Preferred stock dividends are generally constant.
Some forms of preferred, known as adjustable rate, or money
market, preferred stock, link their dividend payments to a
spread over a floating rate index. The dividends established for
a preferred stock can be structured in several forms. The most
common type of preferred stock is cumulative, which means
that dividends that are due to preferred investors accumulate in
cases where the company is unable to make a current dividend
payment. No other dividends can be paid to other equity
investors until any dividend arrears have been settled. Another
form of preferred stock is the non-cumulative structure, which
does not allow for dividend accrual; if a dividend is skipped,
non-cumulative investors have no continuing claim on that

dividend.

ISSUING AND TRADING

ISSUING

Before any stock issue can be launched in the market, the appro-
priate securities commissioner or regulator must approve it. Once
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this occurs, the stock issue becomes known as “authorized.” When
a company decides to issue a certain amount of stock, the actual
shares that are floated are known as “authorized and issued,” and
these become part of a company’s permanent capital base. In
practice, a company generally only issues a portion of its shares
initially so that it can preserve additional capacity for future issues
(and employee stock plans). Any additional capacity is shown as a
note on the financial statements as stock that is “authorized but
not issued” (e.g. the regulator approves up to £1 billion of shares
but ABC Co. elects to float only £200 million, leaving an unused
balance of £800 million). The equity account is not affected as
shares that have not been floated obviously raise no funds; still,
investors are alerted to the fact that future issuance may occur.
Conversely, if ABC Co. decides to repurchase some of its out-
standing stock issue (e.g. £50 million), it can do so by buying them
in the open market for cash; when this happens the treasury stock
contra-account is debited by the amount of the repurchase (i.e. the
common stock account is reduced by the amount of the repurchase
to reflect the fact that the capital base has actually declined). These
shares are known as “issued but not outstanding.” We summarize
these states of the common stock account in Figure 4.3.

Raising equity capital begins when a bank, working closely with
the issuing company, establishes necessary equity financing
requirements, prepares detailed preliminary disclosure (known as a
“red herring”) and registers the proposed issue with the national
securities commission. Once regulators approve the disclosure
(which becomes known as the prospectus) the bank begins a pre-
marketing phase to determine investor appetite and potential pri-
cing levels (i.e. a price that will be attractive to investors); this
process involves a detailed analysis of where the stock prices of

Paid-in capital account
Authorized and not issued (1 billion shares at £1 par value) - - -
Authorized and issued (200 million shares at £1 par value)  £200 million
Issued and not outstanding (50 million shares) —£50 million

Total paid-in capital account £150 million

Figure 4.3 Impact of shares on paid-in capital

99



100

COMMON AND PREFERRED STOCK

comparable companies are trading. Not surprisingly, the best time
to issue stock is when a company’s stock price is already strong;
this means less shares have to be issued for a given amount of
equity, which decreases the effect of dilution. In large deals the
bank is likely to assemble a syndicate of other banks to help dis-
tribute the shares. The final price of the shares is established on
launch date and securities are placed with investors based on an
allocation method determined by the lead bank.

In most instances a bank arranging a stock issue is not required
to deliver a specific amount of funds to the issuing company. Thus,
if ABC Co. seeks £500 million of common stock but investors are
only interested in purchasing £350 million at the quoted price, the
company only receives £350 million. However, in some instances
(mainly those involving add-ons), a bank may agree to purchase
the entire block of £500 million at a fixed price, and then distribute
the shares to investors. These “block trades” ensure that compa-
nies like ABC Co. receive the full amount of equity they are
seeking — but are relatively risky for the arranging bank, because
the price may fall before the bank can place all of the shares. In
order to protect itself from any possible losses, the bank generally
purchases the block at a discount to the prevailing market price.
For example, if ABC Co. wishes to raise an additional £500 million
through the issuance of 500,000 shares at a current market price of
£10/share, the bank may agree to buy the entire block of 500,000
at a price of £9.95, meaning the net proceeds to ABC Co. amount
to £497.5 million — a £2.5 million shortfall to the firm, which must
be factored into the overall cost of capital.

SECONDARY TRADING

Major banks and securities dealers actively quote prices on a range
of small and large capitalization stocks on a continuous basis.
Dealers provide a buy (bid) and sell (offer) price on individual
issues, allowing investors to enter or exit the market once an issue
has been launched. The prices that dealers are willing to quote are
based on the macro and micro variables we’ve discussed. If these
factors are favorable/benign, dealers will be willing to quote
tighter bid-offer spreads than if they are unfavorable/volatile. For
instance, if the market environment is positive and the outlook for
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ABC Co.’s earnings is strong, a dealer may quote shares at £10.00—
10.02, meaning it stands ready to buy a share at £10 and sell the
same share at £10.02, making a profit of £0.02 in the process.
Conversely, if the markets are volatile, investors are nervous, or
ABC Co.’s earnings prospects are weakening, the dealer may
widen the spread to £10.00-10.07; this wider spread is intended to
compensate the dealer for the additional risk taken in owning the
shares.

Most secondary equity trading occurs through conventional
exchanges, such as the London Stock Exchange, New York Stock
Exchange, Tokyo Stock Exchange, and NASDAQ (among many
others), which feature “physical” open-outcry trading floors or
electronic matching systems. However, a growing amount of
volume now flows through electronic communications networks
(ECNs), which are electronic conduits that allow participants to
trade directly on screen. In fact, the advent of computing power
and advanced networking has led to the creation of many such
platforms, which have increased the competitive threat to tradi-
tional exchanges. Not only do these platforms increase efficiencies
and price transparency, they extend trading hours. The migration
to 24-hour trading — certainly in many of the largest stocks around
the world — is very nearly a reality as a result of this type of
electronic trading.

Chapter summary

Every firm established as a corporation must have some amount of
stock on its balance sheet, suggesting that equity finance via preferred
and common stock is an essential component of corporate financing.
The cost of equity capital is higher than that of debt capital for three
reasons: first, equity investors accept greater risk than creditors, bear-
ing the first losses if a firm becomes insolvent; second, equity does not
generate the same tax shield as debt, because dividends are paid from
after-tax, rather than pre-tax, income; and, third, investors are often
taxed on the dividends they receive, meaning they will need to be
enticed through a higher dividend return to be willing to invest in the
stock. Determining the proper amount of equity on the balance sheet is
important: too little equity means too much debt, which can lead to
financial distress. However, too much equity is expensive, and may
result in the rejection of investment projects that might otherwise be
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LOANS AND BONDS

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

In this chapter we examine loans and bonds, which together com-
prise debt capital, the second major class of external corporate
financing. We commence with a review of why and how loans and
bonds are used, the relative costs and benefits of borrowing
through the debt markets, and the tradeoffs that exist between
using too much and too little debt financing. We then consider the
macro and micro forces that drive borrowing costs, and conclude
by describing the characteristics of loans and bonds, and how they
are created and traded. The concepts of debt financing covered in
this chapter should be compared and contrasted with the equity
financing material discussed in Chapter 4.

USES OF LOANS AND BONDS

In our last chapter we noted how equity can be used to finance
corporate operations. While equity is obviously essential to any
financial plan, it is not the sole source of funding. In fact, the
availability of debt capital is critically important to companies
attempting to maximize enterprise value, as we shall discover.
We've already seen that ABC Co. can use the equity markets to
meet its financing requirements. But we know that equity can be
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expensive. Since investors in ABC Co.’s common shares bear the
risk of first losses, they demand a higher return on their invested
capital. The higher return to investors is, of course, reflected in a
higher overall cost of capital for ABC Co. We have also indicated
that in some markets equity dividends aren’t tax deductible,
meaning that they are paid from after-tax, rather than pre-tax,
income. This also adds to the company’s cost of capital, because in
order to persuade an investor to buy the dividend-paying shares,
the pre-tax cost of funding has to be increased to reflect the
additional tax burden.

So, are there cheaper ways for ABC Co. to fund its operations?
Are there other financing instruments that can help the company
lower its costs, so that it can allocate more of its income to retained
earnings or pay it out to shareholders as dividends?

Fortunately ABC Co. can turn to the loan and bond markets to
finance a significant portion of its operations, generally at a much
lower cost. In fact, debt can be up to several hundred basis points
(100 basis points = 1%) cheaper than equity, and the cost savings
can lead to an increase in enterprise value.

We recall that ABC Co. can issue equity in the market for the
equivalent of 11.5 percent, so each £100 million that it has to raise
for its operations costs £11.5 million. If ABC Co.’s total assets
amount to £1 billion, total financing costs through equity add up
to £115 million. But what if ABC Co.’s treasurer found that the
company could raise debt at a cost of only 5 percent? That’s a
saving of £6.5 million for every £100 million raised. If ABC Co.
decided to do the majority of its funding (i.e. 99.9 percent) in the
form of debt rather than equity, its total financing cost would
amount to just under £50 million — a compelling savings versus
the £115 million required for equity financing. ABC Co. could
reinvest the extra funds in productive operations that help gen-
erate more earnings (and value). In fact, this savings is one of the
key reasons companies use loans and bonds so actively.

Such big savings might bring to mind two questions: why is
debt so much cheaper than equity? And, if it is so cheap, doesn’t
this means the financing decision is relatively easy — all debt and
no equity?

Let’s start with the first question. Debt financing is cheaper than
equity financing for two reasons, both of them running parallel to
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what we’ve already mentioned about equity. First, debt is an IOU,
or corporate promise to repay a lender or investor any amount
borrowed, plus interest, in the future. Equity, in contrast, repre-
sents a perpetual ownership claim. Debt holders are therefore
creditors, while equity investors are owners. In fact, unsecured
debt holders have no ownership claim on a firm’s assets because
they are not owners of the firm. In order to protect against this
lack of ownership claim and ensure equitable treatment in the
event of default and bankruptcy, debt holders are given payment
priority over equity investors. This priority means that if a com-
pany goes into bankruptcy, assets with value are used to repay
debt holders first (the actual order of claims priorities within the
debt capital structure varies, as we’ll discuss later). Because of this
bankruptcy claim priority, debt holders bear less risk than equity
investors, and we already know that lower risk investments com-
mand lower returns. This translates into a lower cost of financing
for the company.

Second is the fact that the interest expense used to pay debt
holders for the use of their capital is tax deductible. That is,
interest expense is paid from operating revenues, before taxable
income is computed. This deductibility generates what is com-
monly known as a tax shield. Equity dividends are generally not
tax deductible and don’t create the same shield. Let’s consider the
simplified income statements in Table 5.1 to demonstrate the tax
effect of debt and equity financing. The debt-financed income

Table 5.1 Debt- and equity-financed income statements

Debt financed income statement, Equity financed income statement,
000s 000s

Revenues £200 Revenues £200
Cost of goods sold —£100  Cost of goods sold —£100
Gross profit = £100  Gross profit = £100
Interest expense —£10 Interest expense —£0
Pre-tax profit =£90  Pre-tax profit = £100
Tax at 20% —£18 Tax at 20% —£20
After-tax profit = £72  After-tax profit = £80
Dividends —£0  Dividends —£10
Net profit to retained = £72  Net profit to retained = £70

earnings earnings
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statement carries £10,000 of interest expense while the equity
financed income statement features £10,000 of dividend expense.
We immediately note that the equity-financed income statement
features a higher tax bill since no interest expense is incurred and
no tax shield is generated; the debt-financed income statement, in
contrast, creates an extra £2,000 of retained earnings through the
shield.

We see, then, that the cost of debt must be adjusted to reflect
the tax benefit, helping generate an after-tax cost that is lower
than the cost of equity. This can be calculated as:

after tax cost of debt = (1 — tax rate) X cost of debt  [5.1]

Thus, if ABC Co.’s borrowing rate on a loan is 7 percent and its
tax rate is 27.5 percent, its effective after-tax cost of debt is just
over 5 percent. Again, this is a significant savings compared to the
11.5 percent it is paying for its equity capital.

This brings us back to our second question. If debt is inexpen-
sive compared to equity, it seems that ABC Co.’s treasurer has a
simple decision: issue as much debt as possible so that financing
costs are as small as possible. Unfortunately, the answer is not this
easy. Just as too much equity can be extremely expensive, too
much debt can create significant financial burdens. A company that
borrows creates a fixed charge, because the borrowing commits it
legally to paying interest and principal on a pre-set schedule. The
company must make the agreed principal and interest payments on
schedule if it wants to avoid default. This means a portion of every
pound or dollar earned has to be earmarked for this fixed charge
(commonly known as debt service), which reduces the company’s
financial and operating flexibility (i.e. no longer can it do precisely
what it wishes to do with its revenues and income). The same
obligation doesn’t exist with equity. Even though a company
might pay its shareholders dividends — the equivalent of an inter-
est payment — we recall that dividends are entirely voluntary
(apart from certain mandatory dividends for preferred shares). A
company doesn’t have to pay dividends, so it creates no fixed
charge against its operations.

Too much debt can therefore lead to an excessive burden on
operating revenues and reduce corporate flexibility; it can also lead
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to more volatile earnings, as noted below. In fact, the burden can
become so large that a company might even enter into a state of
financial distress, where the likelihood of bankruptcy rises drama-
tically. Once the specter of financial distress appears, the com-
pany’s cost of debt will soar — remember, the greater the risk, the
greater the return demanded by investors/lenders, so the greater
the company’s cost of capital.

Knowing this, we can conclude that there is some point where
too much debt and too little equity is not an optimal financing
strategy. In practice the best mix of debt and equity on a com-
pany’s balance sheet depends on its business, expansion plans,
investment opportunities, relative debt and equity financing costs,
and tax rates. It also tends to vary by industry. Some industries,
like those involved in heavy industrial manufacturing with con-
siderable long-term plant and equipment requirements (steel,
shipbuilding, auto manufacturing), might favor a greater amount
of permanent financing via equity and long-term debt. Others, like
financial institutions making short-term loans or buying securities,
might prefer a greater amount of short/medium-term debt to
equity. Credit rating agencies and bank lenders monitor the debt
levels of companies and industries, and tend to penalize those that
stray too far from industry norms or those that cannot handle the
financial burden.

FINANCIAL LEVERAGE

During the financial planning process managers can consider the
proper amount of debt by determining the impact of financial
leverage, or the degree to which debt can be safely used to fund
investment and operations. We know that interest cost generates a
tax shield as well as an interest burden, so a financial manager
trying to determine the optimal level of capital must focus on both
earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and earnings per share
(EPS). To consider the impact of debt on these two measures, let’s
examine a very simplified example based on ABC Co.’s capital
structure in two forms — unleveraged and leveraged. Table 5.2
contains sample data.

The degree of financial leverage can be computed via a simple
formula:
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Table 5.2 ABC Co.: leveraged and unleveraged results

ABC Co. unleveraged ~ ABC Co. leveraged

Total capitalization £200m of equity (10m  £100m of equity (5m
shares outstanding), shares outstanding),
£0 debt £100m of debt

EBIT £100m £100m

Interest expense (at 8%) £0 £8m

Operating profit £100m £92m

Tax expense (at 20%) £20m £18.4m

Net income £80m £73.6m

EPS £8/share £14.7/share

financial leverage = EBIT/(EBIT — interest expense)  [5.2]

The unleveraged ABC Co. has financial leverage equal to 1.0, while
a leveraged ABC Co. has financial leverage of 1.087. This means
that for every unit increase in EBIT, unleveraged ABC Co.’s net
income increases by 1 unit, while leveraged ABC Co.’s net income
increases by 1.087 units. Unfortunately, the reverse holds true for
every unit of decline: the leveraged ABC Co.’s net income falls by
1.087 instead of just 1.0.

We notice through these results that a leveraged ABC Co. fea-
tures higher EPS as a result of the tax shield and the smaller
number of shares included in the total capital base. This means
that as the business environment strengthens and ABC Co. sells
more goods and generates more profits, it delivers greater EPS to
its shareholders than if it were unleveraged. We recall from
Chapter 3 that higher earnings lead to higher stock valuations,
which generate greater returns for investors. But the downside is
also clear: if the economy weakens, ABC Co.’s revenues and profits
may decline but its interest burden will remain the same, squeez-
ing profits and reducing EPS. This increases financial pressures,
raises the cost of capital and lowers the firm’s stock price. It's
worth noting that one theory of finance, based on arguments put
forth by Modigliani and Miller, says that changes in a company’s
capital structure won't affect its cost of capital; this theory is based
on rather restrictive assumptions, however, and is challenged by
competing theories and empirical evidence. We assume in our
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discussion that changes in capital structure do, indeed, have an
effect on cost of capital.

Earnings (or EPS) volatility is directly related to the degree of
financial leverage a firm chooses. We recall from earlier that com-
panies seek to minimize earnings volatility in order to strengthen
their share prices: managing financial leverage properly is thus
essential in creating enterprise value.

We can therefore summarize by saying that if too little debt is
used the benefits derived from financial leverage are greater than
the cost of capital, meaning more debt can be added. Conversely, if
too much debt is used, the interest burden rises, earnings and EPS
decline, investors will demand a higher return, the cost of capital
rises and the stock price declines. How is the optimal degree of
leverage determined? Primarily through a trial and error process,
where each company experiments with different levels of borrow-
ing; some guidance can also be sought by examining peer and
industry groups. Ultimately, a proper mix of debt and equity
serves a company best — it optimizes the balance sheet, dampens
earnings volatility, lowers the prospect of financial distress, allows
proper use of tax shields, provides good access to different sources
of funds (which lowers risk in case one source disappears) and
generates the lowest prudent weighted cost of financing.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs are a function of several variables. Like equity
financing, some of these are external, or market-related, while
others are internal, or company-specific. The two ultimately dic-
tate how much a company will pay for its debt financing and how
it can optimize its capital structure.

Let’s begin with the external factors. The level of market inter-
est rates is the base variable that impacts every company’s debt
funding. We know from Chapter 2 that interest rates represent the
general cost of borrowing, or the level at which debt capital can be
attracted from investors/lenders. Since interest rates represent
some minimum cost of accessing debt capital, it is clear that they
have a bearing on what ABC Co. can expect to pay for funds. If the
market interest rate environment is low, overall corporate bor-
rowing costs will be low, and if they are high, costs will be high.
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Of course, this is just a benchmark level because when we refer to
interest rate levels generically we refer to the risk-free market rate
accorded to high-quality government borrowers, such as the US,
UK, Japan, Switzerland, Canada, Australia, and Euro zone coun-
tries. But we know that individual companies are riskier than
government borrowers — certainly in the case of industrialized
markets — meaning they will have to supplement the base interest
cost with some premium related to their own level of riskiness;
we'll defer this point until later since it is an internal factor.

We also recall that the maturity of borrowing has an impact on
costs. In a “normal” upward sloping yield curve environment rates
are lower in the short term than in the medium or long term,
meaning that those wanting to borrow short-term will pay less,
and those wanting to borrow long-term will pay more. The oppo-
site is true when the yield curve is downward sloping. Figure 5.1
highlights sample high-, mid-, and low interest rate environments
and associated upward sloping yield curves; these are key macro
drivers in determining borrowing costs.

This fact raises another question: if short-term rates are lower in
an upward sloping vyield curve environment — the most common
market scenario — shouldn’t a company always borrow short-term
funds? Not necessarily. Short-term funding (out to 6 or 12
months) requires a company to continuously roll over its obliga-
tions in order to maintain the same level of funding. If rollovers
are not possible as a result of market disruptions (i.e. investors or

Risk free

rate (%) High base rates

Mid base rates

- Low base rates

Maturity

Figure 5.1 Base yield curve scenarios
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lenders don’t want to provide short-term capital) a company risks
getting caught in a liquidity funding squeeze, which can have
dangerous financial consequences — including bankruptcy in the
most severe instances. In addition, short-term rates can always
rise. A company that borrows medium- or long-term funds locks
in its interest costs for an extended period of time and therefore
isnt susceptible either to funding withdrawal or a rising rate sce-
nario. There is thus a tradeoff: in a normal positive yield curve
environment a company can pay lower costs by borrowing short-
term, but also increase the risk that it will be unable to roll over
funding when needed, or it can pay higher costs by borrowing
long-term and remove the risk that its funding will disappear. In
practice companies often “match fund” their assets and liabilities:
that is, they finance their long-term assets, such as plant and
equipment, with long-term debt, and their short-term, or seasonal,
assets, with short-term debt.

The overall market supply and demand of capital is another
external factor that can influence borrowing levels. When lenders
and bond investors feel the market properly compensates them for
providing risk capital, they will be inclined to participate. This
means liquidity flows into the market and overall credit borrowing
levels can decline — again, with due reference to the fact that indi-
vidual borrowing costs may be higher or lower, depending on
company-specific factors. A system that features a larger amount
of liquidity in search of fair return is going to lead systematically
to lower debt financing costs. This tends to happen when an econ-
omy is stable, rate levels are reasonable, and financial volatility is
low. The opposite scenario also holds true. If investors and lenders
feel that rate levels do not provide fair compensation they will
withhold capital, causing a supply shortage and a rise in overall
borrowing costs. Companies seeking funding will have to entice
investors/lenders to supply funds, and will only be able to do so by
offering them greater returns — a higher cost of financing. This
scenario appears when economic growth is sluggish, investors/
lenders are nervous, or the financial markets are very volatile.

Internal factors play an important role in setting borrowing
costs. Once market forces establish the minimum base borrowing
rate, a company’s financial condition crystallizes the actual cost of
accessing debt capital. As we’'ve said, the greater the risk, the
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greater the return capital suppliers will require, so a risky com-
pany that is in poor financial condition (e.g. losing a great deal of
money, becoming dangerously illiquid, assuming too much lever-
age) will have to pay more for its capital. One that is in strong
financial shape faces lower costs. This idiosyncratic feature is
reflected in the debt risk premium (or credit spread), which is
simply a company’s percentage or basis point spread above the
base risk-free rate prevailing in the market. We can summarize
this total cost of debt as:

cost of debt = risk-free rate + risk premium [5.3]

External influence Internal influence

Credit spreads, as a debt risk premium, reflect creditworthiness. As
we’ve noted, rating agencies evaluate and rate companies prior to
the issuance of debt and bank lenders perform a similar exercise
before extending loans. These analyses and ratings, which reflect
financial standing, have a decided impact on borrowing levels; the
lower the rating, the greater the risk of default, and the larger the
risk premium investors/lenders will demand.

Still, we have to bear in mind that credit spreads are dynamic,
just like other financial indicators, and can be partially influenced
by market forces. Short-term supply and demand levels can move
spreads, meaning borrowing levels can change. Although ABC Co.
might be able to borrow at 50 bps above the risk-free government
rate today, it may only be able to do so at 60 bps in one month’s
time if supply/demand conditions become unbalanced — even
though ABC Co.’s credit might be unchanged. Naturally, there are
limits to how much these spreads can move due to market cir-
cumstances alone. At some point idiosyncratic factors have to
return to the equation; astute market participants help make sure
this happens, because they will supply capital to those that have
been unfairly penalized by excessive market forces, bringing
spreads back in line.

Factors driving credit spreads are based on financial actions that
are within a company’s control — and which can affect its financial
standing. For instance, if ABC Co. decides to increase its debt load
by a significant amount, the action will reshape its financial
standing. Similarly, the company’s financial standing will change if
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it enters a new line of business that makes its cash flows more
volatile than before, or buys a competitor for a large premium and
finances the acquisition by borrowing, or develops a new product
that triples sales. Changes may therefore be positive or negative,
and they may have a small or large impact on a company’s financial
condition.

Recalling our discussion in Chapter 2, financial strength and
stability are analyzed by looking at a company’s liquidity, lever-
age, capital base, revenue generation, income generation, and cash
flow volatility — at a point in time, as a trend over time, and versus
the competition. These factors are supplemented by examining less
tangible variables, such as management quality, company strategy,
and industry competition. A very financially stable company is
regarded as being of the highest quality (AAA-rated) and may
only pay a few basis points above the base risk-free rate. One that
is of middle quality (BBB-rated) may pay 50-150 basis points
above the base rate, while one that is of weak quality (BB and
lower), may pay several hundred basis points above the base rate.
The market thus distinguishes between high-grade companies
(AAA-BBB—) and high-yield companies (BB+ and lower), and any
actions taken to strengthen or weaken financial standing will
change market perception and, by extension, borrowing costs.

We now know that total borrowing costs on a bond or loan are a
function of the level of the base yield curve rate, certain capital
supply/demand forces, and company-specific financial standing or
creditworthiness. Let’s assume that ABC Co., rated AA, is inter-
ested in borrowing five year funds when the middle interest rate
scenario is in force. This means that its borrowing costs will be a
function of five-year risk-free rates dictated by the sterling gilt
curve, as well as the credit spread accorded to AA-rated
companies — which we assume, for purposes of this example, is 10
bps over the gilt curve. If 5-year gilts are quoted at 4 percent, ABC
Co.’s 5-year borrowing rate is 4.10 percent. But we needn’t stop at
the 5-year point. Let’s also assume that ABC Co. might be inter-
ested in borrowing for 3 years or 7 years, and the market quotes
AA-rated 3-year credit spreads at 5 bps and 7-year spreads at 15
bps. If the 3-year gilt is 3.75 percent and the 7-year gilt is 4.25
percent, ABC Co.’s total financing costs would amount to 3.80
percent for 3 years and 4.40 percent for 7 years.
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In fact, the market features separate yield curves for each credit
rating class, each serving as a borrowing cost benchmark. Natu-
rally, these curves are a composite of all AA or BBB borrowers, so
they do not imply that any single AA or BBB company will always
be able to borrow at the level indicated by the AA or BBB curve;
remember, every company is still subject to market perceptions
regarding its financial stability, so two AA companies may borrow
at slightly different levels (though the differential is unlikely to be
more than a few basis points, at most).

Let’s now assume that ABC Co. is a BBB-rated company,
meaning it faces larger credit spreads. If 3-, 5-, and 7-year BBB
credit spreads are 30, 40, and 50 bps above the gilt curve, then
ABC Co.’s borrowing costs will amount to 4.05 percent, 4.40 per-
cent, and 4.75 percent, respectively. We summarize these results in
Table 5.3 and Figure 5.2.

Table 5.3 ABC Co.’s borrowing costs

Gilt base AA AA borrowing BBB BBB borrowing
rate spreads  costs spreads  costs
3 years 3.75%  0.05% 3.80% 0.30% 4.05%
5 years 4.00%  0.10% 410% 0.40% 4.40%
7 years 425% 0.15% 4.40%  0.50% 4.75%
Rate (%)
BBB rates

Risk 440 [ : AA rates
premium :
BBB Risk { 410 .
premium
AA 4.00 :
Risk-free |
rate i

5 year Maturity

Figure 5.2 ABC Co.’s borrowing costs
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Before we continue, it is worth noting that the credit spreads we
have used in our example rise as maturity extends. Thus, the 3-
year AA spread is 5 bps and the 7-year AA spread is 15 bps, while
the 3-year BBB spread is 20 bps and the 7-year BBB spread is 50
bps. This characteristic is evident for virtually all credit classes,
because the chance of default increases with the passage of time —
particularly for companies that are financially weak. Since the
probability of default rises over time, the compensation to inves-
tors willing to supply longer-term capital must increase — which
means the credit spread curve has to be upward sloping. The only
exception to this occurs with companies that are on the brink of
default (e.g. CCC-rated). The market expectation in these instances
is that if a CCC company can survive over the short term (by
securing its liquidity, or cash, position) it will then be able to shore
up its overall financial position and improve its creditworthiness;
the CCC curve is therefore downward sloping.

While most of the cost of funding is incorporated in the base
rate and the credit spread, we know that banks arranging loans and
bonds don’t work for free. As such, certain fees need to be added to
the equation. Loans to high-quality borrowers command quite
small fees, perhaps as little as 5-10 bps upfront; those to lower-
quality borrowers can rise to 25-50 bps. Loan fees can be explicit
(part of deal costs) or implicit (placing funds at the bank on an
interest-free, or compensating balance, basis). Bonds carry fees
that can range from 2-10 bps for high-grade credits, to over 50 bps
for lower-rated credits. But if we compare these to the 400-700 bps
in fees that a bank charges for underwriting an equity issue, it is
easy to see the additional cost savings that can be generated by
using debt capital.

We can extend equation [5.3] by incorporating fees into total
borrowing costs; to remain consistent with per annum interest rate
costs, upfront fees can be amortized annually over the life of the
financing.

cost of debt = risk-free rate + risk premium + fees [5.4]
To summarize our example, if ABC Co., rated AA, is borrowing £100

million via 5-year bonds in the middle interest scenario (and paying
a 5 bps upfront fee for doing so), its total annual pre-tax borrow-
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ing costs are £4.1 million, plus an additional £50,000 in upfront
fees (or £10,000 per year, if amortized over the 5-year horizon).
The after-tax equivalent can be computed using equation [5.1].

INSTRUMENT CHARACTERISTICS

Debt comes in many varieties, each with unique characteristics. In
this section we describe the features of the main types of loans and
bonds, with a caveat that many other variations exist.

We can classify debt instruments by focusing on the liability
portion of a typical corporate balance sheet. In many accounting
regimes liabilities are segregated by maturity, ranging from
short-term (sub-1 year), to medium-term (1-5 years) and long-
term (over 5 years); this is consistent with the current- and non-
current liability classification discussed in Chapter 2. Each matur-
ity sector features its own types of instruments, as highlighted
in Figure 5.3.

Short-term liabilities include debt obligations that provide a
company with short-term credit or cash to meet liquidity needs,
seasonal cash flow aberrations, or emergency payments, or to serve
as a temporary “bridge” until longer-term financing can be arran-
ged. Short-term financing needs are a function of a company’s
liquidity position, seasonal supply and demand forces, expected
short-term cash inflows and outflows, and the perceived need to
maintain a buffer for emergency purposes.

Medium- and long-term liabilities include obligations that pro-
vide funding for semi-permanent expansion and investment
requirements, such as purchase/upgrade of factories or financing of
long-term research and development. Since this medium/long-
term funding covers a multi-year period, it isn’t intended to be
drawn and repaid repeatedly. Accordingly, it is best suited for
capital projects/investments, rather than seasonal or emergency
financing. Medium- and long-term financing requirements are
typically a function of a company’s expected growth plans, eco-
nomic/industry sector outlook, competitive pressures, customer
demand, inflation, and interest rates. Each may have a bearing on
how much debt is required and desirable. Semi-permanent debt
financing is often supplemented by the external and internal
equity financing we’ve discussed in Chapter 4.
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KEY CHARACTERISTICS

Securities and loans are characterized by a number of key features,
all of which are negotiated in advance of borrowing. These include
deal size, coupon/rate, maturity, repayment schedule, placement/
borrowing mechanism, optionality, market, and seniority.

e Size: The amount being placed with investors or borrowed from
banks or other creditors. This can range from less than $1 mil-
lion to well over $1 billion, depending on the borrower, its
needs, investor appetite, and market circumstances. For
instance, ABC Co. may decide to borrow up to £100 million to
fund its operations.

e Coupon/rate: The specific interest rate being paid for the funds,
which is a reflection of the borrowing costs discussed above.
The coupon may be set in fixed or floating rate terms: fixed
rates remain unchanged for the life of the financing; floating
rates reset periodically, generally every 3, 6, or 12 months,
meaning a borrower’s funding cost will change. A company
may also issue a zero coupon bond, selling the security at a
deep discount but paying no interest; the bond redeems at par
value (100 percent) at maturity, meaning the investor earns an
“implied” interest rate. In our example ABC Co. may borrow
its £100 million for a fixed rate of 5 percent or, if it prefers
floating rate funds, £ LIBOR + 50 bps.

e Maturity: The specific term of the liability. As noted above, the
maturity may be short-, medium-, or long-term. The decision on
optimal maturity depends on a company’s goals (i.e. whether it
is attempting to manage liquidity or a capital investment pro-
gram) and overall market conditions (i.e. whether the yield curve
is relatively flat, suggesting an opportunity to lock-in cheaper
long-term funding, or very steep, indicating a short-term roll-
over strategy may be preferable). In our example, ABC Co. opts
to borrow intermediate 5-year funds through its bond issue.

e Repayment schedule: The manner in which the principal
amount of the bond or loan is to be repaid. Common mechan-
isms include amortizing repayment (where the borrower repays
a portion of the principal on every interest payment date, so
that there is no large principal payment due at maturity), bullet
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repayment (where the borrower makes no principal payment
until the final maturity), and balloon repayment (where the
borrower makes small principal payments for the first few years
of the borrowing, followed by a large payment at maturity).
When bullets or balloons are used, lenders/investors may still
want the borrower to set aside some amount of funds every
year to make sure the principal amount can be safely repaid at
maturity; this is done through a sinking fund, which is a special
account created to accept and hold periodic principal payments.
In borrowing £100 million via its bond issue, ABC Co. may
select a bullet structure, repaying the entire principal in five
years. In fact, bullets are very common in bond financings.
Placement/borrowing mechanism: The manner in which funds
are placed with investors or drawn from banks. Bonds can be
placed on a public or private placement basis. Public bonds are
securities registered with regulators that are accompanied by
detailed information on the issuer (i.e. financial statements and
projections) and the deal (i.e. terms and conditions). They are
often listed on a national exchange, though secondary trading
tends to occur in the over-the-counter (OTC) market. Private
placements, in contrast, are exempt from regulatory registra-
tion and may not feature much disclosure. These deals are
designed for sophisticated institutional investors that can bear
more risk than the average individual investor. Private place-
ments need not be listed on an exchange and have limited
resaleability, meaning investors originally buying the securities
often hold them until maturity. In issuing its bonds, ABC Co.
may choose a standard public deal in order to increase the
universe of investors and add to market liquidity.

Optionality: The inclusion of issuer or investor options in
bonds that enhance yield or lower funding costs. During some
market cycles it can be attractive to float a callable bond, or a
bond that grants the issuer the right to call (buy back) the bond
from investors; this option gives investors an enhanced yield.
Alternatively, it may be wise for a firm to issue a puttable
bond, or a bond that gives investors the right to put (sell) the
bond back to the issuer; this gives the issuer a lower funding
cost. In arranging its bond, ABC Co. could consider including
put options to lower its funding cost by several basis points.
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e Market: The specific marketplace being accessed. This feature is
especially relevant for bonds, which may be issued in the
domestic (onshore) market, where funds are raised from resi-
dent investors, or the international (offshore, or Euro) market,
where funds are raised from non-resident investors. The selec-
tion of a market depends on various factors, including cost (i.e.
where a company can borrow on the best terms), availability
(i.e. where investors are willing to supply capital), overall
market conditions (i.e. where market stability (volatility) may
attract (repel) capital), and regulatory restrictions (i.e. where
barriers may impede domestic or offshore access). Loans can
also be raised in a domestic or offshore setting. Since ABC Co.
is UK-based and is well known to UK investors, it may choose
to float a £-denominated bond in the domestic market.

e Seniority: The priority of the liability regarding claims on the
borrower’s assets. Recalling our discussion from Chapter 3, we
know that the seniority of claims dictates the priority of pay-
ments to creditors and equity investors should a debtor com-
pany declare bankruptcy. Equity investors, bearing the first
loss, are the most junior in the capital structure, ranking below
all forms of debt capital. Loans or bonds that are secured by a
company’s assets (such as receivables, cash/securities, or hard
assets, like plant and equipment) receive first repayment prior-
ity; in fact, the source of repayment for such secured creditors
is the very asset being held as collateral. Within the general
class of unsecured creditors, loans or bonds that are accorded
senior status are repaid before those with a junior ranking.
Because junior creditors are exposed to greater losses (i.e.
insufficient funds in liquidation to repay junior liabilities at the
same level as senior liabilities), the return they expect is higher.
This treatment is consistent with the general risk/return trade-
off we've discussed. The general sequence of seniority, from
senior (lowest risk) to junior (highest risk) is:

e Senior, secured (with specific assets used to collateralize the
liability)

Senior, unsecured

Junior, unsecured

Subordinated

Junior, subordinated
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When considering the seniority of a transaction and the creation of
payment priority in default, we can look to historical statistics on
recovery rates to see that senior, secured creditors receive, on
average, 60-80 percent of their capital upon default, senior, unse-
cured creditors may receive 4060 percent, and the broad class of
junior creditors as little as 10-30 percent. Priority in the capital
structure does, indeed, matter. In our continuing example, ABC
Co.’s 5-year bond may be issued as a standard senior, unsecured
instrument. If the company were rated sub-investment grade, it
might choose to secure its bond with specific assets rather than face
the high interest costs of an unsecured issue; this would make
bond investors senior, secured creditors.

KEY INSTRUMENTS

The key short-term debt instruments (< 1 year) include:

e Accounts payable: These accounts comprise the general class of
trade credit described in Chapter 2. Trade credit serves as a de
facto short-term loan, because if a company borrows from its
suppliers and chooses not to take advantage of a discount by
paying within an allotted time frame, it begins accruing a
finance charge — just as it might under a revolving loan facility.
Accounts payable can extend out to 360 days, though maturities
in the 30-180 day sector are more common.

e Commercial paper (CP) and Euro commercial paper (ECP).
These instruments are senior, unsecured, discount instruments
issued almost exclusively by the very best companies. CP/ECP
facilities must typically be rated by one or more of the rating
agencies, and may be supported by bank lines that allow the
issuer to replace its funding if notes cannot be rolled over at
maturity. In the US market CP has a maximum maturity of
270 days (to avoid registration requirements), while in the non-
US domestic markets and the Euromarkets maturities can
extend to 360 days. In practice most issuance occurs in the 14—
30 day sector, with outstanding notes rolled over on each
maturity date. Though the instruments can be traded on a sec-
ondary basis, many investors purchase and hold the securities
until maturity, rolling them into new issues on a continuous
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basis. CP and ECP are institutional instruments, with minimum
denominations of $100,000.

Certificates of deposit (CDs): CDs are unsecured, discount or
coupon instruments issued exclusively by banks; coupon-bear-
ing CDs may have fixed or floating coupons. CDs are market-
able bank deposits that are routinely traded on a secondary
basis. CDs can be issued in various currencies in the domestic or
offshore markets. The instruments have maturities ranging
from 1 week to 1 year (though certain 1-5 year instruments are
also available, and would thus form part of the medium-term
funding noted below) and are available in both small and large
denominations (e.g. $1,000 to $100,000+). In some national
systems CDs benefit from deposit insurance, which protects
depositors against default by the bank issuer (up to certain
maximum amounts).

Repurchase agreements: Repurchase agreements (repos) are a
popular form of secured financing for securities firms and other
financial institutions that deal actively in portfolios of govern-
ment and corporate bonds. Repos are collateralized borrowings,
where the financial institution sells securities to another party
for cash (the borrowing), agreeing simultaneously to repurchase
them at a future time, which can range from overnight to one
year; the securities sold serve as collateral against the cash loan.
Though repos are generally designed to be held until maturity,
they can be sold in the secondary market, particularly when the
underlying collateral is based on high-quality government
bonds, such as US Treasuries, gilts, bunds, or Japanese
Government Bonds.

Short-term loans: Short-term loans, with maturities ranging
from 3 to 12 months, are interest-bearing liabilities used by
companies requiring additional liquidity. The facilities may
be secured or unsecured, fixed or floating rate, and are typi-
cally of large size (e.g. millions of dollars). They may be
arranged as straight term loans, or as revolving credit facil-
ities that can be drawn down and repaid during a particular
horizon.

The primary medium-term (1-5 year) and long-term (5 years+)
debt instruments include:
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e Medium-term notes (MTNs) and euro medium-term notes
(EMTNs): These securities, which can be likened to long-term
versions of the CP and ECP described above, have become a
popular form of financing as they can be launched very quickly,
from shelf registered programs that require only a minimum
amount of documentation. MTNs and EMTNs feature matu-
rities ranging from 1 to 30 years (though most issuance activity
is in the sub-10-year sector), and can be structured with fixed
or floating rate coupons and callable or puttable features. Issues
are generally unsecured and can be floated in a variety of cur-
rencies. Issuance is generally targeted towards institutional
investors with minimum denominations of $100,000; secondary
trading tends to be quite active.

e Bonds and Eurobonds: Standard fixed and floating rate bonds
and Eurobonds are similar to MTNs and EMTNs — featuring 1
to 30 year maturities, fixed or floating rate coupons, and call-
able/puttable options — except that the issues are floated on a
“one time” basis rather than through a shelf program. This
means registration and disclosure are generally required for
each new issue (though the Eurobond market has less formal
standards than many domestic bond markets). Bonds issued by
the best quality companies are considered high-grade securities;
those issued by sub-investment grade companies form part of
the high yield (or junk) bond market. Secondary trading in
many issues is extremely active.

e Convertible bonds: Convertibles are hybrid debt/equity instru-
ments that can be considered debt or equity, depending on the
dominant characteristics of the security at any point in time.
Convertibles pay a minimum coupon, generally on a fixed rate
basis, and allow investors the option of converting the bond
into common shares if a conversion level is reached. Once (or
if) converted, the bond is extinguished and bondholders become
equity investors. The conversion premium, or the level at
which investors can exchange their bonds for stock, is often set
in the range of 15-30 percent above the market price at launch.
This means the company’s stock has to rise by that amount
before the investor will convert. Convertibles carry maturities
of 1 to 30 years, and can be issued in the domestic or offshore
markets. The securities are institutional investments with large
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minimum denominations and are actively traded in the
secondary market by both bond and stock investors.

Medium- and long-term loans: Medium- and long-term loans,
with maturities ranging from 1 to 30 years, are interest-bearing
liabilities used by companies requiring semi-permanent finan-
cing. The facilities may be secured or unsecured, fixed or float-
ing rate, and are typically of large size. Loans can be structured
as conventional term loans or revolving credit facilities with
multiple drawdown/repayment opportunities. As we’ve noted,
principal repayment may be on an amortizing, bullet, or bal-
loon basis. Though banks often hold loans until they are repaid,
there is a growing market for transferable loans, which can be
traded by institutions in the secondary market.

Leases: Leases are liability financing contracts, which, depend-
ing on accounting convention and product type, may appear on
or off the balance sheet. However, even when a lease appears
off balance sheet it acts as a form of debt, and any reasonable
analysis of a company’s liabilities must incorporate its effect. A
lease is a private transaction between the lessor, who owns an
underlying asset (e.g. computer, factory, airplane), and the
lessee, who wishes to use/rent the asset in exchange for lease
payments. At the end of the lease contract the lessee returns
the leased asset (though they may be given the option to pur-
chase the asset at a pre-defined residual value); the asset’s
ownership is never transferred from lessor to lessee. The lessee
thus obtains “financing” from the lessor in exchange for peri-
odic payments that are similar to interest payments on a loan.
The lessee benefits from not having to borrow and make an
investment to buy the underlying asset being used; the lessor
benefits from the tax advantages that accrue from depreciating
the asset. A lease can be structured as an operating lease or
capital lease. The operating lease has a maturity of less than
five years and is generally cancelable by the lessee; maintenance
and repairs are the responsibility of the lessor and the contract
is generally shown off balance sheet. The capital lease, in turn,
is a long-term, non-cancelable, contract, where the lessee is
responsible for maintenance and repairs; in many jurisdictions
the capital lease must be shown directly on the balance sheet.
Other forms of leases are available, including the sale and
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leaseback (the lessee sells the lessor an asset and then leases it
back), and the leveraged lease (the lessor borrows to buy the
asset, which it then leases to the lessee); each of these has
unique tax and depreciation features.

In addition to the securities noted above, there exists a thriving
market for structured bonds that are created by combining pools of
assets and issuing securities to finance the pools. The resulting
bonds are not specific to a single company or issuer, but serve as a
reference to a broader portfolio of borrowers. Common securitized
bonds include mortgage-backed securities (backed by pools of
home or commercial mortgages), asset-backed securities (backed by
auto loans, credit card receivables), and collateralized debt obligations

(backed by other bonds and loans).

BORROWING, ISSUING AND SECONDARY TRADING

BORROWING AND ISSUING

The process of creating the liabilities described above varies
according to instrument type.

Borrowing via the loan markets is based on a well established
procedure where a bank, working closely with a company, arranges
a loan facility that suits the company’s funding needs, drafts and
executes a loan agreement (with details on terms, conditions, col-
lateral requirements, and any financial ratios to which the bor-
rower must adhere), and then provides funds based on the terms
contained in the documentation. The bank may then retain the
entire loan in its portfolio until maturity, or sell a portion to other
banks or loan investors in the secondary markets. A large loan,
generally in excess of several hundred million dollars, may be
syndicated, or divided, among a larger group of banks during the
primary market phase. The arranging bank creates a syndicate of
banks, where each bank commits to funding a portion of the loan;
this mechanism allows risk to be more sensibly distributed.

Raising debt capital via the securities markets is based on a
slightly different process. In a public deal a bank, again working
closely with the borrowing company, establishes funding require-
ments, prepares detailed preliminary disclosure and registers the
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issue with the national securities commission. Once regulators
approve the disclosure (which becomes known as the prospectus),
the bank begins a pre-marketing phase to determine investor
appetite and potential pricing levels (e.g. a coupon/yield that will
prove attractive to investors). If a deal is particularly large, the
bank may again assemble a syndicate to help in the distribution
efforts. The final bond price/yield is established on launch date and
the syndicate places securities with investors. To speed up the
issuance process a company can also choose the shelf registration
noted earlier, meaning it can issue securities as needed during a
particular period of time (generally two years) without needing to
go through an extensive registration and documentation process.

If a bond deal has been arranged as a “best efforts” transaction,
the bank places as many bonds as it can, but is not required to
deliver the full amount the company needs if it cannot do so. So, if
ABC Co. wants £100 million of 5-year funds but investors are
only interested in purchasing £75 million at the quoted yield, the
company only receives £75 million. However, if the bank agrees to
a “firm underwriting” or “bought deal,” it must deliver the full
amount to the company and then try to place the securities with
investors. If it cannot do so, the bank retains the securities until it
can place them — generally by lowering the price (i.e. increasing
the yield). Since the bank bears more risk under the bought deal
structure, it charges the issuing company more in fees.

The issuance process is quite similar for private placements,
except that disclosure is not as extensive and the pool of investors
to which banks can pre-market is much smaller. The process for
other “exempt securities,” such as CDs, CP, and ECP, is similar:
securities are issued with a minimum of disclosure through a shelf
or tap mechanism that allows for quick distribution. Unlike private
placements, however, a broader range and number of investors can
purchase these exempt instruments.

In some cases companies are able to eliminate the role of the
bank by placing securities directly with end investors, saving
themselves a few basis points in fees. This process of direct place-
ment (a form of disintermediation, as we shall discuss in Part III),
is increasingly common in the millennium, but still reserved for
large, creditworthy borrowers that have strong name recognition.
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SECONDARY TRADING

Most debt trading occurs in bonds and other securities rather than
loans. Though a secondary market has developed for loans, total
turnover is still small compared to what is found in the largest
domestic bond markets and the Eurobond market. As such, we’ll
focus our discussion on secondary trading of bonds.

Major banks and securities dealers actively quote prices on a
range of bonds on a continuous basis. This market-making role,
providing a buy (bid) and sell (offer) price on individual securities,
allows other investors to enter or exit the market once a particular
issue has been launched - that is, once the primary market phase
of a deal has been concluded. The prices that dealers quote are a
function of the variables we’ve already discussed, including external
factors (i.e. overall interest rate levels, market conditions/outlook,
supply of investment capital) and internal factors (i.e. specific credit-
worthiness of a company and/or its sector). These factors dictate
perceived risk levels and, by extension, the required price or return.

The secondary marketplace quotes in price terms rather than
yields. Thus, ABC Co.’s £100 million 5-year bonds, launched 12
months ago at par (100), may now be quoted at 101.79-101.89.
This means a market maker will buy bonds from existing investors
at 101.79 and will sell them to new investors at 101.89. The 0.10
points is the market maker’s compensation for assuming the credit
risk that ABC Co. will default before the bonds have been resold, and
the liquidity risk that investors will suddenly become disinterested
in the bonds (leaving the market maker with a “stuck” position).

Let’s run through several simple scenarios to see how ABC Co.’s
secondary prices can change as risk-free rates and credit spreads
change. We begin by adapting the basic PV equation from Chapter
3. Since a bond is simply a series of future cash flows (interest and
principal) and we are interested in determining its value today, we
need only discount the cash flows by the relevant cost of debt, as in:

PV = sum across all periods

interest coupon ]

(1 + discount rate)"™e herizen

principal
(1 + discount rate)maturity

[5.5]
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Assume ABC Co. launched its original 5-year £100 million bond at
par 12 months ago with a coupon of 5 percent; for simplicity we
assume that the 5-year gilt rate at that time was 4.50 percent and
the company’s credit spread was 50 bps, or 0.50 percent. Through
the equation above, the price at launch was precisely equal to par:

5 .5 .5 5 _ 105
(1.05)"  (1.05)* (1.05)° (1.05)*  (1.05)

P=

or:
100 = 4.7619 + 4.5351 + 4.3192 4- 4.1135 + 82.227

Let’s now assume that gilt rates fall from 4.50 percent to 4.00
percent and ABC Co.’s spread remains unchanged at 0.50 percent.
With four years left to maturity the new price is:

5 .5 5 105
(1.045)"  (1.045)*  (1.045)°  (1.045)*

or:
101.79 = 4.7847 4 4.5786 + 4.3815 + 88.0480

Even though only four years remain until maturity, the price has
risen from 100 to 101.79 because base rates have fallen by 50 bps.
A market maker quoting ABC Co.’s bond in this market may thus
be willing to buy at 101.79 and sell at 101.89. This illustrates an
important fact concerning bond prices and rates: there is an inverse
relationship between the two, meaning that when rates rise bond
prices fall and when rates fall bond prices rise. This is true because
new bonds issued in a higher rate environment with high coupons
will appear more attractive than those with lower coupons; inves-
tors will sell the old bonds (causing their yields to rise) and buy
the new ones (causing their yields to fall) until an equilibrium
point is reached.

What if base rates remain unchanged from the time of issuance
(4.50 percent) but ABC Co.’s creditworthiness has deteriorated
dramatically? In this case the credit spread may have risen from 50
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bps to 100 bps (1.00 percent), meaning the cost of debt is now 5.50
percent. The secondary price of the bond, with four years until
maturity, is thus:

5 5 5 105

P = + + +
(1.055)"  (1.055)*  (1.055)°  (1.055)*

which gives us a price of:
97.9014 = 4.3933 + 4.4923 + 4.258 + 84.758

This makes intuitive, as well as financial, sense: ABC Co.’s credit
standing has deteriorated, meaning that its prospect of default has
increased; investors will only be willing to pay a lower price (i.e.
they will demand a higher yield) to own the bond.

The process of establishing secondary prices is therefore based
on the PV equation, adjusted for changing base rates and credit
spreads. As base rates rise, secondary prices fall, and vice-versa; as
credit spreads widen secondary prices fall, and vice-versa; these are
summarized in Table 5.4. Market makers must therefore remain
vigilant to changes in both before quoting prices.

In practice the actual bond price quote must also take into
account the fact that buying and selling activity doesn’t occur
precisely on each coupon date, but at some point in between.
Accordingly, interest that accrues between coupon dates is factored
into the pricing: the new buyer of the bond pays a price that
reflects that interest that has accrued from the last coupon date,
and is entitled to the full coupon when it is paid.

Secondary bond trading can occur via an exchange or OTC.
Though the market has long favored voice-based OTC trading, the
advent of computing power and advanced networking has led to
the creation of new electronic bond trading platforms, and more

Table 5.4 Tmpact of interest rates on bond prices

Risk-free rate Bond price Credit spread Bond price

T 1 T !
! 1 ! T
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volumes are gradually being directed through such conduits. Some
of these electronic communications networks (ECNs) are supported
by major financial institutions, which place their bond inventories
online with indicative prices so that institutional clients can trade
directly on screen. Brokers, who seek to match buyers and sellers
in an electronic environment, operate ECNs of their own. Though
these efforts are still in a relatively nascent stage, they are gaining

acceptance.
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INVESTMENT FUNDS

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

In this chapter we examine investment funds, which are financial
products that combine into portfolios the debt and equity securities
discussed in the last two chapters. We begin with a review of why
and how investment funds are used and the role diversification
plays in the creation of funds. We then consider the main types of
investment funds, including open-end funds, closed-end funds,
hedge funds, and exchange-traded funds, and the strategies that
portfolio managers use to create investor returns. We conclude by
describing how different classes of investment fund shares are
created, traded, and redeemed.

USES OF INVESTMENT FUNDS

In the last two chapters we’ve described capital securities that firms
issue to fund their balance sheets. We know that an investor
buying securities supplies capital in exchange for a return. Each
individual stock or bond that the investor purchases represents a
separate exposure to the stock or bond issuer. The investor holds a
concentrated position in the risk of the issuer, and if something
goes wrong — perhaps the issuing company sustains large financial
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losses or even falls into bankruptcy — some amount of invested
capital may be lost. While the return the investor earns is sup-
posed to compensate for such risks, there are times when it may
prove insufficient.

Naturally, many investors are comfortable bearing this “con-
centrated” risk, especially when they feel the returns are appro-
priate. Some, however, are less willing to do so — particularly if
they feel that they lack the knowledge needed to properly evaluate
potential risks and returns. In these cases they may prefer allocat-
ing capital across many stocks or bonds. This spreads the risk: if
one of the issuing companies has trouble and the others remain
sound, the investor continues to earn an acceptable return. To
facilitate this process investors can use investment funds, or con-
duits that purchase a wide range of securities on behalf of inves-
tors. In fact, the market for investment funds has grown at a fast
pace over the past few decades, and now represents several trillion
dollars” worth of investable assets.

The investment fund framework involves various parties.
Investors provide capital to a portfolio manager, who then pur-
chases relevant securities; the returns generated by the underlying
securities are paid to investors periodically. In exchange for per-
forming the management function, the portfolio manager charges
a fee. A separate trustee oversees the process and ensures safe-
keeping of securities. Note that once investors give capital to the
portfolio manager, they have no say in the actual purchase/sale of
securities in the fund’s portfolio; the manager has complete dis-
cretion to invest as he or she sees fit (within the confines of the
investment mandate, as discussed below). The only recourse
available to an investor who disagrees with the investment deci-
sions (or is otherwise dissatisfied with a fund’s performance) is to
exit by selling the position in the fund.

While diversification is perhaps the most important character-
istic of many investment funds, the product also features other
advantages. Some investors are drawn to funds because they pro-
vide for continuous, professional management of capital. Seasoned
portfolio managers constantly monitor the performance of their
funds, buying and selling securities based on the strategies that
they have developed. Investors therefore needn’t depend on their
own research skills and monitoring efforts. Funds are also efficient
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transactions. While an investor can create a diversified portfolio by
buying a large number of individual stocks or bonds, the process
can be tedious, time-consuming, and expensive. Buying shares in a
fund that is already based on a desired portfolio is much easier.

Let’s note at this stage that certain investment funds are created
primarily to provide investors with the possibility of enhanced
returns — and not necessarily to reduce risk through diversification
techniques. Some funds specialize in particular market sectors (e.g.
by industry, country, and so forth) and thus take a greater degree
of concentrated risk. Other classes of funds often thrive on risk:
they deliberately assume a great deal of exposure in hopes of creating
very large returns for investors. These specialized investment funds,
known as hedge funds, are intended only for the most sophisti-
cated investors — those that can stand to lose a significant amount
of their capital should markets or positions turn against them.

PORTFOLIO DIVERSIFICATION

We indicated in Chapter 3 that an investor can reduce or eliminate
diversifiable risk of a security by holding other securities that are
either uncorrelated, or negatively correlated, with the target
security. It comes as no surprise that this concept is the linchpin of
the investment fund world: combining the right mix of uncorre-
lated/negatively correlated securities creates diversified portfolios
of securities. (This does not hold true, of course, for investment
funds that are deliberately established to take concentrated or large
risks, i.e. certain hedge funds.)

An efficient portfolio generates high returns for a given level of
risk, while an inefficient portfolio generates lower returns for the
same level of risk, as noted in Figure 6.1. The rational investor will
always prefer the efficient portfolio. For instance, if investors can
earn a 10 percent return on a portfolio with a risk level of 20 per-
cent, or earn a 10 percent return with a risk level of 50 percent,
they will obviously choose the first portfolio. Similarly if they
must invest in a portfolio with a maximum risk level of 20 per-
cent, and can select between a portfolio generating a 7 percent
return and a second one generating a 12 percent return, they will
opt for the latter — earning an extra 5 percent for taking the same
amount of risk.
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Selecting securities with the right correlation characteristics is
the key to diversification and the creation of an efficient portfolio.
The lower the correlation between securities, the greater the
diversification, and the more diffuse the risk. Portfolio managers
are responsible for identifying securities that will create a portfolio
with the desired characteristics. So, if an investor invests in a
diversified fund, the portfolio manager must ensure that an
appropriate level of risk diversification actually exists. Conversely,
when an investor wants a more focused or concentrated exposure,
the portfolio manager is free to select assets with a greater degree
of positive correlation.

Empirical studies conducted over the years have focused a great
deal of attention on the existence of market efficiency, or the
degree to which the market prices of securities absorb and reflect
all known (public) and unknown (non-public) information. The
existence of this relationship is important in determining whether
a portfolio manager can create a diversified portfolio that regularly
“beats the market.” In the weakest form of the so-called efficient
market hypothesis (EMH), information is not regularly or accu-
rately absorbed, suggesting that the prices of assets may not be
accurate. This means a portfolio manager can actually outperform
a market or index with some frequency. In the strongest form of
the EMH the market reflects all public and non-public information;
asset prices contain all information and are an accurate repre-
sentation of value, meaning that it is very difficult, if not impos-

Returns (%) Portfolio A (efficient)
Portfolio B (inefficient)

Frontier of
efficient
portfolios

Incremental [ fo-seememmememmeseees

return for given { E

level of risk = [T =7 ‘D

Risk

Figure 6.1 Risk, return and efficient portfolios
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sible, for a portfolio manager to regularly beat the market. Many
practitioners believe that an intermediate form of market efficiency
exists, suggesting that it may be difficult for a portfolio manager to
create a strategy that regularly outperforms the market. Accord-
ingly, some fund managers choose simply to try and match the
market — through a process known as indexing. Indexing can be
implemented in different forms:

e Pure index tracking: Target returns of a fund are precisely
equal to the benchmark index.

e Enhanced index tracking: Target returns may be up to 1 percent
away from a benchmark index.

e Constrained active management: Target returns may be 2-4
percent away from the benchmark.

e Unconstrained active management: Target returns may be more
than 4 percent away from the benchmark.

The farther a portfolio manager moves away from the pure index
tracking strategy, the more active the management of the portfolio
becomes. At the extreme end of the spectrum we encounter hedge
funds, which feature no index relationship at all; that is, they seek
to generate absolute returns of any magnitude, rather than returns
relative to an index.

INSTRUMENT CHARACTERISTICS

In this section we consider several of the most popular types of
investment funds, including investment companies (open-end
funds, closed-end funds, and unit investment trusts), hedge
funds, and exchange-traded funds. Open-end funds comprise the
largest segment of the investment fund market and are designed
for the broadest group of individual and institutional investors.
Closed-end funds, which operate in a similar fashion but with
greater restrictions, represent a much smaller portion of the
market. Hedge funds, designed for sophisticated investors, often
take a great deal of risk. Exchange-traded funds (ETFs) are
“hybrids” that combine the structural features of open-end funds
with the trading and liquidity features of actively traded corporate
securities.
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KEY CHARACTERISTICS

THE FUND BALANCE SHEET

We can examine an investment fund in light of the balance sheet
presented in Chapter 2 to establish a frame of reference. Though a
fund can be legally structured in various ways — such as a registered
investment company, a special purpose entity (SPE), a trust, or a
limited partnership — it always has assets, liabilities, and capital,
which we know are the essential ingredients of any balance sheet.

The asset portion of the fund consists of the securities the port-
folio manager has purchased, along with a small cash balance
reflecting funds awaiting investment and any extra liquidity
needed to meet redemptions (i.e. sales of fund shares by investors).
The equity account consists of the capital that investors in the fund
have given to the portfolio manager for investment. Depending on
the nature of the fund and its specific authorizations, the balance
sheet may also feature a certain amount of short- or long-term
debt. Not all funds are allowed to incur debt, as debt increases
leverage and leverage magnifies risks. Those that are so author-
ized, however, can use the extra liabilities to purchase more secu-
rities. Some funds are also allowed to use off balance sheet
contracts — primarily derivatives — which we discuss in the next
chapter. The general structure of a fund’s balance sheet, shown
under US GAAP, is illustrated in Figure 6.2.

GENERAL FUND CATEGORIES

Funds can invest in a wide range of asset classes and employ dif-
ferent types of investment management techniques. But they must
always operate under rules specified by their investment mandates.
This ensures that investors are getting the type of investment they
believe they are getting. For instance, if a fund is marketed as a
low-risk fund and is restricted by its mandate to investing in
short-term government treasury bills, it cannot then purchase
high-vyield bonds or stocks.

Investors can select funds that match their risk and return goals.
For purposes of our discussion we can divide fund categories into
earnings type, geographic focus, asset class, and sub-asset class.
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Assets Liabilities + Equity
Residual cash Short-term debt
balance (if authorized)

Medium- and
Portfolio of long- term debt
investment (if authorized)
securities
Equity
Investors’ paid
in capital

Figure 6.2 General fund balance sheet

e Earnings type: The earnings dimension relates to the specific
source of a fund’s income, which may include dividends, inter-
est, and/or capital gains. Funds that rely on dividends and
interest (so-called current income) tend to be less risky than
those that rely on capital gains, since current income cash flows
are a great deal more certain.

e Geographic focus: The geographic dimension relates to a fund’s
spatial focus, which may be national (e.g. confined to a specific
country), regional (e.g. based on a related group of national
markets), or global. Those with a regional or international
component may expose investors to currency risks, since some of
the assets purchased are likely to be denominated in a currency
other than the investor’s “home” currency.

e Asset class: The asset class parameter relates to the general
asset markets in which a fund invests. These are generally
stocks and bonds, but may also include currencies, commodities
and other alternatives. Funds often limit their investments to a
single asset class (e.g. equity only), though most also hold a
certain amount of cash equivalents to meet redemptions. Equity
funds represent the single largest asset class in the investment
sector. Large funds often hold positions in hundreds or thou-
sands of individual issues in order to boost returns for a given
level of risk. Bond funds are also popular, and may invest in
domestic/foreign money market instruments, government
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bonds, municipal bonds, corporate bonds, mortgage-backed
securities (bonds comprised of pools of mortgages), asset-backed
securities (bonds comprised of pools of receivables) and/or col-
lateralized debt obligations (bonds comprised of pools of corpo-
rate bonds/loans). Balanced funds can incorporate stocks, bonds,
preferred stock, convertibles, and other securities.

e Sub-asset class: A sub-asset class distinction is relevant in some
instances. For instance, an equity fund might invest only in
large capitalization stocks (e.g. companies with $5 billion+ in
market capitalization), mid-cap stocks ($1-$5 billion), small cap
stocks ($500 million—$1 billion), or micro-cap stocks (up to $500
million); each market sector is considered a distinct sub-asset
class. Similarly, sector funds invest in stocks from a single
industrial or market sector (e.g. real estate investment trusts,
pharmaceutical stocks, technology stocks); since their focus is
much narrower, security concentrations are typically much
higher (e.g. some funds are permitted to invest up to 25 percent
of their assets in a single stock or bond). Similar sub-asset class
sector distinctions can be created for bond funds (e.g. a focus on
municipal securities, government securities, high-grade corpo-
rate bonds, money market securities, and so forth), currency
funds (e.g. Group of Ten (G10, the largest industrialized
nations) currencies, emerging market currencies, and so on),
and commodity/alternative funds (e.g. precious metals, energy,
catastrophe/weather, and so forth).

These general fund categories are summarized in Figure 6.3.

KEY FUND CLASSES

OPEN-END FUNDS

Open-end funds — also known as mutual funds in the US and
unit trusts in the UK — are the single most common form of
investment fund; most individuals and institutions have some
quantity of open-end fund shares in their investment or retire-
ment accounts. Open-end funds are available across asset classes
and many are structured to provide some form of indexed
returns.
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Earnings Source Geographic Focus
Current income/capital National/single country
preservation .
Regional
Capital gains International
Both
Asset Class Sub-asset Class
Equity Market type
Bond Index
Currency Sector
Commodity/Alternative
Balanced

Figure 6.3 General fund categories

The mechanics of the open-end fund are straightforward:
investors give a fund capital in exchange for shares of the
fund. With rare exceptions, open-end funds can create new shares
at will — hence the name “open-end.” As long as investors con-
tinue to contribute capital, a fund continues to create new shares.
As capital is received from investors the portfolio manager
purchases securities for the portfolio. Every publicly traded open-
end fund is valued at the net asset value (NAV), which is com-
puted via:

total net assets = cash and equivalents + market value
of securities held in the portfolio
— current liabilities (including accruals)
[6.1]

This result can be converted into a per share figure via:
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total net assets

NAV per share = [6.2]

shares issued

An investor wanting to buy or sell shares in the fund will do so at
the NAV (plus any applicable fees or commissions, which may be
payable upfront, upon exit, or annually); trading generally occurs
once a day, at the market closing NAV. Let’s assume Fund XYZ
has a total of £100 million of cash on hand, £1.5 billion of equity
securities, £50 million of liabilities, and 100 million shares out-
standing. The NAV, per the equations above, is £15.5/share. If the
value of the stocks that XYZ holds rises tomorrow so that the
worth of the portfolio increases from £1.5 billion to £1.7 billion
(and all other account balances remain unchanged), the NAV
increases to £17/share.

Since open-end funds are intended for distribution to the public
at large (including individual investors who may need extra pro-
tection) they must adhere to legal and regulatory requirements.
Investment companies must generally register their funds with the
national securities regulator and comply with minimum standards
related to disclosure, diversification, reporting, dividend policy, and
income distribution. Depending on the specific jurisdiction, reg-
ulatory authorities may monitor a fund and its activities formally
or informally to ensure compliance; further oversight may be
provided by the listing stock exchange.

An open-end fund is often structured in corporate form so that
new shares can be created with ease. The investment company
acting as sponsor is responsible for organizing the fund, making
operating and investment decisions, and marketing the fund to
investors. Each fund has its own investment mandate, which out-
lines permissible investments, strategies, and risks. For instance,
some funds can only buy securities with capital on hand, while
others can borrow or use derivatives. Similarly, some can invest in
very risky securities while others can buy only the safest of
instruments. The prospectus given to each investor contains details
on the fund’s investment mandate, goals, strategy, risk factors,
sales charges, operating expenses, financial history, annual return
history, purchase/redemption mechanisms, portfolio manager
(fund advisor) experience and fees, and shareholder distribution
mechanisms.
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Various other parties are involved in the operation of an open-
end fund. An independent custodian holds a fund’s assets and
monitors cash inflows/outflows on behalf of investors. A transfer
agent tracks share purchases and sales, maintains shareholder
records, computes the daily NAV, and arranges for dividend/
interest payments and capital gains disbursements. Many of the
largest fund companies also have fund distributors (underwriters),
who are affiliates responsible for marketing fund shares to inves-
tors. Participants involved in the creation and management of an
open-end fund are summarized in Figure 6.4.

CLOSED-END FUNDS

Closed-end funds represent a much smaller portion of the invest-
ment fund sector. Closed-end funds, like their open-end counter-
parts, are professionally managed portfolios that are listed and

Markets
$ Investment
compan
Securities pany
", $
Independent Securities Fund -— Fund
custodian un —_ distributor
Fund
shares
Securities
cash flows
Independent
transfer agent
Fund
. shares
Daily net
asset value
Profit
disbursements Investors

Figure 6.4 Open-end fund legal vehicles/participants
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traded on exchanges. But closed-end funds can issue only a limited
number of shares and cannot create new ones at will. In some cases
the combination of a fund’s investments and its limited ability to
create new shares leads to illiquidity, or difficulty on the part of
investors in selling shares at the quoted price when needed.
Accordingly, closed-end funds are considered to be most suitable
for investors with a medium- to long-term investment horizon.
The most active element of the closed-end market is centered on
bonds issued by municipal/local authorities and stocks of companies
in emerging markets.

The unit investment trust (UIT), a subset of the closed-end fund
class, features a specific, rather than indefinite, maturity date. A
UIT is a “passive” fund that accepts an initial (and limited)
amount of investor capital, purchases a target portfolio of secu-
rities, and holds the securities until the maturity of the fund. The
portfolio of a UIT is not actively managed or rebalanced. In fact,
the trustee simply holds the securities that have been purchased
and collects and distributes cash flows to investors. In practice most
UITs invest in bonds rather than stocks, since bonds have defined
maturities/redemption dates. Once the final securities mature the
UIT is liquidated and investors receive their principal.

HEDGE FUNDS

Hedge funds are flexible investment conduits intended primarily
for sophisticated investors who can absorb greater risk than the
average individual. In fact, minimum amounts of income and/or
net worth are usually required. As we've noted, hedge funds
attempt to create absolute returns through active management,
regardless of what is occurring in a specific market. They do not
benchmark to, or replicate, indexes or engage in passive invest-
ment strategies. Hedge funds may increase their risks (and poten-
tial returns) by using borrowed funds to buy securities, taking
concentrated positions, short-selling securities, and buying/selling
illiquid assets and derivatives. Contrary to popular belief, not all
hedge funds trade their portfolios actively (e.g. buying/selling
securities repeatedly throughout the trading day); some feature
relatively low portfolio turnover as they try to generate value over
the medium term.
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We've already said that hedge funds enjoy considerable flex-
ibility in allocating investors’ capital across markets and strategies.
Common hedge fund strategies include:

e Directional asset allocation: Buying/selling securities in one or
more asset classes to take advantage of the direction of the
market. For instance, a fund may buy a portfolio of auto com-
pany stocks if it perceives them to be undervalued, or may sell
a portfolio of emerging market bonds if it thinks they are
overvalued.

e Relative value: Buying/selling securities in one or more asset
classes to take advantage of the differential between the assets,
rather than the absolute direction of the market. For instance, a
fund might sell the stocks of high-priced retailers and buy the
stocks of discount retailers if it believes that consumer spending
and economic growth are about to slow dramatically. Alter-
natively, it might buy a company’s convertible bonds and short
sell its stocks to capture any value differential between the two.

e Event driven: Buying/selling securities of companies that are
subject to possible “events” such as takeovers, bankruptcy, or
recapitalization. For example, a fund might buy the stocks of
several companies that are likely to be takeover candidates in an
industry that is consolidating. Or, it may buy the bonds of a
company that has defaulted in hopes of earning a profit once
the company emerges from bankruptcy.

A key segment of the market centers on funds of funds (FOFs) and
funds of funds of funds (F3s). Following the concepts of portfolio
theory we have already discussed, these entities try to diversify
hedge fund performance risk by using investors’ capital to invest
in 5-20+ different hedge funds (or funds of funds). While the
concept is appealing, FOFs and F3s add an extra layer of costs that
subtract from investor returns. So, to be truly appealing to inves-
tors, fund of fund and F3 managers must have proven skills in
selecting above-average hedge fund performers.

Many hedge funds are exempt from regulations that are applied
to open- and closed-end funds. In fact, most hedge fund managers
are considered to be unregistered investment advisors, and cannot
therefore advertise or market their funds directly to the public. But
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they must still distribute to prospective investors an offering
memorandum with essential details on the fund, its activities, and
its risk factors.

Hedge funds are typically structured as private partnerships
rather than investment companies, using a general partner (GP)/
limited partner (LP) framework. The fund’s portfolio management
team acts as the GP, making all investment management decisions
and retaining unlimited liability in the business. Investors in the
fund act as the LPs, holding passive interests in the fund and
remaining liable up to the amount of the capital they have invested
in the venture. The partnership structure can only accommodate a
small number of large investors.

Funds are often set up with multiple entities that cater to
domestic and offshore investors. For instance, a US-based hedge
fund may establish an offshore partnership in a tax- and reg-
ulatory-friendly environment (e.g. in the Caymans, British Virgin
Islands, Bermuda) to handle the requirements of offshore investors
and non-taxable US investors (e.g. pension funds, endowment
funds, foundations), and an identical US partnership (e.g. Dela-
ware) to serve taxable US investors. Even though the fund might
use multiple partnerships, it invests capital in the same strategies.
Figure 6.5 summarizes this process.

Offshore investors

Taxable domestic
Non-taxable domestic

. investors
investors
Capital l T LP interest Capital l T LP interest
Offshore limited Domestic limited
partnership partnership
GP interests GP interests

General partners

Figure 6.5 Onshore/offshore hedge fund structure
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Hedge funds generally charge asset-based fees (just as any other
fund might) and performance fees. For instance, a fund may charge
between 1-2 percent p.a. on assets under management, and a 20
percent performance fee on any gross earnings generated; this
compares to all-in fees of sub-1 percent—2 percent for other types
of funds. So, the general partners of a hedge fund with £100 mil-
lion under management that posts £20 million in returns will
receive £5 million (i.e. 2 percent of £100 million and 20 percent of
£20 million). The returns paid to investors (limited partners) come
from the earnings that remain after all asset and performance fees
have been paid. Some hedge funds protect investors by including a
minimum hurdle rate that must be achieved before managers
receive any performance bonuses. A “high water mark” test may
also be included. The high water mark means that fund managers
will only be paid if they create value year over year. For instance,
a fund with £100 million under management and a 20 percent
payout that generates £20 million of earnings in year 1 pays £4
million in performance fees to the managers. If markets are diffi-
cult in year 2 and the managers lose £10 million, they receive no
payout. If performance improves in year 3 and the funds generate
£10 million of earnings, the managers still receive no payout as a
result of the high water mark: the fund has not yet exceeded the
performance position held in year 1.

EXCHANGE TRADED FUNDS

Exchange traded funds (ETFs) are popular investment funds that
combine features of the open-end fund sector with standard secu-
rities trading. ETFs allow new shares to be created and redeemed at
will, and permit continuous intra-day trading (just as in standard
stocks and bonds), rather than the typical end-of-day trading char-
acterizing open-end and closed-end funds. The cost structure of ETFs
also tends to be lower than that of open-end funds. All of these
features have helped the instrument build a critical mass of interest
in recent years. ETFs are available on baskets, industry sectors,
country sectors and broad market indexes (e.g. NASDAQ 100, S&P
500, Dow Jones Industrials, FTSE 100); bond-related ETFs have also
become prevalent. In fact, the most popular index ETFs are among
the most actively traded financial instruments in the marketplace.
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ETFs can be created using an investment company structure,
where a fund manager is responsible for all coordination and
investment allocation decisions. Under this scheme the investment
company tracks (but does not precisely replicate) a reference index,
and can use derivatives and physical securities to achieve desired
investment results. ETFs based on the UIT concept noted above are
similar to investment companies, but somewhat less flexible — pri-
marily because they must replicate a target index very closely.
ETFs created as trusts are used primarily for smaller baskets of
securities that track specific sectors. All ETFs, regardless of legal
structure, are sponsored by major financial institutions/exchanges
and must meet certain regulatory requirements (e.g. disclosure by
the trust bank of the next day’s creation/redemption baskets; pur-
chase/redemption of ETF receipts with the underlying securities;
and use of a central clearing/depository). As noted, ETFs generally
feature lower costs than equivalent open-end funds; management
fees and annual expenses are generally very modest, and proces-
sing fees associated with the creation/redemption of ETF shares are
small.

ISSUING, REDEEMING, AND TRADING

ISSUING AND REDEEMING

The creation and redemption of investment fund shares (or part-
nership interests) depends on the type of fund being considered.
Let’s analyze these differences in light of the four major classes
described above.

An investor wishing to buy shares in an open-end fund transfers
a specific minimum amount of cash to the fund distributor, who
forwards the cash to the fund; the fund then buys the securities
forming part of the investment strategy. Since the fund is struc-
tured as an open-end vehicle it can create new shares at the NAV
without limitation. Although open-end funds almost always accept
new funds from investors, some eventually accumulate too much
and may close to further subscriptions, either temporarily or per-
manently. This is a defensive mechanism that helps ensure port-
folio managers do not suffer from “style drift” — investment
outside of a given area of expertise that can result in a misbalancing
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of risk/return. An investor selling (redeeming) shares submits
instructions to the fund, which uses its cash reserve or liquidates a
pro-rata amount of securities to meet the redemption. Open-end
funds generally preserve a cash buffer of 5-10 percent of assets in
order to meet redemption orders. Fund managers attempt to
minimize the size of the cash buffer, as holding too much cash
reduces fund earnings.

As we've noted, closed-end funds do not issue new shares reg-
ularly; they nearly always arrange for a single issue of capital,
which is preserved over time. While the constant level of capital
may be seen as a limiting factor, it can also be regarded as an
advantage: fund managers don’t have to be concerned about con-
tinuous cash inflows and reinvestment, and are unlikely to suffer
from style drift. Closed-end funds do not redeem outstanding
shares; all shares issued remain outstanding until (or if) a fund is
liquidated or restructured. Investors wanting to sell their shares
must find other investors willing to buy them, and do so through a
standard brokered transaction.

The supply of shares in a hedge fund is strictly limited. Part-
nership shares are generally arranged as private placements sold
directly to accredited investors through the onshore or offshore
entities mentioned above. Once the initial capital has been raised,
(sometimes in tranches) proceeds are invested in one or more
strategies. In some cases a fund may arrange a new issuance of
capital to finance another fund strategy. But this has to be seen as
an independent transaction, rather than a continuous creation of
capital. Similarly, redemption of fund shares is very limited.
Investors who want to sell their interests may only be able to do
so at defined points during the calendar year (e.g. every month or
quarter), and may be required to provide several months’ advance
notice. Since hedge funds don’t have to worry about daily liquidity
they can optimize their portfolios by holding less cash.

The ETF share issuance and redemption process is rather more
involved because it is based on unlimited share creation and con-
tinuous share trading. In a typical ETF an authorized participant
(e.g. a financial institution) purchases a portfolio of securities
representing the underlying reference index, which it deposits with
a trust bank. The trust bank places the securities in a trust account
and issues divisible depository receipts. Once the receipts are issued,



INVESTMENT FUNDS

they can be subdivided and bought and sold through an exchange,
just like any other listed corporate security. If an investor wants to
sell ETF shares they have purchased, the shares are not redeemed
by the fund (as in a standard open-end fund transaction), but are
simply sold to another investor. If overall demand for the ETF
declines — that is, no further buying interest exists — the author-
ized participant can gather up the receipts, reassemble them,
submit the single receipt to the trust bank, and receive the under-
lying portfolio of securities in return. It can then liquidate the
securities, thus returning investors to their original cash position.
This process is summarized in Figure 6.6.

SECONDARY TRADING

The degree of secondary trading in investment funds again
depends on structure.

ETFs feature the greatest amount of secondary trading. Inves-
tors can purchase and sell shares in the fund several times during
the trading day, or they can hold them for the intermediate or
long term (note, of course, that each purchase and sale attracts a
bid-offer spread and a brokerage commission charge). Since ETFs
can be traded at current market prices they are eligible for short

Trust
Account

SharesT

E'TF receipt | Aythorized participant | ETF receipt Trust
Clients (e.g. bank, securities Brau:k
$ firm) Shares
Buying/Selling ]
of ETF receipts ETF index
via relevant P $ Shares creation
exchange
ETF
ETF Market Market Fund
Manager

Figure 6.6 Process of creating/trading an ETF
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(i.e. liquid) ‘ (i.e. illiquid)

E’;Gh dandge Open-end Closed-end Hedge
F309 funds funds funds
funds

Figure 6.7 Secondary trading activity in funds

selling. The existence of continuous pricing and the depth of
liquidity in the most popular indexes have led to the creation of
derivative contracts on select ETFs. This, in turn, helps promote
further activity and liquidity in the ETF, in a self-fulfilling cycle.

The shares of major open-end funds are actively traded as well,
but can only be bought or sold at the end-of-day NAV — not at
continuous prices. However, since new shares can be created con-
stantly and existing shares can be redeemed without difficulty,
turnover can be reasonably good - particularly for large, well
known funds with a strong performance record. The same is
obviously not true for closed-end funds or hedge funds, which
have very low levels of secondary trading volume. Hedge fund
shares can be particularly illiquid: as noted, investors may only be
able to sell their shares every few weeks or months, and must
generally give the fund administrator several weeks (or months)
advance notice of their intention of doing so.

Figure 6.7 summarizes the spectrum of secondary trading activ-
ity, from the most active (or most liquid) to the least active (or
most illiquid).

Chapter summary

Investment funds, which combine debt and equity securities into single
portfolios, have become important and popular financial conduits.
Funds feature several significant benefits: they provide investors with
exposure to a professionally managed portfolio of securities, with risk
and return characteristics synchronized to accommodate a broad range
of investor styles and goals; they employ portfolio diversification to
maximize returns for a given level of risk; they create efficiencies by
allowing execution of multiple transactions through a single trade; and,
they generate continuity in the investment portfolio, particularly for
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DERIVATIVES AND INSURANCE

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

In this chapter we examine derivatives and insurance, financial
contracts that companies can use to manage different types of
risks. We begin with simple definitions of the instruments, a
review of why and how derivatives and insurance are used, the
similarities and differences between the two, and the types of risks
that each class is designed to create, reduce, or transfer. Following
this we consider speculation and arbitrage, two activities that are
unique to derivatives. We conclude by analyzing the characteristics
of each class; although the two share certain similarities, this section
will reveal in greater detail important differences between the two.

USES OF DERIVATIVES AND INSURANCE

RISK MANAGEMENT

Before beginning a detailed discussion of derivatives and insurance,
let’s first consider simple definitions of the two (which we shall
expand in subsequent sections).

e Derivative: A contract that derives, or obtains, its value from
some other market or asset. It has no value on its own and
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must be tied to some other reference asset. For instance, a €/$
currency derivative is a contract that derives its value from the
€/$ currency rate.

e Insurance: A contract that insures, or provides financial resti-
tution when a loss-making event occurs. For instance, a fire
insurance policy is a contract that provides a payment if a fire
destroys valuable property.

On the surface these two contracts may seem quite different. They
do, in fact, have very different characteristics, as we’ll discover
later in the chapter. But they also share a significant commonality —
namely, they can both be used to manage risks.

Recall from our discussion in Chapter 1 that risk, which we have
defined as the uncertainty (or variability) surrounding an outcome,
affects every company. Though the actual nature and magnitude of
risks can vary across companies, every firm is exposed to some type
of risk. Some of the key risks a company can encounter include:

e Operating risk: The risk of loss arising from a firm’s inability to
sell its goods or obtain raw material inputs; it can also include
risk of loss stemming from plant and equipment damage or
destruction, or technology/systems failure.

e Tinancial risk: The risk of loss coming from an adverse move-
ment in financial markets/prices (such as interest or currency
rates) or the failure of a client/counterparty to perform on its
contractual obligations (such as accounts receivable). The
former is often referred to as market risk, while the latter is
considered a credit risk.

e Legal risk: The risk of loss arising from litigation (individual,
regulatory, or “class action”) or other legal/documentary errors.

e Environmental risk: Risk of loss arising from the firm’s willful,
unknowing, or accidental damage to the environment (such as
an oil spill).

We recall from Chapter 1 that a key corporate financial goal is
prudent management of risk. If ABC Co. can keep its risk exposures
properly balanced, then it stands a better chance of avoiding surprise
financial losses and reducing its earnings volatility, which ultimately
helps boost enterprise value. We must consider an important point
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here: managing risks properly does not mean eliminating or shift-
ing all risk. There are times when it makes economic sense for a
company to preserve certain types and amounts of risk. This hap-
pens when risk-taking activities have the potential of being profit-
able, or when the cost of obtaining risk protection is very
expensive. In fact, every risk management decision can be eval-
uated in a cost-benefit framework by focusing on the costs a com-
pany incurs in reducing or eliminating the risk against the benefits
it obtains from doing so; conversely, it may consider the costs of
retaining the risk versus the benefits it derives from doing so.

Though risk can be categorized according to the classes described
above, it can also be distinguished more broadly as being “spec-
ulative” or “pure.” A speculative risk lends itself to three possible
states: profit, loss, or no profit/loss. For instance, if €/$ currency
rates move in a particular direction, a company with a currency
exposure may generate a profit; if rates move in the opposite
direction it will post a loss. Many financial risks are speculative.
Reducing or eliminating a financial risk is done through a process
known as hedging (which we consider later) or through risk
diversification (as described in Chapter 3). A pure risk, in contrast,
features only two states: loss or no loss. In other words, there is no
chance of generating a profit. For example, a company operating a
factory is exposed to the possibility of damage or destruction by
fire. If the fire occurs and damage is done the company loses
money, and if no fire occurs, it loses no money. Reducing or
eliminating a pure risk is done through insurance, derivatives, or
diversification, depending on the nature of the risk.

The basic decision states related to risk costs and benefits are
summarized in Table 7.1.

A firm that is deciding how to manage its risks often does so in
a formalized way, as part of long-term financial planning. This
adds rigor and discipline to the process, and helps ensure that the
right kind of risk is preserved or eliminated. A proper risk man-
agement framework can be created by first defining a risk mandate,
which reflects two important concepts:

e Risk philosophy: An explicit statement developed by the board
of directors and executive management that reflects the nature
of the risks the firm is willing to bear
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Table 7.1 Risk decision framework

Decision Cost Benefit
Preserving A possible loss from A possible profit from the
risk the source of risk source of the risk (if

speculative) and no costs
associated with a risk
management solution

Reducing/  Costs associated with a risk No/reduced potential
eliminating management solution (e.g. for loss from the source
risk fee, insurance premium) and of risk

no possibility of profit from the
source of risk (if speculative)

e Risk tolerance: A definition of the actual amount of risk the
firm is willing to bear.

The mandate can then be converted into a sequential, four-step
process:

e Risk identification: An analysis of the kinds of risks the firm
faces

e Risk quantification: A quantitative description of how large risk
exposures are (or may become) and what size profit and/or loss
might be generated

e Risk management: A determination, based on cost/benefit ana-
lysis, of how the firm can best manage its exposures

e Risk monitoring: A process of tracking risk exposures over time.

The cycle then repeats, so that the process can be considered
dynamic. With this type of risk process in place a company can
create a risk profile that makes optimal use of risk management
tools like derivatives and insurance. The ultimate goal of the
process is, of course, value maximization.

Figure 7.1 summarizes the risk framework.

SPECULATION AND ARBITRAGE

Not all risk-related activities are based on reducing or eliminating
risk. Some firms are in business to actively take risk. Banks,
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‘ Risk philosophy and tolerance ‘

|

| Risk management process ‘

!

—>’ Risk identification ‘
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‘ Risk quantification ‘
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’ Risk management ‘

—{ Risk monitoring ‘

Figure 7.1 The risk management framework

securities firms, insurers, and investment funds, for example, reg-
ularly take risk, as this represents the core of their business and
how they actually make money. They are motivated by specula-
tion and arbitrage rather than pure risk management.

Speculation involves creating a risk position that has the poten-
tial of generating a profit or loss, depending on which way a par-
ticular market or reference asset moves. Unlike hedging or risk
protection, speculative positions are subject to unrealized gains or
losses; once a position matures or is reversed, the gain or loss is
crystallized in the income statement. Thus if ABC Co. believes
that the US stock market is poised to rise, it can create a spec-
ulative position that will benefit from a market rise (and which
will lose if the market falls). Because ABC Co. has no underlying
exposure to the US stock market in its normal core operations, the
transaction is purely speculative.

Arbitrage is another form of risk-taking, though one that is
generally considered less risky than pure speculation. The classic
definition of arbitrage is the simultaneous purchase and sale of
some asset that allows a “riskless” profit to be locked-in. For
instance, if crude oil is trading at $50/barrel in one location and
the same barrel is trading for $50.10/barrel in another location, the
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arbitrage strategy calls for buying the cheaper oil for $50 and
immediately selling the more expensive oil for $50.10, locking in a
$0.10 riskless profit. In practice such arbitrage opportunities are
difficult to find in an era where information is disseminated glob-
ally on an instantaneous basis and technology allows for rapid
trading execution. In fact, arbitrage is generally defined to include
any relatively low-risk strategy that involves the purchase and sale
of similar assets. The intent is not to generate a riskless profit, but
a low-risk profit — one that is more predictable and less volatile
than is possible through pure speculation.

We’ve noted above that insurance contracts provide compensa-
tion in the event that a defined loss occurs; under no circumstances
can insurance — which is a contract of indemnity — be used to
create a profit. Accordingly, firms speculating or arbitraging must
turn to the stocks and bonds we have described earlier in the book,
along with other financial instruments such as foreign exchange.
They can also use derivative contracts based on the same stock,
bond, or currency references.

RISK REFERENCES

Derivatives and insurance can be arranged on a broad range of risk
references, making them suitable for companies from all indus-
tries. In general, derivatives are based on financial risks, while
insurance contracts are based on insurable operating risks. That
said, there are areas of “overlap” that are starting to emerge as the
financial and insurance markets draw closer together.

Derivatives can be bought and sold on any of the following
references:

Equities: Individual stocks, baskets of stocks, and broad indexes
Debt: Money market instruments/rates, government bonds/
rates (e.g. risk-free bonds), and corporate bonds/rates (e.g. risky
bonds)

Currencies: G10 and emerging market currency rates
Commodities: Precious metals (e.g. gold, silver, platinum),
industrial metals (e.g. copper, zinc, aluminum), energy products
(e.g. oil/distillates, natural gas, electricity), agricultural products
(e.g. corn, soybeans, coffee, sugar), commodity indexes, and

157



158

DERIVATIVES AND INSURANCE

other non-commodity references (e.g. inflation, gross domestic
product, weather, catastrophe).

Insurance can be purchased on the following:

e Property and casualty (P&C): Damage/destruction to property
caused by non-catastrophic or catastrophic events, and losses
related to liability

e Business interruption: Temporary loss of business revenues as a
result of non-catastrophic or catastrophic events

e Marine insurance: Damage/destruction to hull, cargo, or
freight, along with liability-related losses
Health and mortality: Long-term disability and death
Automobile: Damage/destruction, bodily injury, and liability.

From a corporate perspective most focus is placed on the P&C,
business interruption, and liability sectors; the health, life/mortal-
ity, and automobile sectors, while of vital importance, relate more
specifically to individual insurance contracting.

INSTRUMENT CHARACTERISTICS: DERIVATIVES

While the derivatives sector is based on a large variety of unique
contracts, we can condense the essential instruments to a more
manageable number that includes over-the-counter (OTC) for-
wards, swaps and options, and exchange-traded (or listed) futures,
options, and futures options. We shall not consider the subclasses
of “exotic” derivatives (e.g. complex swaps and options, structured
notes) as these are beyond our scope. Figure 7.2 summarizes key
types of derivative instruments.

Derivatives have certain features that can make them very
appealing: some contracts are very actively traded and therefore
cost-effective; transactions arranged through the listed market
eliminate credit risk; transactions structured through the OTC
market are highly customizable and flexible; and, contracts serving
as hedges don’t require demonstration of “proof of loss” (as an
insurance contract does). Some risks and disadvantages also exist,
of course: credit risks for OTC transactions can be significant; the
costs for exotic contracts can be high; and bilateral derivative
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Derivatives

OoTC
derivatives

Exchange-traded
derivatives

— Forwards
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— Swaps
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— Options

Figure 7.2 Derivative classes

contracts, like swaps and forwards, expose a firm to

payments.

KEY CHARACTERISTICS

Futures options

downside

Derivatives can be defined by various key characteristics, including
notional, reference asset, maturity strike (for options) and pay-
ment/receipt flows (for swaps/forwards), settlement, and trading

mechanism.

e Notional: The value amount of the transaction being arranged.
This ranges from several million dollars up to $1 billion or
more, depending on the instrument, market, and motivation.
Apart from a few exceptions noted below, the notional amount
of a derivative serves only as a reference to compute amounts
due or payable, and not as an actual sum that is paid or
received. For instance, ABC Co. may decide to arrange a swap
with a notional value of £100 million to hedge its interest rate
risk. It will not exchange the £100 million notional, but use it
to compute the amount that it must pay, or expects to receive,

each period.
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e Reference asset: The specific financial asset to which the con-

tract relates. We have noted above that a derivative can be
arranged on a very broad range of reference assets from the
debt, equity, currency, commodity, non-commodity, and credit
markets. The reference asset must be defined specifically, rather
than generally. Thus, if ABC Co. is arranging a £100 million
notional swap on interest rates, the actual reference rates must
be properly defined, e.g. the company will pay 5 percent £ fixed
rates and receive £ 6-month London Interbank Offered Rate
LIBOR.

Maturity: The duration of the derivative contract. This can
range from overnight to more than ten years, though in prac-
tice most activity takes place in the 1-5 year range. ABC Co.’s
£100 million swap, for instance, might have a five-year matur-
ity, indicating that it is contractually obliged to fulfill the terms
of the deal for the full five years. The maturity of a derivative
contract can sometimes be altered by mutual agreement of the
contracting parties.

Strike/payments/receipts: The relevant financial parameters
that dictate the economic flows of a transaction. A strike price
is used for options contracts, while pay/receive flows are used
for forwards and swaps, as we shall discuss in the next sec-
tion. For example, we have noted that ABC Co.’s swap
involves a payment of 5 percent per year on £100 million
versus receipt of LIBOR. If LIBOR at the end of year 1 sets at
4 percent, ABC Co. pays its counterparty £1 million (£100
million x (4 percent — 5 percent); if LIBOR sets at 6 percent,
ABC Co. receives £1 million (£100 million x (6 percent — 5
percent)).

Settlement: The means by which the underlying economics of a
transaction are settled at maturity. Settlement may be arranged
in physical or financial terms. A physical settlement involves
the actual delivery/acceptance of any asset or instrument that
can be physically conveyed, such as oil, gold, or various types of
financial instruments. A financial settlement involves a pure
exchange of cash value. Thus, in ABC Co.’s £ interest rate
swap, any settlement of the fixed and floating interest rate
flows is done in financial terms. Had ABC Co. sought to hedge
an exposure to copper rather than interest rates, it could have
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selected a physical or financial settlement, depending on its
need for, or access to, physical copper.

e Trading mechanism: The actual forum through which the deri-
vative is arranged, revalued, and terminated. As we shall see
below, this can be done through the OTC market (tele-
phonically or electronically) or through the exchange-traded
market; each trading mechanism has advantages and dis-
advantages. In arranging its swap, ABC Co. uses the OTC
market, negotiating terms and conditions verbally with its
bank, which then documents details through a confirmation.

KEY INSTRUMENTS

We begin our review of derivatives with a look at OTC contracts,
or financial assets that are arranged on a customized basis between
two parties.

OTC DERIVATIVES

OTC derivatives, as the name suggests, are arranged and traded
between two parties on an off-exchange basis. Each contract
represents a customized negotiation of terms and conditions, with
the parties agreeing to specific characteristics related to notional,
term, reference market/asset, payoff profile, and so forth. Since
each contract is tailor-made, liquidity or resaleability may be lower
than in markets where standardization is mandatory (i.e. the
exchange-traded market we consider below). Lack of liquidity
access adds to total costs, as expressed through the bid (buy) and
offer (sell) spread. In fact, some OTC contracts can feature rela-
tively wide spreads, which can impact the economics of a hedge or
speculative trade. However, some OTC contracts, such as standard,
on-market interest rate, currency, and equity derivatives on major
references, feature good liquidity.

Dealing occurs off-exchange (either telephonically or via elec-
tronic communications networks) rather than through formalized
exchanges; though there is no “central forum” for OTC dealing,
most activity is arranged and transacted by major financial insti-
tutions and their clients via the major financial centers of the
world, including New York, Toronto, Chicago, Tokyo, Singapore,
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London, Frankfurt, and Zurich. Since OTC derivatives are arran-
ged between two parties with no intermediate clearinghouse,
aspects of credit risk can arise. Indeed, in the absence of any spe-
cifically negotiated collateral/margin agreement between the two
parties to a transaction, credit exposure arises for one or both
parties (depending on the nature of the contract).

FORWARD

A forward contract is a single-period contract that allows one
party, known as the seller, to sell a reference asset at a forward
price for settlement at a future date, and a second party, the buyer,
to purchase the reference asset at the forward price on the named
date. A forward is considered a bilateral contract since either party
may be obliged to make a payment at maturity. Market terminol-
ogy indicates that the party that has sold the position is “short”
and the one that has bought the position is “long”; this is true of
all other derivative (and financial asset) positions, so we’ll use the
terms throughout this chapter. A notional amount is used as a
reference to compute the amount payable/receivable at maturity;
in fact, the two parties exchange no initial or intervening cash
flows. Settlement of the contract at maturity may be set in physi-
cal or financial terms. If the market price at maturity is greater
than the contracted forward price set at trade date, the buyer
makes a profit and the seller a loss. If the market price is lower
than the forward price, then the seller profits and the buyer loses.
These relationships hold true for all price-based forwards, includ-
ing those involving equities, bonds, indexes, currencies, and com-
modities. The profit positions of generic long and short forwards
are summarized below, and the flows are illustrated in Figure 7.3.

Market price - forward
price on notional N
at maturity t

-“
<«

Forward contract Forward contract
buyer > seller

Forward price — market
price on notional N
at maturity t

Figure 7.3 Forward contract flows
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Table 7.2 describes how the value of long and short forwards
change as the reference asset increases or decreases, while Figures
7.4 through 7.5 depict the same information in graph form.

We’ve noted that forwards can be used to hedge other positions.
To illustrate this in graph form, let’s imagine that ABC Co. has a
short position in some input that it uses in its production. For
instance, the firm may use natural gas to power its assembly lines.
As the price of natural gas rises, the firm suffers from an increase
in its cost of goods sold, meaning its gross profit margins get
squeezed. As the price of gas falls, its cost of goods sold declines,
allowing margins to expand. To hedge this short input position,

Table 7.2 Long/short forward relationships

Position Reference asset | Reference asset |

Long forward Gains value Loses value

Short forward Loses value Gains value
Profit

Market price > Forward price
gain for the buyer of the forward,
loss for the seller of the forward

Agreed forward price \

Asset price

Market price < Forward price
loss for the buyer of the forward,
gain for the seller of the forward

Loss

Figure 7.4 Long forward
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Profit
Market price < Forward price,
loss for the buyer of the forward,
gain for the seller of the forward
Asset price
Agreed forward price
Market price > Forward price,
gain for the buyer of the forward,
loss for the seller of the forward
Loss

Figure 7.5 Short forward

ABC Co. can enter into a forward where it buys natural gas at the
fixed forward price. If gas prices rise, it will suffer on the short
input position but gain on the forward, and if gas prices fall, it will
suffer on the long forward position but gain on its short input
position. The net effect balances out to zero, meaning ABC Co. is
indifferent to the direction of gas prices: it has “locked in” the
natural gas price and therefore crystallizes its profit result. This
relationship is shown in Figure 7.6.

SWAP

The swap, the second major product of the OTC derivatives
market, is a package of forward contracts that mature at successive
periods in the future, until the stated maturity date. Swaps, like
forwards, are bilateral contracts and can be arranged on virtually
any asset from any market sector. While interest rate swaps still
account for the largest share of the market, active dealing occurs in
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equity, currency, commodity, and credit swaps. An emerging market
has also started to appear in swaps based on inflation, macro-
economic indicators (e.g. gross domestic product), real estate, and
weather references (e.g. temperature, precipitation). Maturities in
the swap marketplace range from approximately one to ten years.

Let’s examine the interest rate swap we introduced earlier in the
chapter to illustrate the mechanics of the structure. An interest
rate swap is a contract where one party agrees to pay a fixed
interest rate and a second party agrees to pay a floating rate. The
notional principal is used only to compute flows payable and
receivable at each intervening evaluation period. On each date,
which may be monthly, quarterly, semi-annually, or annually, the
fixed and floating rates are compared and a net payment is arranged
between the two parties. If the floating rate (generally a recognized
index such as LIBOR) is greater than the fixed rate, the floating
rate payer makes a net payment to the fixed rate payer in the
amount of (floating rate — fixed rate) x notional principal. If the

Profit
As price of natural gas As price of natural gas
falls, ABC Co.’s gross falls, ABC Co. forward
profit margins increase hedge increases in value
e N
Profits Profits
and and
losses Natural gas losses
offset price offset
As price of natural gas As price of natural gas
falls, ABC Co. forward falls, ABC Co.’s gross
hedge decreases in value profit margins decrease
Loss

Figure 7.6 Long forward /short asset hedge position
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floating rate is below the fixed rate, the fixed rate payer makes a
payment to the floating rate payer. The process continues to the
next evaluation/settlement period, and so forth, until maturity.
Figure 7.7 illustrates these basic flows.

Let’s again think about how an interest rate swap can be used to
hedge an interest rate exposure. Assume ABC Co. has issued £100
million of five-year floating rate bonds pegged to 6 month £
LIBOR, which currently stands at 5 percent. Let’s also assume that
ABC Co.’s treasurer believes interest rates will rise over the next
five years. In order to guard against higher interest expense (which
would squeeze profits) the company arranges an interest rate swap
hedge with a bank where it pays fixed rates (let’s assume 5 percent
for simplicity) and receives 6 month £ LIBOR over five years; this
is illustrated in Figure 7.8. If LIBOR rises, ABC Co. will pay more
for its LIBOR-based floating rate debt, but will receive a greater
payment from the bank under the swap. So, if LIBOR rises to 6
percent after the first six-month evaluation period, ABC Co. pays
6 percent on its debt, but receives a net 1 percent on the swap (e.g.
6 month £ LIBOR — 5 percent fixed); this means its net cost of
debt is 5 percent (6 percent — 1 percent), which is precisely equal
to the 5 percent fixed rate it is paying on the swap. If the com-
pany’s forecast is wrong and rates fall, it still faces the same 5
percent fixed cost of borrowing. For instance, if LIBOR declines to
4 percent ABC Co. will pay a lower cost on its floating rate debt
but will pay a higher cost on the swap; the two again net out to 5
percent fixed payments. The process then continues for each of the
remaining evaluation periods until maturity in five years. We see
that, regardless of what happens to interest rates, ABC Co. has
hedged itself at a 5 percent fixed rate. These simple scenarios are
illustrated in Table 7.3.

Floating rate on
notional N every x
periods for t years

Fixed rate swap < Fixed rate swap
payer (floating rate receiver (floating rate
receiver) payer)

A

Fixed rate on
notional N every x
periods for t years

Figure 7.7 Interest rate swap flows
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OPTION

An option, the third major type of OTC derivative, is a contract
that gives the purchaser the right, but not the obligation, to buy
(call option) or sell (put option) a reference asset at a particular
price (known as the strike price). The option buyer can exercise
their rights under the contact at any time until an agreed expiry
date (American option), on the expiry date (European option), or

6 month £
LIBOR on
£100m for
5 years
-—
ABC Co. Bank
E—
5% fixed on
£100m for
5 years
6 month £
LIBOR on
£100m for
5 years
Investors in

ABC Co.’s 5 year,
£100m 6 month £
LIBOR floating
rate note

Figure 7.8 ABC Co.’s fixed/floating swap hedge

Table 7.3 ABC Co.’s net cost of debt

LIBOR  (a) Cost of floating  (b) Gain/loss on swap ~ Net cost of debt
scenario  rate debt (LIBOR) (LIBOR — 5% fixed) (a) — (b)

3% 3% —2% 5%
4% 4% 1% 5%
5% 5% 0% 5%
6% 6% +1% 5%

7% 7% +2% 5%
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on specified dates up to expiry (Bermudan option). In exchange for
this right the buyer pays the seller a premium payment. By
accepting the premium the option seller has an obligation (rather
than a right) to sell (call) or buy (put) the underlying asset at the
strike price if the option is exercised. These flows are illustrated in
Figures 7.9 and 7.10.

If the buyer of a call option exercises (e.g. the price of the
underlying reference asset is above the strike price), it delivers the
required amount of cash, which is defined by the strike price x
number of units, and receives the underlying asset.

So, if ABC Co. purchases a call for $1,000 of premium that
allows it to buy 1000 barrels of crude oil at a strike price of $50/
barrel it will be economically advantageous for the firm to exercise
whenever the price of oil rises above $50. Let’s assume the price of
oil rises to $55. ABC Co. exercises the call option against the
seller, and delivers $50,000 of cash in exchange for 1000 barrels of
oil. Of course, the 1000 barrels of oil are actually worth $55,000 in
today’s market (i.e. the market price is $55/barrel), so ABC Co.
has a $5,000 profit on the position; the net profit is equal to $4,000
since the $1,000 premium payment must be deducted. The seller of
the option is obliged to supply the 1000 barrels of oil and accept

. Premium .
Call option 3 Call option
buyer seller

Reference
asset equal to
number of units

(—
Call option Call option

buyer - 5 seller
Cash equal to

strike price X
number of units

Figure 7.9 Call option flows: initial and exercise
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the $50,000 of cash in exchange. ABC Co. may actually liquidate
the asset in the marketplace at the higher prevailing market price,
or it may hold the asset for future use. In practice the option is often
settled financially, with no physical exchange of the underlying
asset (e.g. barrels of oil). Naturally, if the price of oil falls below
$50/barrel, the option has no value to ABC Co. as it can buy oil in
the current market for less than the strike price of the option. If
this happens, ABC Co. lets the option expire and the seller has no
further performance obligation. To help understand the economics
of the call position we can examine payoff profiles for ABC Co. as
the call buyer and the bank as the call seller; these are illustrated
in Figures 7.11 and 7.12. It’s worth noting the tradeoffs: ABC Co.
has a known downside loss (i.e. premium paid) and unlimited
profit potential as the price of oil rises, while the bank has a lim-
ited gain (i.e. premium received) but potentially unlimited liability
as the price of oil rises. The bank hopes, of course, that the price of
oil will remain stable at $50 or actually decline, since it won't have
any payment obligation and can keep the entire premium. This
payoff reveals the unilateral nature of the option contract.

A put option gives the buyer the right, but not the obligation, to
sell a specified asset at a pre-determined strike price. The buyer

Premium
Put option 3 Put option
buyer seller
Cash equal to
strike price X
number of units
-—
Put option Put option
buyer - 5 seller
Reference asset

equal to number
of units

Figure 7.10 Put option flows: initial and exercise
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Profit
Increasing gain
to ABC Co. as oil

prices rise
Strike price $5000 |--------- .
$50/barrel \ |
$1000 premium { ; $55 Oil price

paid by ABC Co.

Loss

Figure 7.11 Long call option

Profit

$1000 premium
received by bank i $55

Oil price
~$5000 |- ‘

Increasing liability
for the bank as oil
Loss prices rise

Strike price
$50/barrel

Figure 7.12 Short call option

will exercise the put option when the market price is below the
strike price, delivering the asset to the seller in exchange for the
required amount of cash. So, if ABC Co. purchases a put option
from a bank for $10,000 in premium that lets it sell 1,000 oz of
gold at $400/0z it will exercise when the price of gold falls below
$400/0z. Let’s assume that the price of gold falls to $375/0z. In
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this case ABC Co. can exercise the put option, delivering 1,000 oz
of gold to the bank in exchange for $400,000. The bank, as put
option seller, is obliged to acquire the gold by delivering cash. If
ABC Co. didn’t have the put option and needed to sell the gold in
the current market, it would only be able to do so for $375,000;
this means that the option has created a $25,000 gain for the
company. Again, if the price of gold remains above the strike of
$400/0z, ABC Co. will be better off selling the gold in the current
market, meaning it will simply abandon the option; in this case the
bank gets to keep the full $10,000 of premium. We can again
summarize these payoff relationships via Figures 7.13 and 7.14.

Table 7.4 summarizes the discussion above by describing how
the value of long and short calls and puts change as the value of
the reference asset increases or decreases.

EXCHANGE-TRADED DERIVATIVES

Exchange-traded (or listed) derivatives — which include futures,
options, and futures options — comprise the second major segment
of the derivatives market. Exchange-traded derivatives can be used
to achieve many of the same goals as OTC contracts, often at a
cheaper cost, but with less structural flexibility. All trading occurs

Increasing gain Profit

to ABC Co. as gold

prices fall
oo $25,000 Strike price
; / $400/0z
Gold $375 i } $10,000 premium
price paid by ABC Co.

Loss

Figure 7.13 Long put option
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Profit

$10,000 premium
$375 : } received by the bank

Gold
price :
A -$25,000

Strike price
$400/0z
Increasing liability to
the bank as gold L
prices fall 0ss
Figure 7.14 Short put option
Table 7.4 Long/short options relationships
Position Reference asset value | Reference asset value |
Long call Gains value Loses value (but loss is
limited to premium paid)
Short call ~ Loses value Gains value (but gain is
limited to premium earned)
Long put Loses value (but loss is Gains value
limited to premium paid)
Short put Gains value (but gain is Loses value

limited to premium earned)

through regulated exchanges (which is distinct from the largely
unregulated OTC market), such as the Chicago Mercantile
Exchange, the Chicago Board of Trade, the New York Mercantile
Exchange, Eurex, Euronext, and the Tokyo Commodity Exchange,
among others (indeed, more than 400 registered exchanges exist
around the world); some of these exchanges specialize in financial
derivatives, others in commodities, and a few in both. An exchange,
which may be publicly, privately, or mutually (member-) owned,
is counterparty to every trade (either directly or via its clearing-
house). Trading may be conducted physically (by open outcry), or
electronically, through matching systems. Most exchanges have
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migrated to electronic platforms, and even the remaining physical
exchanges feature electronic off-hours capabilities.

The buyer of a listed contract faces the exchange as its selling
counterparty, while the seller faces the exchange as its buying coun-
terparty. Each buyer and seller dealing with the exchange is required
to post initial margin (or security) with the clearinghouse to protect
against possible credit losses. The initial margin is evaluated by the
clearinghouse every day based on a client’s open positions, and addi-
tional calls for margin may be made if a particular maintenance level
is breached as a result of losses. Since the exchange serves as coun-
terparty and participants must post margin, the counterparty credit
risk that characterizes many OTC derivative contracts is eliminated;
this is one of the central advantages of the listed marketplace.

All contracts listed on an exchange are standardized, meaning
trade details cannot be customized as in the OTC market. All buyers
and sellers deal in the same trading size/units, contract months/
maturity, delivery date, deliverable asset, and settlement style.
This homogeneity leads to a greater critical mass of liquidity, mean-
ing the cost of arranging a hedge or speculative position can be
lower than in the OTC market. Indeed, hedgers and speculators are
attracted by the tight dealing spreads that characterize very liquid
contracts. Exchange contracts are generally subject to maximum
daily price movements, meaning that if buying or selling pressures
become too extreme, the exchange can impose price bands lasting
for a period of minutes or hours (or even an entire trading ses-
sion); it may also increase margin requirements to ensure suffi-
cient security. No such price limits exist in the OTC market.

FUTURE

A future is a bilateral contract that allows one party, the seller, to
sell a particular reference asset at a forward price for settlement at
a future date, and the second party, the buyer, to purchase the
reference asset at the forward price on the named date. Based on
this description, the futures contract appears to be identical to the
forward contract discussed above. In fact, the payoff profiles of the
two instruments are precisely the same, so the illustrations in
Figures 7.4 and 7.5 are applicable to both futures and forwards. In
fact, the example of ABC Co. arranging a forward contract to
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hedge natural gas exposure can be replicated by substituting a
natural gas futures contract in place of the forward; the ultimate
economic outcome will be the same. However, as a result of the
exchange mechanism, a futures position calls for a daily settlement
of cash flows rather than a single settlement of cash flows at
maturity: each futures position is revalued by the clearinghouse at
the close of each trading day, and a net settlement is made in favor
of the party holding the day’s gain. So, if the market price at the
end of the day is greater than the price at the start of the day, the
buyer posts a profit and the seller a loss (and vice-versa if the
market price falls). This means that a futures contract does not
permit unrealized gains/losses to accumulate, but ensures that
they are realized at the end of each trading day. Futures can be
settled in physical or financial terms, and the precise settlement
mechanism is specified as part of a contract’s standardized features.
Contract maturities vary, but typically span 1 month to 1 quarter.
The most active futures references may be listed concurrently on a
monthly or quarterly cycle out to several years (e.g. LIBOR/
Eurodollar futures, S&P 500 futures, Brent crude futures).

OPTION AND FUTURES OPTION

The listed market features options that function much like the OTC
options described above. In fact, there is no difference between the
two contracts, apart from the general characteristics that distinguish
listed products from OTC products. Accordingly, ABC Co. can
choose to use an exchange-traded crude oil option or gold option
rather than the OTC equivalent when crafting its hedging strategy.
In fact, exchange options on actively quoted references such as oil
and gold are often a cheaper alternative, but may also be less sui-
table with regard to precise maturity and strike parameters. ABC
Co. must therefore weigh the relative costs and benefits of the two
classes before deciding which is appropriate. A unique subset of the
listed options market centers on futures options, which are options
that give the buyer the right to buy or sell an underlying futures
contract, and which require the seller to accept or deliver the futures
contract upon exercise; this can be viewed as a type of compound
derivative (i.e. a derivative on another derivative). The long and
short futures options positions are summarized in Table 7.5.
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Table 7.5 Futures options positions

Position If exercised. . .

Long futures call  Buyer acquires a futures contract at strike price

Long futures put  Buyer sells a futures contract at strike price

Short futures call ~Seller obligated to sell a futures contract at strike price

Short futures put  Seller obligated to acquire a futures contract at strike
price

Table 7.6 Primary differences between exchange-traded and OTC derivatives

Exchange-traded OTC
Terms Standardized Customized
Trading forum Central exchange OTC (telephonic or
(physical or electronic) electronic)
Price transparency Good Poor/fair
Liquidity Reasonable/strong Limited/fair
Credit exposure  Negligible Possibly significant unless
collateralized
Margins Required None unless negotiated
Settlement Generally closed-out  Generally held until maturity
Regulation Regulated Largely unregulated

The key differences between OTC and exchange-traded derivatives
are summarized in Table 7.6.

INSTRUMENT CHARACTERISTICS: INSURANCE

The insurance sector, like the derivatives sector, features a large
number of instruments that can be used to transfer risks from
companies (which become “cedants” or “insureds”) to insurance
companies (insurers). In order to preserve our corporate focus we’ll
consider the essential contracts that are used to transfer corporate
operating risks; we won’t consider the very significant life, health,
and auto insurance sectors, though many of the same concepts we
discuss below are equally applicable to them.

KEY CHARACTERISTICS

Before delving into the key characteristics that define any insur-
ance contract, we must first consider several concepts related to
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insurance contracting. This is important because insurance con-
tracts are intended to cover pure, rather than speculative, risks — a
fundamental feature that distinguishes insurance from derivatives.

In order for a contract to be considered insurance, it must
usually feature the following:

e The contract must cover an insurable risk with respect to a
fortuitous event — an event that is unforeseen, unexpected, or
accidental.

e A large number of similar risk exposures must exist so that
insurers can measure the exposure with some degree of
accuracy.

e The cedant must have an insurable interest and demonstrate
proof of actual economic loss if a defined event occurs; this
ensures that the cedant receives compensation for losses and
cannot create a profit.

e The risk of loss must be specifically transferred under a contract
providing indemnity (i.e. financial restitution if a loss occurs)
and it must involve the payment of an insurance premium.

e The right of subrogation must exist, meaning that the cedant
must agree to transfer to the insurer any loss recovery rights.

A company can transfer any amount of risk it chooses through
insurance. A company that is risk-averse can transfer all of its risk,
though it may be expensive to do so. Conversely, one that is less
risk-averse may choose to transfer only a fractional portion. This
is part of the cost-benefit analysis that the financial manager must
undertake during the planning process.

Every insurance contract is defined by several key character-
istics, including policy size (cap), premium, deductible, coinsurance,
coverage and exclusions, and coverage period.

e Dolicy size (cap): The amount of insurance coverage being
arranged, which can range from several million dollars up to $1
billion or more, depending on the specific property being
insured and the nature of the risk exposure. The smaller the
size of the policy in relation to the amount of exposure, the
greater the amount of risk the cedant retains. For instance, ABC
Co. may arrange P&C insurance based on a policy size of £300
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million to protect against fire damage/destruction at one of its
factories. Subject to the deductibles and coinsurance described
below, ABC Co. will receive a maximum of £300 million in
restitution if a fire occurs and damages or destroys its factory.

Premium: The amount the ceding company must pay the
insurer for the policy. The premium is generally payable
annually and is quoted in value terms (e.g. $ or £). Once the
premium is paid, the contract is activated and the company is
protected by the insurer under the terms defined in the policy.
For example, ABC Co. may pay a £500,000 premium for £300
million of fire insurance coverage.

Deductible: The amount of initial losses the cedant bears before
the insurance coverage becomes effective. The deductible can
range from a very small amount of the policy size up to 20
percent or more. The greater the deductible, the more risk the
cedant retains (and the lower the premium, since the cedant
bears more of the first losses); conversely, the smaller the
deductible, the less risk the cedant retains (and the higher the
premium). Under its £300 million fire insurance policy ABC
Co. may be willing to bear a reasonable amount of the initial
losses, setting a deductible of £5 million. This means that if fire
strikes and causes £25 million of damage to the company’s
plant and equipment, the net restitution to ABC Co. will
amount to £20 million (e.g. £25 million of losses minus the £5
million deductible). If ABC Co. were more risk averse, it might
set a deductible of £1 million, receiving restitution after bearing
only £1 million of losses.

Coinsurance (copay): The amount of losses that the cedant and
insurer agree to share. Coinsurance can range from 0 percent to
more than 50 percent, though cedants willing to include coin-
surance generally set a range of 10-20 percent. The larger the
coinsurance, the greater the cedant’s retention of risk and the
lower the policy premium. Conversely, the lower the coin-
surance, the greater the cedant’s risk transfer and the higher
the premium. ABC Co. may choose a 10 percent coinsurance on
its fire policy. Assuming it also has a £5 million deductible,
then £25 million of losses will result in net restitution to ABC
Co. of £18 million (e.g. £25 million of losses minus £5 million
deductible = £20 million x 90 percent = £18 million).
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e Coverage and exclusions: The precise terms of risk coverage,
including any events or circumstances under which the cedant
is not covered. Coverage includes a detailed definition of the
perils that can create losses for which the cedant will be
indemnified. Exclusions, in contrast, delineate any specific or
general circumstances under which losses are not indemnified.
The broader the coverage and the narrower the exclusions, the
greater the risk transfer and the larger the premium; the nar-
rower the coverage and the broader the exclusions, the lower
the risk transfer and the smaller the premium. For instance,
ABC Co.’s policy may cover against all damage or destruction
caused by an incidence of fire in designated locations (e.g. the
company’s factories and warehouses). But it may exclude cov-
erage for business interruption, or the amount of business lost
as a result of the company’s inability to use its plant and
equipment if fire creates damage/destruction.

e Coverage period: The period during which the insurance coverage
is effective. In nearly all cases insurance policies are written for a
twelve-month period, after which the cedant and insurer can re-
evaluate terms, conditions, and requirements and decide whether
coverage renewal is necessary (and, if it is, at what premium).

The characteristics noted above are usually included as declarations
in the insurance policy, which also contains important information
on the actual property being insured.

KEY INSTRUMENTS/CONTRACTS

Since insurance is a risk transfer mechanism, the actual amount of
risk transferred from cedant to insurer depends largely on how the
characteristics noted above are defined. Policies may be created so
that they transfer very little risk; these are more appropriately
described as risk retention policies. Those that transfer some
amount of risk are considered partial insurance contracts, while
those resulting in a significant transfer are known as full insurance
contracts. Several other products, including loss financing contracts
and captives, join these contracts.

Figure 7.15 illustrates these instruments/contracts in relation to
the amount of risk retained or transferred.



DERIVATIVES AND INSURANCE

Insurance
{ NoMinjmom ¢ | | Maximum |
i risktransfer | i risk transfer |
Full risk Intermediate Full risk
— retention retention/transfer transfer
products products products
Partial Standard Full
— insurance insurance insurance
contracts contracts contracts

Loss sensitive
contracts

— Captives

Figure 7.15 Insurance classes

FULL INSURANCE

A full insurance contract is a maximum risk transfer contract
where the cedant’s goal is to shift as much insurable exposure as
possible. Following from our discussion above, full insurance is
created by crafting a policy with a small (or even no) deductible, a
large policy limit, limited (or no) coinsurance, and limited (or no)
exclusions. In creating this kind of contract the cedant pays a
maximum premium payment (cost) in exchange for what it per-
ceives to be greater risk transfer advantages (benefit). Assume
ABC Co. wants full insurance coverage on its £300 million of fire
exposure and is willing to pay a high premium if necessary. It can
structure a policy with a £300 million limit, no deductible, no
exclusions, and no coinsurance. If a fire strikes and causes £150
million of losses from destroyed property and £150 million of
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losses from business interruption, ABC Co. receives restitution
equal to the full £300 million.

STANDARD INSURANCE

A standard insurance contract is an intermediate risk transfer
mechanism where the cedant retains some amount of exposure and
transfers the balance. As we might expect, drafting a policy with a
moderate deductible, a moderate policy limit, certain exclusions
and perhaps a modest coinsurance feature creates this type of
structure. In exchange for obtaining a standard level of coverage,
the cedant accepts more risk and therefore pays a lower premium.
Let’s extend the example above by noting that ABC Co. is now
willing to accept a larger amount of risk on its £300 million of fire
exposure in exchange for paying a smaller premium. Accordingly,
it sets a deductible of £10 million and lowers the policy limit to
£275 million; it decides not to set any exclusions, but agrees on a 5
percent coinsurance level. If the same fire event noted above
occurs, ABC Co.’s total restitution amounts to £251.75 million, or
£48.25 million less than under the full insurance policy. The lower
figure results from the fact that the company sets the maximum
loss coverage at £275 million (meaning the additional £25 million
of losses that occur are excluded), it bears the first losses of £10
million through the deductible, and then receives 95 percent,
rather than 100 percent, of the remaining losses as a result of the
coinsurance. In estimating, on an ex-ante basis, whether the cost-
benefit ratio is acceptable, ABC Co. must weigh the amount of
premium saved by moving from full to standard insurance against
the potential losses that it might have to fund should an insurable
event actually occur.

PARTIAL INSURANCE

A partial insurance contract transfers the smallest amount of risk
from cedant to insurer. This structure, which is best suited for
companies that are not as risk-averse as those purchasing standard
or full insurance, features a very large deductible and perhaps
moderate policy limit, significant exclusions and high coinsurance.
It's relatively easy to see that under the partial insurance structure
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the ceding company bears the largest amount of first losses, faces
limited coverage in the event of very large losses, may have no
coverage if certain excluded events come into play, and must share
in any losses that arise. In exchange for this relatively small level
of coverage, the company pays a much smaller premium. In the
most extreme version of our example, let’s assume that ABC Co. is
interested in accepting even more risk (i.e. transferring less risk) in
exchange for paying a relatively small premium. Accordingly, it
sets a £250 million policy limit, raises the deductible to £20 mil-
lion, increases coinsurance to 10 percent, and excludes from the
policy losses created by business interruption. Once again, if the
event described above occurs, ABC Co. will now receive restitution
of only £117 million, or £183 million less than the actual loss
sustained. The £150 million of losses attributable to the business
interruption component are excluded from coverage, lowering the
maximum amount payable to ABC Co. to £150 million. However,
the company selected a £20 million deductible (lowering coverage
to £130 million) and a coinsurance level of 10 percent (lowering
coverage by a further £13 million to £117 million). Again, ABC
Co.’s expectation is that the premium savings it expects over time
will outweigh any possible losses arising from what should be a
relatively rare event.

These simple examples indicate that the optimal amount of
insurance that a company like ABC Co. should purchase is a
function of the cost of coverage (premium) and the expected ben-
efits (coverage) should an event occur. Preparing different loss
scenarios is a key part of the financial planning process, and allows
a firm’s management to develop strategies that are in line with its
cost-benefit estimates and its risk tolerance levels. The process of
converting full insurance coverage to partial insurance coverage is
summarized in Figure 7.16.

LOSS SENSITIVE CONTRACT

A loss sensitive contract is a partial insurance contract with pre-
miums that depend on previous loss experience. Loss sensitive
contracts are different from conventional insurance contracts as
premiums are related to losses that occur during a specified period
and claims are typically not determined until some period of time
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Figure 7.16 Converting full insurance to partial insurance

has passed. It is common under a loss sensitive contract for the
insurer to cover a cedant’s entire loss before determining, and then
receiving, premium. For instance, ABC Co. may purchase an
experienced-rated fire insurance policy where the premium it pays
the insurer is a function of its past loss experience: the greater the
losses and claims in previous periods, the greater the premium,
and vice-versa. Or, ABC Co. may choose a retrospectively rated
policy where it pays the insurer an initial premium and, depending
on the occurrence/size of any fire-related losses, makes an addi-
tional premium payment (if a claim arises) or receives a refund (if
no claims arise).

CAPTIVE

A captive is a company-owned (or controlled) insurance subsidiary
that is used to facilitate a company’s insurance program; it can be
thought of as an in-house insurance company. The company (also
known as a sponsor) provides capital to commence the operation,
receiving interest and/or dividends in exchange. The captive then
insures the company directly by accepting premium to absorb
particular types of risks. Though the nature and operation of cap-
tives varies, the focus is generally on high-frequency/low-severity
risks — the highly predictable exposures for which this form of
“self-insurance” can be a cost-effective alternative. For instance,
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Figure 7.17 Structure of a captive

ABC Co., facing a certain amount of predictable claims from its
employee health program, may decide that it is too expensive to
purchase conventional insurance coverage. Accordingly, it can
create a captive as a “self insurance” fund, paying premium to the
captive and receiving coverage on the employee health claims. By
doing so it is able to achieve some level of cost savings and retain
all cash flows within the corporate structure. Figure 7.17 illustrates
the structure of the captive.
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CORPORATE FINANCE

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

In this final chapter of Part II we alter our focus from products and
instruments designed to directly fulfill funding, investment or risk
management goals, to specific financial transactions intended to
boost enterprise value and meet other strategic, profit, or market
share goals. We shall begin by discussing the uses of corporate
finance and then examine the key characteristics of the most
common transactions, including mergers, acquisitions, leveraged
(management) buyouts, spin-offs, recapitalizations and buybacks.
We will then review the general process by which corporate
finance deals are valued, and conclude by examining the challenges
a company faces in arranging a transaction.

USES OF CORPORATE FINANCE

Corporate finance, which includes a broad range of financial engi-
neering deals that can be used to alter the structure and scope of a
company’s operations, is a central part of long-term financial
planning. The decision to acquire, or merge with, another com-
pany, sell a piece of the company, or restructure the capital base is
achieved only after considerable planning and analysis. Corporate
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finance transactions, which are generally complex to arrange and
execute, cannot be done as part of short-term, or tactical, opera-
tions. They are part of the long-term planning process, and must
often be sanctioned by the board of directors and, in some cases,
shareholders.

We'll examine fundamental corporate finance transactions in
more detail later in the chapter to gain an understanding of uses
and challenges. We begin, however, with some basic definitions:

e Merger: A transaction where one company combines with
another company on a relatively equal basis to create a “new”
company.

e Acquisition: A transaction where one company buys another
company.

e Leveraged (management) buyout: A transaction where a pub-
licly listed company takes itself private by borrowing to pur-
chase outstanding shares.

e Spin-off: A transaction where a company sells one or more of
its units or divisions to the public (in an IPO) or to a third
party (in a private equity transaction).

e Recapitalization: A transaction where a company restructures
its capital base, sometimes dramatically.

Each one of these may be driven by slightly different motivations.
All, however, are intended ultimately to enhance stakeholder
value. Let’s consider some of the key reasons why a company like
ABC Co. might consider arranging a “generic” corporate finance
transaction.

e Expanding product/market share: ABC Co., an established
company with a full product line, may be reaching a point in its
product and market cycle where it can no longer grow simply
by adding more workers or equipment. To continue its expan-
sion it may need to look to new geographic areas in the same
industry or it may absorb other parts of the production chain.
By acquiring or merging with another company, ABC Co. has
the potential for increasing its revenue base more rapidly and
efficiently. New revenue growth can appear when one of the
two companies brings human resource skills, intellectual property,



CORPORATE FINANCE

product lines, or physical assets that are so special that they
cannot be readily replicated within the other company. In some
cases the combination of two companies can produce growth
through “synergies” — the creation of new cross-market pro-
ducts or services that can only be done by joining two different
firms. Growth through expansion may be the best solution for
ABC Co.’s shareholders — particularly if it cannot find any
compelling positive NPV projects. If the company can identify
the right partner, it may be able to use its capital more effi-
ciently than if it simply pays its shareholders a special one-time
dividend; remember, dividends are taxable in many systems, so
shareholders may not be receiving the best possible value if
ABC Co. returns, rather than externally reinvests, funds.
Creating earnings stability: We have already noted that the
worth of a company can decline when earnings are volatile or
unpredictable. Investors don’t like surprises, and if the earnings
stream cannot be relied on to some degree, the company’s stock
will trade at a lower price. ABC Co. may be able to dampen its
earnings volatility by acquiring, or merging with, a company
that has a different pattern of earnings. This goal can only be
achieved, however, if ABC Co. and its partner company have
different earnings cycles; if they have the same cycle, the
earnings volatility effect will be compounded, as illustrated in
Figure 8.1.

Reducing costs: Though ABC Co. may be managing its costs as
efficiently as possible, it may find opportunities to create even
greater cost savings by combining with another company. We
recall from Chapter 2 that a company can increase its enterprise
value by reducing cost of goods sold, SG&A expenses, and
other operating expenses. Economies of scale, which arise when
large producers negotiate large (and cheaper) input purchases
and eliminate duplicative resources (e.g. personnel, real estate,
technology), are a key driver of cost savings. Cost savings can
also be achieved by divesting inefficient operations. Tax benefits
may also factor into the process. For instance, a profitable
company that buys an unprofitable company with accumulated
tax loss carry forwards can reduce its tax liability. This, how-
ever, is a finite benefit, so it should be considered as an ancillary
gain rather than a primary driver.
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Figure 8.1 Earnings cycles and earnings stability

e Acquiring intellectual property: ABC Co. may want to expand

its product line into areas that require a higher degree of tech-
nical specialization and knowledge. While it may be able to do
so through “organic” development, i.e. adding technical cap-
abilities by hiring individuals with the proper mix of skills, it
can also use a corporate finance transaction, such as an acquisi-
tion or merger, to obtain the same level of intellectual exper-
tise. The benefit of obtaining intellectual property via a merger
or acquisition is speed: rather than waiting for years for the
proper base of intellectual property to develop through hiring/
training, ABC Co. can gain the advantage it seeks very rapidly.
This can lead to shorter product development times, and
quicker revenue and profit results.

Altering the capital structure: ABC Co. may wish to change its
capital structure, either by increasing equity if it believes it has
too much debt, or increasing debt if it believes that it is not
taking full advantage of the tax shield generated by bonds and
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loans. In more extreme scenarios it may increase its debt dra-
matically to purchase outstanding shares and take the company
private; this is the initial step in an LBO, which must then be
accompanied by radical internal cost restructuring. It can also
use other corporate finance techniques to accomplish this goal,
such as arranging a buyback of its stock (which increases
leverage), acquiring a company with low levels of debt (which
decreases leverage), or divesting a portion of the company
(which injects cash and allows debt to be reduced). The end
result should be a capital structure that is optimized with
respect to the firm’s overall cost of capital.

As we've said, each of these factors tells us why companies use
corporate finance techniques. Of course the ultimate measure of
whether or not a transaction is useful becomes evident in enter-
prise value: if a company can increase its worth by acquiring
intellectual property, altering capital, gaining market share, and so
forth, then the financial decision-making process is likely to sup-
port a deal. That said, corporate finance transactions can be difficult
and complex to arrange; we'll discuss some of the potential pitfalls
at the end of the chapter.

TRANSACTION CHARACTERISTICS

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

Mergers and acquisitions (M&A) are the most common form of
corporate finance transaction. Let’s begin with a review of acquisi-
tions. An acquisition, as the name suggests, occurs when one
company buys another company outright. In most cases this
means a larger and stronger company buys a smaller one, though
in some instances the reverse can happen. An acquisition can be
arranged within or outside the industry, depending on the specific
goal the acquiring firm is attempting to achieve. For instance, if
ABC Co. wants to gain market share within its own product line of
specialty goods, it may decide to acquire rival company XYZ Co.,
which makes the same goods; this is known as horizontal integra-
tion. The “new” ABC Co. will thus have a larger market share in
specialty goods than it did before the acquisition. Alternatively,
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ABC Co. may be interested in expanding its production chain by
acquiring its key raw material supplier, Acme Supply. This is a
form of vertical integration. Though ABC Co.’s market share
won't immediately increase as a result of the Acme purchase, it
will give the company an opportunity to control more parts of its
input and production processes, perhaps allowing it to drive down
costs. If it wants to continue expanding vertically, it may then
acquire a product transportation and distribution company,
Transport Co. Again, by combining Transport Co.’s operations
into its own, ABC Co. may be able to achieve greater operating
efficiencies. Efficiencies can lead to lower operating costs, larger
earnings, and greater enterprise value. Since boosting enterprise
value is a key corporate goal, ABC Co.’s management must be
very certain that it can actually achieve the efficiencies and cost
savings proposed through the acquisition before it commits
resources.

While many acquisitions are based on horizontal or vertical
integration, some are based on conglomeration. This occurs when a
company purchases a firm operating in an entirely unrelated
industry, and is intended to diversify the firm’s revenue base. For
instance, ABC Co. may want to expand its revenue base from
specialty goods to consulting services in order to protect its earn-
ings should demand for specialty goods decline during the next
business cycle. After much analysis of Consult Inc.’s business and
earnings, it may conclude that Consult Inc. can provide the proper
earnings protection during particular market cycles and proceed to
buy the firm. It’s worth noting that some conglomerations are
successful and others are not. The market may not be convinced of
a company’s ability to properly manage and integrate an unrelated
firm into its overall operations, and may “penalize” the acquiring
company’s stock by assigning it a lower value (i.e. it may value the
ABC Co. + Consult Inc. combination lower than the sum of the
individual parts). In extreme situations an acquiring company that
cannot generate proper shareholder value may have to divest its
unrelated companies. Major types of acquisitions are shown in
Figure 8.2.

An acquisition can be arranged in various ways. For instance,
the acquiring company (e.g. ABC Co.) can buy the shares of the
target company (e.g. Acme Supply Co.) for cash. Or, it can use its
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own shares, or a mix of shares and debt, to acquire the target.
Though less common, the acquirer can purchase the majority of
the target company’s assets (rather than the whole company); this
tends to occur primarily when the target is in a financially
weakened state but has certain assets with value.

An acquisition can be arranged on friendly or hostile terms. A
friendly acquisition, which is the most common deal type, occurs
when the executives and directors of the acquiring company and
the target company agree to a transaction. In such cases the target
company’s board of directors recommends to its investors that
they accept the deal.

A hostile acquisition (or takeover) occurs when the target com-
pany wants to remain independent, doesn’t like the terms of the
deal, or would prefer to merge with, or be acquired by, another
firm. While these transactions are rather more rare, they do occur -
and often become the focus of activity by risk arbitrageurs, or
speculators who take positions in one or both stocks based on their
views on whether or not a deal will occur. The law in many
countries provides for certain legal anti-takeover defenses that are
designed to provide a modicum of protection again unwelcome
approaches. However, these defenses (which may include “poison
pills,” or legal clauses that trigger post-acquisition asset sales or

Supplier
company
Non-competitor
companies B
Distributing
company
Conglomeration Vertical
integration
Competitor Acquiring Competitor
company company company

Horizontal integration

Figure 8.2 Horizontal and vertical acquisitions
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other value-destroying measures) are not always sufficient to deter
a full battle. The target company may ultimately succumb, force a
proxy fight (i.e. a vote by shareholders on whether to proceed), or
find a more appropriate suitor to take a minority stake or majority
stake in the company.

A merger occurs when two companies, of roughly equal size and
strength, combine their operations and create a new company. The
motivations follow along the lines described above (i.e. vertical or
horizontal expansion or conglomeration to boost enterprise value,
cost savings from duplicative efforts). For instance, ABC Co. and
one of its main rivals, JKL Inc., may decide to join forces in order
to create a dominant market position and generate cost savings. If
we assume the two companies are of roughly the same size and
market share, the transaction may be considered a “merger of
equals,” yielding an entirely new firm comprised of the consolidated
operations of the two.

Government anti-trust regulators scrutinize very large deals to
make sure that no unfair competitive advantages appear (i.e. those
that might be created by forming a substantial, market-dominating
firm). Regulators are very wary of transactions that create mono-
poly power (i.e. one large seller of goods or services in the market)
or oligopoly power (i.e. a few large sellers of goods or services in
the market) as these can lead to unfair pricing practices that hurt
consumers. They may also scrutinize transactions that yield firms
with monopsony or oligopsony power (i.e. one or several large
buyers of goods or services); these can, again, create price distortions.

LEVERAGED BUYOUTS

A leveraged buyout (LBO), sometimes known as a management
buyout (MBO), is another common form of corporate finance
transaction. An LBO is arranged when a public company, with
shares listed on an exchange, is “taken private” — that is, all of the
shares held by the public are purchased by a small group of the
company’s managers and the stock is de-listed from the exchange.
Once the company is private it no longer needs to answer to a
broad base of shareholders regarding performance and strategy
issues. The team taking the company private need only satisfy a
small number of stakeholders, primarily those that are financing
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the deal. This increased operating flexibility is a key benefit of the
LBO deal.

Firms that require significant financial restructuring are good
LBO candidates. Companies that have little debt, a relatively high
cost base (i.e. they have operating inefficiencies), and a mature and
recognized product base generally fit in this category. The strategy
behind the LBO is to repurchase outstanding shares from investors
by using a great deal of borrowed money (hence the term “lever-
aged” in LBO) and then begin a multi-year (3-5 year) program of
reshaping the operating structure of the firm. This centers on
reducing the cost of goods sold and operating/SG&A expenses
dramatically, introducing new efficiencies, and perhaps realigning
or eliminating product lines that no longer produce the desired
margins. In some cases entire portions of the company may be sold
to generate cash for eventual repayment of debt.

Since the firm’s interest expense becomes so much greater,
reducing all other costs is an essential part of a successful deal. In
addition, a scheduled reduction in debt is typically mandated so
that the burden of leverage becomes increasingly manageable. The
end goal of the successful LBO is realized after the restructuring
program is completed: the newly restructured company, which
may still have a reasonably large amount of debt but a leaner cost
structure and a more focused operation, is either recapitalized
through an IPO or is sold to a third party (e.g. another company).
In either case, the equity or cash that is raised is used to pay down
the remaining debt, and the new company that ultimately emerges
is financially strong. The LBO group sponsoring the deal generates
its own profit from the sale proceeds.

So, who provides the initial debt that is needed to buy the shares
and take the company private? Many large banks have dedicated
lending groups that specialize in financing LBOs, generally by
taking some of the company’s assets as security. These banks
receive interest on the loans that they extend to the management
group, and may also receive some upside participation when the
company is ultimately sold or publicly listed (i.e. “pre-IPO
shares”). Venture capital, private equity, and investment manage-
ment companies also raise capital from outside investors and use
the proceeds to create LBO funds that finance such transactions.
Figure 8.3 illustrates the LBO and post-LBO flows.
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Figure 8.3 LBO structure

Let’s assume that ABC Co., which has been operating for many
years, has created a successful line of products. Let’s also assume
that growth has slowed and operating inefficiencies have set in, but
that balance sheet leverage remains reasonable — that is, the com-
pany has historically relied more heavily on retained earnings and
common stock than debt to fund its business. ABC Co.’s manage-
ment, working together with LBO financing specialists, believes
there is an opportunity to reshape the company by reducing its
operations in traditional areas and refocusing the ABC brand in
new ventures. Management also wants to dispose of several small,
underperforming subsidiaries. Accordingly, the management team
arranges an LBO loan to repurchase outstanding shares from
investors. The company becomes private once the shares have been
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repurchased and begins implementing its cost cutting, asset dis-
posal, and product repositioning plan. As the firm reduces expenses
in order to meet its larger interest expense burden, it becomes a
more efficient operation. In three years’ time, when the restruc-
turing plan has been completed, management floats the firm pub-
licly once again. It issues new shares, raising enough capital to
repay the remaining principal balance on the LBO loan and pro-
vide the firm with the resources necessary to continue operating.

SPIN-OFFS

A spin-off is the public or private sale of assets that provides a
company with a valuable cash injection or allows it to increase
efficiencies and focus its operations. A spin-off can be managed
as a carve-out or disposal (divestiture), and is intended ultimately
to boost enterprise value.

A carve-out involves the sale of some part of a company’s
existing operations, such as a profitable and well regarded sub-
sidiary that is readily divisible from the balance of the firm. By
selling one of its units, the company hopes to earn a premium over
book value that will increase its own worth. Naturally, such a sale
is only contemplated when management believes that the trans-
action will add value, and will not impair its ability to operate
efficiently and profitably. Indeed, there is little point in selling
valuable assets if the value of the company will be permanently
damaged. Let’s assume that ABC Co. has a highly profitable sub-
sidiary, ABC Sub Inc., and that management believes it can create
value for ABC Co. shareholders by carving out the subsidiary. It
may thus work with a venture capital firm or competitor to struc-
ture a private sale of ABC Sub Inc., or it may decide to float ABC
Sub Inc. publicly through an IPO. In either case ABC Co. will
receive the financial benefit of the sale, while ABC Sub Inc. will
continue its operations as part of another firm or as an independent
entity.

Divestiture is another form of spin-off. While the divestiture
shares certain similarities with the carve-out — namely, the sale of
a portion of a company — the value driver is somewhat different. In
the case of a carve-out, a company believes it can create value by
selling a valuable asset to the public or a third party, while in a
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divestiture it seeks primarily to exit a business line that is no
longer essential to its operations or which is not performing up to
financial expectations. The sale may or may not generate an
immediate gain for the company. In fact, the divestiture in some
cases may be done at a loss to book value, creating a one-time
charge against the income statement. However, if the decision
proves to be correct, the value of the firm should rise over time as
the operation ceases to hamper the firm’s progress or tie up its
capital. For instance, if ABC Co.’s management wants to sell ABC
Sub Inc. because it feels that the subsidiary is no longer relevant to
its new course of operations (or is otherwise dissatisfied with the
unit’s contribution to overall performance), it can divest the
operation through a private sale. Once completed, ABC Sub Inc.
will no longer form part of the corporate operation and ABC Co.
will be able to focus its efforts on other priorities.

RECAPITALIZATIONS

A recapitalization, as the name suggests, is a corporate finance
transaction that is used to restructure the form and size of a com-
pany’s capital base. This generally involves using debt and equity
to create a capital base that is more appropriate for a firm’s cir-
cumstances at a particular stage in its corporate life, or in light of
changing market circumstances (including competitive pressures
and potential takeover threats).

A recapitalization is often associated with deleveraging of the
corporate balance sheet. A firm may become overly dependent on
debt over a period of time, causing its financial position to
weaken — perhaps to the point where financial pressures from a
large interest burden set in and the credit rating is threatened. In
such instances a company may implement a recapitalization pro-
gram to overhaul its funding structure. For example, if ABC Co.
finds itself with too much debt and not enough equity, it may
arrange for simultaneous issues of common and preferred stock,
using the proceeds to repay a variety of medium- and long-term
loans and bonds. While this may initially lead to a higher cost of
capital — recalling that equity capital is more expensive than debt
capital — it will give ABC Co. greater financial strength and
flexibility, both of which can boost corporate value.
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In some cases a firm may have too little leverage. This means, of
course, that it may not be taking full advantage of the tax shield
that is generated through the issuance of debt. If we assume that
ABC Co. is now underleveraged rather than overleveraged, it can
again arrange a recapitalization program where it issues new debt
(or borrows from its bankers) and uses the proceeds to buy back
some amount of stock. Recalling our discussion from Chapter 4,
we know that a stock buyback has the effect of increasing the
treasury stock contra account, thereby reducing the overall size of
the equity account. Alternatively, ABC Co. may preserve its cur-
rent level of debt but reduce its equity (retained earnings) account
by paying investors a large, one-time, special dividend — the effect
on the contra account is the same.

But recapitalization needn’t only focus on a pure rebalancing of
debt and equity. In some instances these transactions involve
restructuring of the voting rights accorded to investors. Again,
depending on the specific nature of a company’s control structure
and its ultimate goals, directors may authorize distribution of
voting power by diluting the voting rights of a small block of
control investors and expanding those of a larger base of minority
shareholders. This places greater legal control in the hands of
small investors. Alternatively, directors may propose a dual-class
recapitalization that creates two classes of shares: those where
minority shareholders are given less (or no) voting power, and
those where control shareholders are given virtually complete
voting power. These recapitalizations remove from minority
shareholders the most fundamental legal rights, leaving them
only with rent rights. Not surprisingly, these transactions may not
be at all popular, and must generally be ratified by a shareholder
vote.

VALUING CORPORATE FINANCE DEALS

A company must only arrange a corporate finance deal when it
makes financial sense to do so. In addition to the benefits of
increasing market share, expanding into new markets, gaining
intellectual property, generating earnings stability, and increasing
efficiencies, any transaction — merger, acquisition, LBO, spin-off,
or recapitalization — must create value for stakeholders.
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The valuation process centers on determining what a company
looks like before a deal (ex-ante) and forecasting what it might
look like after a deal (ex-post). This involves detailed analysis of
operating and financial risks, current and future cash flows, current
and anticipated cost of capital, and current and expected earnings
per share. However, since the process relates to estimates of
future events, it can never be completely accurate. That said, a
good valuation process incorporates multiple scenarios (i.e. base
case, worst case, and best case), so that the value range of the
transaction can be properly considered in the financial planning
process.

Let’s consider, as an example, the basic steps involved in valuing
an acquisition. Consider a deal where ABC Co., expanding hor-
izontally, wants to buy Acme. The first step involves examining
the present value of Acme’s future (after-tax) income. We know
that the value of a firm is based on its after-tax earnings, so this
step is fundamental to any plan. The actual process of determining
the PV of Acme’s future (after-tax) earnings takes us back to our
discussion in Chapter 4; we must first compute the PV of future
earnings over some reasonable horizon period (e.g. 510 years)
and then estimate the terminal value of the flows for the period
extending beyond the horizon. This yields the minimum value
that ABC Co. will have to pay for Acme.

The second step is to add in an estimate of the PV of future
gains expected from any synergies. This is a critical component as
it reflects the perceived benefit management believes can be
obtained by joining ABC Co. and Acme. But it is a complicated
process that must be approached with a degree of conservatism.
The essence of this step is to consider the incremental benefits that
will be achieved via the acquisition — those above and beyond the
pure “summation” of the two component parts. This can include
increased revenues (e.g. from leveraging multiple sales forces),
increased cost efficiencies (e.g. from eliminating duplicative
efforts), increased depreciation (e.g. from greater asset revalua-
tions), and so forth.

Naturally, Acme’s investors are unlikely to sell their shares to
ABC Co. without receiving some premium. However, ABC Co.’s
directors need to protect their own shareholders by minimizing the
size of this premium. In fact, the maximum that ABC Co. should
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pay Acme’s shareholders is the theoretical value of the deal, which
we summarize in equation [8.1] as:

theoretical value of acquisition =
PV of future earnings of target [8.1]

+ PV of future earnings from synergies

So, if ABC Co. estimates that the PV of Acme’s future earnings
amounts to £500 million and conservatively believes that a further
£100 million of synergies can be obtained from the purchase, then
the maximum it should be willing to pay Acme’s shareholders is
£600 million.

The process above works well for an “all cash” deal. But what
happens if ABC Co. wants to buy Acme using ABC shares? Such
stock acquisitions are actually quite common. The same principles
apply, but an extra step is needed to determine the number of
shares that ABC Co. will have to offer to Acme’s shareholders.
This is estimated by computing a ratio based on the price offered
for the target (Acme) and the price of the acquiring company
(ABC Co.). Assume that Acme currently has 100 million shares
outstanding, suggesting that the per share purchase price is £6.
Assume further that ABC Co.’s current share price is £12. This
means that the exchange ratio is 0.50. That is, ABC Co. will give
up 0.50 shares of its shares for 1 share of Acme. Let’s now assume
that ABC Co.’s share price is £20 rather than £12. This yields an
exchange ratio of 0.30 — meaning that ABC Co. has to give up less
shares to acquire Acme. Thus, when the acquiring company has a
strong and rising stock price, it will pay “less” in shares than if it
has a low and falling stock price. In fact, stock-based acquisitions
are very popular when the stock market is strong and the prices of
potential acquirers are on the rise.

Valuing corporate finance deals is quite tractable when the par-
ties involved are publicly traded, as the quoted stock prices give an
indication of market value. But what happens when one or both
companies are private? The process in such cases must turn to the
use of a proxy method, such as the constant dividend growth
model we discussed in Chapter 4. While this requires assumptions
about dividend payout and growth and the cost of capital of the
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two firms, it provides some estimate of value. We can therefore
adapt the constant dividend growth model (assuming that all
earnings generated are paid out as dividends):

dividends(1 + growth rate)
cost of common — growth rate

8.2]

proxy value of shares =

Assume, therefore, that ABC Co. and Acme are private, rather
than public, companies, and that ABC Co.’s finance team has
prepared estimates of the data reflected in Table 8.1.

The fair value of ABC Co. (if it had shares outstanding) would
equal £43.33, while the fair value of Acme would amount to
£14.88. This would suggest a swap of 0.34 “shares” of ABC Co. for
a single “share” of Acme based on a pure exchange ratio. How-
ever, since the EPS estimate doesn’t include any synergy effects,
some additional premium has to be factored in. If we assume that
synergies will add a 20 percent premium to the value of the
acquisition, we adjust Acme’s share value by 20 percent to gen-
erate a fair value of £17.85. The new exchange ratio is thus 0.42.

Similar processes can be applied to value other types of corpo-
rate finance deals. The essential ingredients remain the same:
estimates of future earnings and attendant growth rates, potential
synergies, and costs of capital/discount rates.

Proper accounting treatment is vital in corporate finance deals,
especially M&A. Though specific details differ across systems, the
essential points center on accounting via the pooling of interest
method and the purchase acquisition method. The pooling method
is used when two companies involved in a deal exchange stock on a
tax-free basis. The resulting “consolidation” is simply an addition
of the balance sheets of the two firms. Thus, if ABC Co. and Acme
merge by swapping stock, the resulting ABC Co.-Acme balance sheet
is a simple summation of the individual parts. If the transaction is

Table 8.1 Company estimates

ABC Co. Acme
EPS £2.50 £1.30
Cost of capital 10% 12%

Dividend growth 4% 3%
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an outright acquisition, such as ABC Co.’s purchase of Acme, then
the purchase acquisition method must generally be used. If the
purchase price is precisely equal to the target company’s net worth
(i.e. assets — liabilities), then the consolidated balance sheet is
again an addition of the two components. However, if the purchase
price exceeds the target’s net worth, the balance sheet must reflect
an upward valuation of assets to reflect the differential. This value
is reflected in the goodwill account. The goodwill premium is
typically amortized (reduced) over a period of time.

CORPORATE FINANCE CHALLENGES

We've considered the logic behind corporate finance deals, the
nature of key transactions, and how they can be valued to ensure
that a company is not over- or under-valuing a deal. If the deal
makes sense and is successfully arranged and managed, then
shareholders should ultimately reap the benefits of a higher share
price. But corporate finance is a challenging discipline. Companies
face a number of hurdles in their pursuit of good deals, and must
be aware of the potential pitfalls. Some of the most common
challenges include:

e Overpaying for an acquisition: The history of mergers suggests
that companies acquiring other firms periodically overpay for
their targets. We’ve noted that valuing deals is not an exact
science, because much depends on estimates of future earnings —
which are unknown and therefore subject to a degree of varia-
bility. However, when an acquirer takes an aggressive stance
and pays a large premium for a target by assuming overly
optimistic future earnings flows and/or synergy effects, it may
undermine the financial rationale for the transaction and
destroy, rather than create, enterprise value.

e Creating too broad a focus: Managing corporate operations is a
difficult task, which can be made more difficult by adding other
operations that are only loosely connected with core operations
or which are completely unrelated. Many conglomeration-based
transactions — created through mergers or acquisitions of very
different companies — have proven over the years to be ill-
advised; in the extreme, failed attempts at conglomeration have
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actually reduced, rather than enhanced, enterprise value.
Investors may find that it is better to buy a portfolio of shares
of individual, well managed and well focused companies than
the shares of sprawling conglomerates that may not be able to
properly manage disparate operations.

Failing to capitalize on synergies: We know that the value of
certain types of deal lies in the creation of synergies. If the
management team of a company that has just merged with, or
acquired, another company, cannot crystallize these synergies
the premium paid on the deal will be lost. When a firm can’t
convert “theoretical” synergies into true economic value, the
financial decision driving a deal will have been based on bad
information.

Failing to properly integrate operations: Integrating the opera-
tions of two (or more) different companies can be a very diffi-
cult task — even when they are in the same industry. Firms
often have different corporate cultures, human resource
requirements, technology platforms, and business strategies/
approaches. Lack of proper attention to these unique character-
istics, and how they need to be handled in order to truly create
synergies and add corporate value, can again jeopardize a
transaction. This is particularly true of human resources: people
ultimately drive a company’s operations and define its success,
and if they are dissatisfied they may depart.

Lacking discipline to reduce expenses or sell assets: The financial
justification for certain kinds of deals, including acquisitions and
LBOs, is very often based on cost reductions and/or asset dis-
posals. If a firm is unable to implement the right regimen of post-
deal cost controls or is unable to complete a program of asset
sales, it may again undermine the rationale for executing the deal.
Treating investors unfairly: Investors supply capital and capital
drives corporate operations. If directors and executives arrange
a deal that is not in the best interests of investors (e.g. sig-
nificantly overpaying for another company, merging on bad
terms, attempting to reallocate voting rights), they risk
breaching their fiduciary duties, alienating shareholders and
jeopardizing access to future capital. Dissatisfied investors may
try to oust directors or sell their shares and put downward
pressure on the company’s stock.
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If these challenges are well understood in advance, then a com-
pany’s managers can ensure that proper steps are taken to avoid
problems.
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FINANCIAL PARTICIPANTS

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

Chapter 9 begins the first of two chapters focused on macro-
finance issues, where we consider how concepts from Parts I and II
influence, and can be influenced by, a range of individual, institu-
tional, and sovereign parties. We begin by analyzing how key
groups of participants — including intermediaries, end-users, and
regulators — rely on financial dealings to conduct their daily activ-
ities, the role each one plays in supporting the entire cycle of
finance, and the motivations that drive activity. We then assemble
a complete picture of how the groups interact and conclude by
considering forces of disintermediation that can affect financial
intermediaries.

THE ROLE OF PARTICIPANTS

Macro-finance, which involves the study of finance at the systemic
level, is concerned with both participants and marketplaces. We'll
consider participants in this chapter, and reinforce the discussion
with an overview of marketplaces and financial market variables in
the next chapter. Both, as we’ll discover, are integral to a complete
understanding of finance.
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The concepts, tools, instruments, and transactions we've dis-
cussed in the past chapters form the backbone of micro-based
finance. They are the essential ingredients that allow companies to
make decisions about how to optimize their operations and to put
in motion strategies that lead to the best possible funding, risk
management, liquidity, and enterprise value solutions.

Such micro-level financial concepts and instruments exist
because of, and on behalf of, a range of participants. If these par-
ticipants didn’t exist, or were uninterested in the overarching cor-
porate goals we've discussed, there would be little point in
studying finance. And if they didn’t exist there would be no need
to develop the tools, products, and transactions we've considered.

Fortunately, these participants exist, and are able to fill the
crucial roles required in creating a financial process. Understanding
their specific roles is important in gaining a perspective on the
macro-financial framework. More specifically, we are interested in
understanding how key financial participants rely on financial
dealings to conduct their activities, the specific functions they play
in supporting the financial “life cycle,” and the motivations that
drive them to participate. This framework allows us to tie together
many of the individual tools, concepts, instruments, and transactions
we've already discussed.

KEY PARTICIPANTS AND THEIR OBJECTIVES

To build the macro-finance picture we need to divide our discus-
sion into three broad categories: intermediaries, end-users, and
regulators. We can then atomize these classifications to gain
greater insight into specific roles and responsibilities.

INTERMEDIARIES

Our review begins with intermediaries, or institutions that inter-
mediate (stand between) those providing and those using capital,
those acquiring and those purchasing assets, and those transferring
and those accepting risks. Though the intermediation function
might sound rather simple (i.e. matching up two different parties),
it is actually quite complex; the function in its most developed
form features product development, risk-taking, and advisory
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services. To understand the full scope of intermediation we con-
sider the different functions that intermediaries perform and the
types of intermediaries that are active in the financial markets.

Let’s first consider the functions that intermediaries, as a group,
perform. Though the depth and sophistication of these services
varies considerably across national systems, intermediaries operat-
ing in the world’s most advanced financial sectors are able to offer
most, if not all, of the services described below.

e Capital raising and lending: While all services provided by
intermediaries may be considered important, none is perhaps
quite as vital in creating enterprise value as capital raising. We
have already discussed the issuance of debt and equity and the
granting of loans and other forms of credit in order to finance
balance sheet operations. Intermediaries arrange such capital/loan
products every day on behalf of clients. In fact, intermediaries
are uniquely positioned to provide this essential service: they
have access to investors and other banks that are willing to
supply capital, they have rosters of corporate clients that need
to raise capital, and they have the market knowledge required
to properly arrange and execute all manner of fund raisings. If
intermediaries did not exist to perform this function, individual
companies would be left trying to raise their own funds in an
inefficient, and almost certainly more expensive, manner.

e Trading and liquidity provision: Intermediaries are often active
in trading securities and other assets, either as agent or princi-
pal. When an intermediary acts as an agent it simply matches
buyers and sellers of securities, taking a small spread as com-
mission (but taking no risk itself). When it acts as a principal it
assumes risk by taking one side of the transaction (e.g. pur-
chasing a security) and then retains the risk, hedges the posi-
tion, or separately arranges an offsetting deal (e.g. selling the
security it purchased). When acting as a principal the inter-
mediary provides liquidity to the market at large. If inter-
mediaries did not perform this function the secondary markets
for trading of securities and other assets would be far less liquid
(if not completely illiquid), meaning investors would be unable
to quickly sell or rebalance their portfolios without suffering
significant losses.
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e Corporate finance advice: In Chapter 8 we described the corpo-

rate finance framework and the nature of mergers, acquisitions,
and LBOs. Intermediaries play a leading role in uncovering and
arranging such opportunities. They are again uniquely posi-
tioned to serve as an important advisor in such matters, as they
have strong market and industry knowledge regarding potential
corporate financing opportunities, and they have the expertise
to evaluate the fair value of any transaction being con-
templated. Furthermore, they are often able to offer clients a
“package” that includes corporate finance advice and any asso-
ciated financing that might be required to conclude a deal (e.g.
advice on a takeover and then a stock issue to finance the take-
over). If intermediaries did not provide this advice, companies
seeking expansion or merger opportunities or some other form
of restructuring would again be unable to do so efficiently.
Risk management advice: We have described the importance of
risk and the use of derivatives and insurance in managing risk.
Not surprisingly, since many intermediaries are in the business
of taking and managing risk, they are well placed to provide
risk management services to their clients. By analyzing a cli-
ent’s financial risk picture an intermediary can craft a risk
management/hedging program that meets stated risk/return
and risk transfer goals. In addition, the financial engineering
capabilities of major intermediaries permit them to offer clients
unique, and sometimes complex, solutions. Again, if inter-
mediaries did not perform this role clients would be forced
to analyze, and then manage, their financial and operating
risks directly; for many this would be costly, inefficient, and
potentially inaccurate.

Asset management: In Chapter 7 we described the process of
creating investment portfolios to give investors an opportunity
to allocate their capital in a professionally managed setting.
Some intermediaries focus on creating asset management stra-
tegies for clients on a customized basis. Others provide similar
services to investors at large, allowing a broad base of clients to
benefit from the intermediary’s research and portfolio risk
management expertise. If intermediaries did not provide such
asset management functions, client investors would be respon-
sible for identifying potential investment opportunities and
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creating their own investment portfolios, which would be a
difficult, time-consuming, and potentially expensive task for all
but the most sophisticated.

e Custody: The financial business is founded on trust and repu-
tation, and the safekeeping of financial assets is a cornerstone of
the process. Many intermediaries, serving as trusted advisors,
provide clients with custody services that include asset safe-
keeping, valuation and reporting, and principal, interest, and
dividend collection. These services are especially important to
institutional clients that have very large portfolios of assets and
who do not wish to replicate the operational infrastructure
needed to ensure integrity. Again, if intermediaries did not
supply this service, clients would be forced to create their own
processes, which would be costly.

One of the recurring themes in our brief descriptions above relates
to costs: though intermediaries charge fees, premiums, or spreads
for the services they provide, any attempt by clients to replicate
the same services (if even possible) would almost certainly come at
a much higher price. Accordingly, by providing economically
rational alternatives, intermediaries indirectly help corporate clients
achieve their enterprise value maximization goals.

With that background in hand, let’s now consider the different
types of intermediaries that comprise an advanced financial
system.

e Commercial banks: Commercial banks are regulated banking
institutions that accept deposits from retail and institutional
customers and use those funds primarily to grant commercial
and industrial loans and residential mortgages. This is, of
course, a “traditional” banking model that focuses heavily on
the creation of credit. Commercial banks generally feature cli-
ents from across the spectrum: individuals seeking mortgage
loans or short-term credits, middle-market companies inter-
ested in working capital loans, and large companies interested
in revolving credit facilities, leases, and medium-to-long-term
acquisition loans. Though commercial banks may also be
involved with securities and asset management, such business
lines comprise a smaller portion of activities.
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o Investment banks/securities firms: Investment banks and secu-

rities firms are involved primarily in the capital markets busi-
ness, including issuance and trading of securities and corporate
finance advisory services. These institutions focus heavily on
primary issuance of debt and equity securities, along with sec-
ondary trading and market-making, and maintain extensive
client relationships in both the retail and institutional sectors so
that they can distribute/place securities. Within the advisory
sector the most sophisticated investment banks offer corporate
finance advice, including M&A and LBO structuring; they may
also act as principals in private equity investments in support of
such transactions. Some are also active in providing hedging
services and derivative-based risk management advice. Many
large investment banks also run asset management units that
are involved in creating investment funds for retail and insti-
tutional investors. Apart from the very largest investment
banks, however, most offer little in the way of traditional loan
products — leaving that business to commercial and universal
banks and thrifts.

Universal banks: Universal banks can be considered a hybrid of
the commercial and investment bank platforms. These institu-
tions, which are usually constituted as very large international
financial conglomerates, provide clients with the broadest range
of financing and advisory products and services. Most are
involved with the issuance and trading of securities, develop-
ment and execution of risk management, investment manage-
ment, and corporate finance programs, and extension of short-
and long-term credit. Major universal banks tend to offer tra-
ditional retail banking services as well as more exclusive, higher
margin, private banking services.

Thrifts/building societies: Thrift institutions, also known as
savings and loan institutions and building societies, are active
primarily in the residential mortgage market. Thrifts accept
retail deposits, mainly from individuals, and use the funds to
grant residential home mortgages. Though they may provide
additional forms of credit to individuals and may even grant
commercial mortgages to middle-market enterprises or prop-
erty developers, most keep quite a strict focus on the resi-
dential market. Thrifts can thus be regarded as specialized
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forms of commercial banks, though they may be governed by
different rules and regulations to reflect their unique retail
focus.

Insurance companies: Insurance companies provide individual
and institutional customers with risk transfer advice and poli-
cies/products, including the full range of insurance contracts
discussed earlier. The largest insurers operate on a global basis,
insuring risks across national boundaries through one or more
subsidiaries. National or local insurers, in contrast, concentrate
their business within a particular country. Some insurers are
focused on life and health coverage, others on property and
casualty coverage, and still others on the entire range of insur-
able risks. Insurers may also offer customers annuities and
other savings/investment products.

Reinsurance companies: Reinsurance companies act as insurers
of insurers, providing risk transfer coverage to insurers that are
writing primary coverage to their individual and corporate cli-
ents. In fact, reinsurers can be regarded as wholesale institu-
tions, as they have no dealings with individual customers on a
primary basis; their business focus is strictly on the professional
insurance market, where they provide different classes of rein-
surance. Since reinsurers deal at the institutional level, they
tend to operate with a fairly broad geographic focus, reinsuring
risks across borders and exposure classes.

Bancassurance companies: Bancassurance companies, which are
essentially combinations of universal banks and insurance
companies, offer the broadest mix of financial services. Though
relatively limited in number, the primary bancassurance firms
provide the full range of commercial and investment banking
services and insurance services, generally on a global basis. In
order to deal with different forms of regulation, bancassurance
firms tend to operate through a holding company structure
where individual corporate entities provide specific types of
products and services. Thus, one unit may be incorporated as a
commercial bank, offering deposits and loans, while another
unit may be established as a regulated insurer, writing insur-
ance coverage. The intent behind the bancassurance model is to
be able to provide individual or institutional clients with “one
stop shopping” across all products and services.
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There are, of course, various other types of intermediaries,
including dedicated asset managers, non-bank financial institu-
tions, and so forth. These players tend to be more specialized,
though many are quite large when measured by assets, revenues,
or profits.

What motivates financial intermediaries to provide the products
and services noted above? We can point to two general objectives:
maximization of profits and management of risks. Maximization of
profits is simply a reiteration of our familiar theme: financial
intermediaries are constituted as corporations and seek to generate
as much income for their shareholders as possible, within the
confines of their business models and risk-taking abilities. Com-
mercial and investment banks, universal banks, and insurers are in
business to generate fees, premiums, spreads, and commissions,
and their shareholders will benefit as long as they can offer useful
products and services.

Management of risk is a second key objective. By linking diverse
pools of clients that have different views and requirements and
developing new financial products, intermediaries can manage their
own risks more effectively. For instance, if one firm seeks to raise
capital through the issuance of bonds, an investment bank can
supply the required capital, earning a fee in the process. However,
at this stage the investment bank still holds the company’s bonds,
meaning it is fully exposed to credit risk. By using its investor
distribution network or certain derivative contracts it can lower its
risk profile dramatically — while still locking in some amount of
profitability.

END-USERS

If intermediaries symbolize the supply of financial services, then
end-users represent the demand for those services. To consider the
demand side of the equation, we describe major classes of end-
users and the kinds of financial transactions they are most likely to
be involved in.

e Industrial and service companies: Industrial and service com-
panies represent the key corporate sector that is so vital in
defining demand for financial services. Large capitalization and
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middle-market companies from virtually all sectors (e.g. tech-
nology, automotive, energy, pharmaceuticals, consumer goods,
and so on) rely on access to financial services to manage their
business affairs. These companies regularly borrow funds from
commercial/universal banks and issue debt/equity securities via
investment banks in order to fund their expansion plans; the
significant amount of capital financing companies require is a
key source of primary and secondary activity for inter-
mediaries, and also allows the investment demand of investors
(noted immediately following) to be met. Large firms are often
active users of M&A and risk advisory/hedging services; this
allows them to efficiently incorporate acquisition, spin-off, or
other corporate restructurings into their strategic plans, and to
hedge or transfer financial and operating risks via derivatives
and insurance. Companies often “outsource” their retirement
benefit programs to intermediaries offering professional asset
management capabilities as well. Obviously, if these corporate
end-users did not borrow funds or issue securities, the global
financial markets would be considerably smaller; similarly, if
they didn’t avail themselves of M&A services, expansion or
restructuring opportunities would be limited.

Institutional/professional investors: Institutional investors,
which we may define to include open- and closed-end funds,
hedge funds, pension funds, as well as the investment or trust
operations of insurance companies and banks, are significant
users of specific types of financial services, including primary
and secondary investments and risk management services.
Institutional investors are the single largest group of capital
providers in the financial system. They routinely absorb the
greatest amount of debt and equity capital securities issued on a
primary basis, and are also active buyers and sellers of secu-
rities on a secondary basis. In recent years they have also
become important players in the secondary loan market, buying
portions of loans originated by banks for their clients. The
intent of all of these asset purchases is, of course, to generate
returns for their own clients, including other institutional
investors, individual investors, and pensioners. If institutional
investors didn’t provide capital to the financial system, corpo-
rate end-users (as well as financial institutions) would be unable
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to fund their balance sheets appropriately. In addition to
acquiring capital instruments institutional investors often
use risk management solutions and products developed by
intermediaries in order to hedge or augment particular risk
exposures.

Sovereigns and government agencies: Governments are impor-
tant borrowers in the debt market and they are periodically
active in the corporate finance market through privatization of
state-owned assets. Governments and their central banks reg-
ularly issue securities to meet various goals. For instance, they
may issue short-term securities (e.g. treasury bills) to meet
liquidity needs and help manage aspects of monetary policy
(which we’ll consider in Chapter 10). They may also issue
medium- and long-term securities: since nations may have sig-
nificant expense and investment programs that cannot be ade-
quately funded with tax-based revenues, they may be required
to issue medium- or long-term securities. In practice most
governments use intermediaries to raise capital; though many
could issue directly to investors, the use of intermediaries (so-
called primary dealers) is an efficient and effective distribution
mechanism. Government agencies are also periodic sellers of
state-owned assets that they wish to place into the private
sector. Intermediaries may conduct private or public sales of
these assets in order to help an agency maximize value.
Individuals: We have deliberately excluded discussion of indi-
viduals in the financial process in order to maintain our corpo-
rate focus. It is clear, however, that individuals are an
important element of the marketplace, acting as small-scale
investors and borrowers. Though each transaction arranged by
a single customer may appear small, the collective portfolio of
transactions across all individuals can quickly become very
significant — meaning that individuals are an influential market
force. Individuals invest in debt and equity securities and
investment fund shares via their savings and retirement
accounts. If individuals didn’t participate, capital issuers and
borrowers would face periodic capital supply shortages and/or
would place excessive demands on the institutional investor
base. Individuals are also active in the risk management area,
primarily through health, home, auto, and/or life insurance
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policies that transfer unwanted risks to the insurance sector.
They are also frequent borrowers through consumer/credit card
debt and home mortgages.

What motivates end-users to participate in the financial market-
place? First, end-users need capital in order to fund public (gov-
ernment) or private (corporate) operations or, at an individual
level, to make significant purchases (e.g. homes, automobiles).
Access to this supply of capital is essential, and can only be gained
by tapping into the financial marketplace. In fact, if end-users were
unable to access the capital and loan markets, their ability to grow
would be severely curtailed. Second, end-users that have an excess
of capital to invest require access to conduits that provide the
opportunity of creating real returns. Simply put, it would be
impossible for this base of end-users to generate profits on their
resources if they were unable to access capital instruments. Third,
end-users want to be able to efficiently manage their risks. This, as
we have noted, can be accomplished by using a professional risk
transfer mechanism, where the benefits of diversification can lead
to lower premiums and fees.

REGULATORS

Those dealing in the financial marketplace cannot generally do so
without some level of guidance and oversight from government-
related regulators. Most modern financial systems have some type
of regulatory “watchdog” to keep an eye on activities. The intent,
in virtually all cases, is to provide end-users with an appropriate
level of protection so that they don’t become victims of uninten-
tional losses or fraud.

The most effective and efficient way of providing end-user pro-
tection is to set minimum standards for those supplying financial
services. A regulator has greater confidence that the end-user,
whether an individual or an institution, will be properly protected
if this can be accomplished successfully. Standards may relate to
the minimum required financial position/strength of an institution
supplying services, the minimum level of disclosure that must
accompany deals or offerings, or the maximum amount that can be
charged for specific services.
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The national regulatory system can be arranged in different
ways, depending on the depth and breadth of the local financial
services base. In the most advanced systems, however, we can
point to at least three classes of regulatory oversight:

e Bank regulator: The bank regulator, which may be associated
with the country’s central bank, is responsible for ensuring that
all financial institutions in the local system (either domestic
institutions or domestic branches of foreign institutions) oper-
ate in a prudent manner by maintaining a minimum level of
capital and reserves, minimum standards of asset quality, and
maximum amount of leverage. The bank regulator may also
require banking institutions to contribute to an insurance fund
that provides depositors with protection against losses. Some
countries feature regulators for individual segments of the
banking sector. Thus, one body may be responsible for reg-
ulating commercial banks, another for regulating thrifts/
building societies, and still another for reviewing non-bank
financial institutions (e.g. consumer finance companies, leasing
companies).

e Insurance regulator: The insurance regulator may operate at a
state/provincial level, a national level, or both. The insurance
regulator reviews the skills and capabilities of insurers writing
specific classes of insurance and ensures that all participating
firms maintain a minimum level of statutory reserves/capital. It
also makes certain that insurers conduct their dealings with
policyholders in a fair and equitable manner when settling loss
claims.

e Securities/exchange regulator: The securities or exchange reg-
ulator, which may again have some relationship to a country’s
central bank, is typically charged with overseeing the financial
soundness and operations of local stock and/or derivative
exchanges. The intent is to make sure that market-making,
trading, execution, and settlement occur in a transparent and
orderly fashion so that investors (especially individuals) are
adequately protected. Securities regulators are often responsible
for establishing minimum levels of disclosure for stock and
bond issues that are to be floated in the public markets, and
may also be responsible for the activities of investment banks
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and securities firms, helping ensure that they remain properly
capitalized and keep leverage at prudent levels.

In some countries, such as the UK, bank and securities regulators
are combined under a single umbrella. Regardless of the specific
structural organization, regulators are critical in ensuring that
intermediaries (and marketplaces for intermediation) adhere to
minimum standards of financial and professional conduct so that
end-users are not prejudiced or financially damaged.

THE COMPLETE PICTURE

We now have the components that allow us to construct the com-
plete picture of financial activities and participants (we’ll supple-
ment this discussion with further comments on the financial
markets at large in the next chapter). Figure 9.1 features a simpli-
fied, and conceptualized, view of the major groups of participants

End-users:
Institutional investors,
individuals
A
Custody, i Risk | [2] | Capital [1]
asset mgmt. !
Regulators: Intermediaries:
Bank, insurance, —— Banks, thrifts,
securities securities firms, re/insurers
Corporate | Risk | [2] | Capital [1]
finance :
\
End-users:
Corporations,
sovereigns

Figure 9.1 The complete picture of financial participants
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and the role each plays in the financial process. Note that end-
users are separated into two classes to simplify the discussion.

Let’s briefly summarize the key roles and activities noted in the
diagram.

e Block 1 indicates that institutional and individual investors act
as suppliers of capital. This capital flows through the group of
intermediaries (who may supplement it with their own capital)
and on to the group of end-users that demands capital, includ-
ing companies and sovereigns/agencies. This represents the
essential debt and equity capital funding process. Associated
with the capital flow function is an implicit trading function.
Many investors continue to direct their trading through inter-
mediaries, which execute on exchanges or in the OTC market
on behalf of investors.

e Block 2, which centers on risk transfer, is less transparent.
Corporate and sovereign end-users often wish to transfer
financial and operating risks. This is consistent with our earlier
comments where we noted that as long as costs are low enough,
companies and government agencies often try to transfer as
much risk as possible via derivatives and insurance. The same is
true of individuals. Accordingly, intermediaries can expect to
receive risk exposures from these end-users, and must then
manage the resulting positions by hedging, diversifying or
buying insurance/reinsurance. Some end-users are willing to
accept risk. Hedge funds and certain pension and investment
funds take risks (primarily financial ones) in order to boost
their returns, and must therefore be considered risk-takers. In
fact, intermediaries often transfer certain types of financial risks
to these end-users in order to reduce their own exposures.
There are times, of course, when even sophisticated risk-taking
institutions reverse their positions and shed, rather than accept,
risk; when this happens intermediaries must be prepared to
react.

e Block 3, which focuses on specialized services, is group depen-
dent. We have noted that companies and sovereigns are active
end-users of corporate finance advisory services, and would
expect to receive the benefit of any such advice from inter-
mediaries. Individual and institutional investors may use
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custody services (e.g. securities safekeeping) and specific asset
management programs and strategies.

The activities supplied by intermediaries are, of course, overseen
by the appropriate regulator(s). Naturally, this illustration is sim-
plified, as institutions may be involved in other financial activities
or may act in a manner opposite to the ones indicated above.
Alternatively, they may perform multiple roles (e.g. a bank may
supply capital directly to end-use companies, and may also do so
indirectly by financing a private equity fund, which then invests in
the capital of an end-use company). Nevertheless, the general
structure holds true and allows us to understand the dependencies
and relationships.

FORCES OF DISINTERMEDIATION

Intermediaries clearly play a vital role in the financial system.
They are the key players that stand between demanders and sup-
pliers of capital, and between companies seeking partners and those
willing to be acquired; they are adept at creating investment and
risk management solutions through their financial engineering
expertise and providing the custody services that allow assets to be
safely held.

But all of these services come at a price. End-users must there-
fore address, as part of financial planning activities, the relative
cost/benefit tradeoff associated with the financial services provided
by intermediaries. If the benefits obtained from efficiently raising
capital or completing a corporate finance transaction outweigh the
fees/expenses, then the decision rule framework will suggest
proceeding. If, however, the costs appear too large, then end-
users may seek alternative solutions. This gives rise to disinter-
mediation, or the process of removing intermediaries from their
traditional roles in raising capital and granting advice.

Disintermediation arises when end-users are presented with
alternatives or substitutes. For instance, if ABC Co. can issue
commercial paper or bonds directly to investors, rather than via an
investment bank, it saves on the underwriting fees. Or, if it can
trade assets in its portfolio through a self-directed, electronic
trading platform rather than via a securities firm, it saves on
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commissions and asset management fees (institutional and indivi-
dual investors can, of course, do the same thing). If the firm can
identify its own acquisition or merger partners, it can avoid paying
advisory fees. Or, if it can detect a predictable pattern of small
losses within its employee health or disability benefit portfolio, it
can self-insure via a captive and save on insurance premium costs.
Whenever ABC Co. can reduce the costs of arranging financial
transactions, it boosts its own net income and, by extension, its
enterprise value. Figure 9.2 presents a decomposition of the illus-
tration presented earlier to demonstrate how financial institutions
can be removed from aspects of the process.

The concept of disintermediation sounds very appealing from
the perspective of the end-user. So why not eliminate the “middle
man” from all financial transactions? The short answer is ineffi-
ciency. It is very difficult, in practice, for most companies to
replicate the types of skills, services, relationships, and networks
that financial intermediaries have spent decades (and longer) cul-
tivating. Intermediaries have the risk management and financial
engineering knowledge that is essential in creating proper hedging,
risk transfer, and investment strategies; they can draw on very
large networks of clients and contacts to raise and place capital; and
they are skilled in identifying corporate finance opportunities —
including those that may not be known to end-users. They are also
able to operate on a cross-border basis, bringing end-users financial
opportunities from outside the home market. The process of
replicating even a portion of this platform would be an inefficient
and expensive exercise for most companies.

Forces of disintermediation are therefore still quite limited.
Only the largest multinational companies have the ability to
remove financial intermediaries from the process, and even then do
so very selectively. This remains true in an era increasingly
dominated by electronic communications, information dissemina-
tion and execution. In practice some large firms issue short- and
medium-term liabilities directly to end-users. This, however, is
limited to firms with strong name recognition and healthy finan-
cial standing. Some large firms also feature in-house corporate
finance teams that actively seek out acquisition opportunities, and
many medium-sized and large firms manage portions of their
operating risks via captives. But most companies still rely on
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intermediaries for the bulk of their financial requirements; the
costs of not doing so are simply too great. The same is generally
true of individual and institutional investors. While many inves-
tors now use electronic tools to help aspects of their trading, a
majority still relies on intermediaries to help identify good
investment prospects and create asset management plans.
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THE GLOBAL FINANCIAL MARKETS

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

Chapter 10 continues our discussion of macro-finance issues. In
this chapter we consider the macro-structure of the global financial
markets and their importance in promoting capital flows and eco-
nomic growth. We then discuss the impact of key financial
variables — including interest rates, inflation, and economic
growth — on the markets, and analyze the effect of monetary
policy on financial variables. We then consider elements of the
financial markets that give rise to its fluidity and dynamism,
including deregulation, capital mobility, volatility, and technology.
We conclude by considering the practical impact of dynamic forces
on the marketplace.

MACRO-STRUCTURE OF THE FINANCIAL MARKETS

In Parts I and II of the book we have considered aspects of finance
from a micro perspective; in Chapter 9 we have extended the dis-
cussion by examining the macro roles of end-users, intermediaries,
and regulators. We now build on that macro picture by considering
financial market sectors and how they are impacted by financial
variables.
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The global financial markets are comprised of broad capital pools
and asset classes that are linked by intricate relationships.

e Money markets: The money markets, as we’ve noted in Chap-
ter 5, consist of short-term liabilities issued by banks (e.g. cer-
tificates of deposit, bankers’ acceptances), companies (e.g.
commercial paper), and sovereigns (e.g. treasury bills). In the
private sector these instruments are used for liquidity manage-
ment purposes, while in the sovereign sector they may be used
for liquidity management and monetary policy management,
which we describe below. Virtually all industrialized and
emerging nations feature some type of money market sector.

e Debt capital markets: The debt capital markets, which include
medium- and long-term bonds and loans, constitute the single
largest element of the global capital markets. Bonds and loans
are used for capital investment, acquisitions and expansion, and
may be renewed on a regular basis — making the capital appear
semi-permanent. The most significant debt capital markets
include those of industrialized nations such as the US, UK,
Japan and various European Union countries; the offshore
market, which crosses national borders, is also significant.

e Stock markets: The stock markets include common and pre-
ferred stock issued by corporations to fund productive opera-
tions/permanent investments, and ensure balance sheet
leverage remains reasonable. All market-based economies fea-
ture companies that are capitalized via equity instruments,
making the overall market deep and broad.

e TForeign exchange markets: The foreign exchange market
represents the single most actively traded element of the
financial markets, with intermediaries and end-users dealing
very large amounts of spot (or current market) and forward
transactions every business day. Market activity is centered
primarily on the major exchange rates, including dollars, euros,
yen, Swiss francs, sterling, Canadian dollars, and Australian
dollars. Additional activity occurs in secondary currencies (e.g.
non-EU currencies, New Zealand dollars) and emerging market
currencies (e.g. Latin America, Southeast Asia).

e Commodity markets: The global commodity markets are broad
and deep, and feature a significant amount of spot and forward
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dealing. Hedgers (commodity producers and commodity users)
and speculators actively use the market, which adds sig-
nificantly to market flows. Key traded commodities include
precious metals (gold, silver, platinum, palladium), industrial
metals (iron, copper, aluminum, zinc), energy (oil/products,
natural gas, electricity), agricultural products (corn, wheat,
soybeans), and softs (cocoa, coffee, sugar).

e Derivative markets: The derivative markets, as noted in Chap-
ter 7, are based on financial contracts linked to specific asset
classes, including all of those mentioned above. Hedgers and
speculators use the markets to achieve specific goals, injecting
liquidity in the process. In fact, derivatives can serve as sub-
stitutes for, or complements to, other financial instruments.

Each of the broad sectors noted above is linked to the other sectors
directly or indirectly. The relationships between different sectors
are complex and sometimes unstable. Changes in one market can
impact capital flowing in to, or out of, another market. While such
relationships may hold true under most market conditions, they
may change during times of market stress; this causes previously
held notions of “normal behavior” to be brought into question. Let
us review several simplified examples of what happens to financial
markets as key macro variables — including interest rates, inflation
rates, and economic growth rates — change.

For example, consider that when a country’s short-term interest
rates rise, the general cost of public and private borrowing rises in
tandem. Rising interest rates tend to attract a greater amount of
investment capital — investors in other assets classes, including
equities, sell their existing investments and redeploy capital in the
higher earning asset. This puts downward pressure on stock prices
(and the prices of other financial assets), making money market
and debt capital market investments look that much more
attractive — at least for a time.

Several “ripple effects” are then likely to appear. First, higher
interest costs can lead to greater corporate profit pressures, which
can cause stock prices to fall. Reinvestment in productive ventures
may also slow, as the internal hurdle rate a company must achieve
becomes higher as a result of the increased cost of capital. Second,
higher domestic interest rates will prove attractive to foreign
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investors, for the same reasons cited above. Accordingly, they will
convert (sell) their home currencies and buy the domestic currency,
causing it to appreciate in value. We may also note that a strong
currency has important implications on a country’s trade balance,
causing goods exported abroad to appear expensive in foreign
markets; this can lead to a decline in demand, which can also
negatively impact corporate earnings. There is, of course, a limit to
this process. As more domestic and offshore investors acquire fixed
income assets they force prices up and yields down. This will
eventually cause investors to stop allocating additional capital to
fixed income assets and may generate a temporary equilibrium.

The opposite scenario can also appear: when interest rates fall,
fixed income investments appear less attractive, causing capital to
flow into other asset classes, including stocks and diversified
investment funds. Corporate interest expense declines, allowing
companies to boost their earnings and reinvestment, which helps
increase their stock prices. Under this scenario the domestic cur-
rency may appear less attractive in foreign eyes, and will lose
value as offshore investors liquidate their fixed income holdings
and repatriate capital (the amount repatriated depends, of course,
on their perception of domestic stock market opportunities). Sepa-
rately, a weaker domestic currency makes export goods appear
more competitive on the global stage, meaning global demand for
products can rise and earnings can grow. This can also lead to
higher stock prices. There is, of course, an equilibrium under this
scenario as well: at some point stock prices may trade at unsus-
tainable earnings multiples, causing investors to pull back and
search for other opportunities. This slows, and may even halt, the
rise in stock prices, perhaps to the point where fixed income
investments begin to appear attractive once again.

The general impact of interest rates on financial markets is
summarized in Table 10.1.

Let us also consider an example based on inflationary forces.
Inflation measures the price of goods and services at the wholesale
level (via indexes such as the producer price index) and at the
consumer level (through the consumer price index or the retail
price index). Rising inflation can result from excess demand for
goods/services during a strong phase of economic expansion.
Higher commodity prices can be a benefit to commodity producers
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Table 10.1 Interest rates and financial market impact

Scenario  Key financial market impact

Rates T o Capital is attracted to fixed income assets, causing stock
(and other asset) prices to fall.
e Borrowing costs rise, causing corporate profits to decline
and reinvestment to slow.
e Domestic currency strengthens, causing export goods to
become less competitive.

Rates | e Capital is diverted from fixed income assets to stocks and
other alternatives, causing their prices to rise.
e Borrowing costs decline, causing corporate profits to rise and
reinvestment to increase.
e Domestic currency weakens, causing export goods to become
more competitive.

(e.g. oil and natural gas companies, resources/mineral companies),
who may see their stock prices trade at strong earnings multiples,
but can be detrimental to commodity users (e.g. every company
that relies on commodity inputs to produce finished goods), who
may suffer from weaker earnings and/or be forced to hedge their
input exposures. During a period of growing inflation the national
central bank may be forced to deal with the problem by raising
interest rates; in fact, this is an important tool of monetary policy,
as we shall discuss below. Higher interest rates create two “anti-
inflation” effects: they make corporate borrowing more expensive,
which causes investment in production to slow, and they make
debt-financed purchases of goods more expensive, again causing
them to slow. Rising rates are thus used to cool an overheated
economy and bring prices back down. There is, of course, a balan-
cing act involved: we’ve noted in the example immediately above
that rising rates lead to greater corporate profit pressures and
lower stock market prices, which can reinforce negative signals
about an economic slowdown. Naturally, the opposite scenario
occurs when inflation is under control.

The general effects of inflation on financial markets are sum-
marized in Table 10.2.

Let’s analyze a third scenario where economic growth, as mea-
sured by gross domestic product — GDP, or the total output of
goods and services in an economy — weakens. When a national
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Table 10.2 Inflation and financial market impact

Scenario Key financial market impact

Inflation | e Prices of core commodities increase, causing corporate
earnings and stock prices of non-resource companies to
decline.

e Short-term interest rates begin to rise as the central
bank combats the price pressures, causing capital to be
diverted to fixed income assets.

e Borrowing costs rise, causing corporate profits to decline
and reinvestment to slow.

e Domestic currency strengthens, causing export goods to
become less competitive.

Inflation | e Prices of core commodities decrease, causing corporate
earnings and stock prices of non-resource companies to rise.
e Short-term interest rate hikes will cease, causing capital to
flow from fixed income assets to stocks and other financial
assets.
e Borrowing costs decline, causing corporate profits to rise
and reinvestment to increase.
e Domestic currency weakens, causing export goods to
become more competitive.

economy is contracting, corporate profits decline and stock prices
fall. In order to help restart economic activity, monetary autho-
rities may lower interest rates, which causes the prices of fixed
income securities to rise. Lowering rates also weakens the domestic
currency, making export goods appear more attractive on the
world markets, which ultimately helps boost earnings, and stock
prices, of companies active in the export sector. Inflation is unli-
kely to be much of a problem when the economy is weak: compa-
nies and customers will curtail demand for goods, easing price
pressures. In addition, the prices of many commodities are likely
to decline. Easing of price pressures allows the central bank to
lower interest rates without fear of a rise in inflation. The cycle of
lowering rates will continue until there is some evidence that
spending and capital investment are building once again. When the
economy begins its upturn — as evidenced by growing sales, con-
sumer debt, and corporate inventories — the central bank will
become more vigilant about inflation. Again, the opposite scenario
plays out when the economy is expanding.
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Table 10.3 GDP and financial market impact

Scenario  Key financial market impact

GDP 71 o Corporate profits rise, causing stock prices to rise.
e Short-term rates are increased (gradually), causing fixed
income asset prices to fall.
e Domestic currency strengthens, causing export goods to
become less competitive.
o Inflation pressures build, causing commodity prices to rise.

GDP | e Corporate profits fall, causing stock prices to decline.
o Short-term interest rates are lowered, causing fixed income
asset prices to rise.
e Domestic currency weakens, causing export goods to become
competitive.
o Inflation pressures abate, causing commaodity prices to fall.

Table 10.3 summarizes the financial market impact of GDP
scenarios.

We must, of course, be careful in generalizing these relation-
ships, because exceptions appear during specific market-driven
cycles. In fact, there is no concrete rule indicating the scenarios we
have discussed will always hold true. Nevertheless, there is suffi-
cient empirical evidence to suggest that these basic relationships
tend to occur under “normal” market conditions; they can therefore
be regarded as a useful guide.

MONETARY POLICY AND FINANCIAL VARIABLES

Monetary policy is the set of actions implemented by a govern-
ment that allows it to manage inflation and economic growth.
Most countries try to promote steady economic growth while
keeping inflation under control. The latter point is very important,
as an economy that is growing rapidly, but which also features
high inflation rates, is in an unsustainable position: as noted above,
the purchasing power of consumers and companies will eventually
decline, leading to an economic slowdown (and an associated rise in
unemployment as workers are dismissed). Conversely, an economy
that is expanding at a steady pace with inflation held in check
represents a far more balanced system.
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Implementing monetary policy is a delicate task. Those respon-
sible, generally a group of officials within a country’s central bank,
must analyze and interpret a great deal of economic information,
some of which may offer conflicting signals on the health of the
economy. A sampling of the key data that officials use to gauge the
state of economic affairs is summarized in Table 10.4. Proper
interpretation of this data is vital, as any misreading may cause
officials to take the wrong actions. Unfortunately, some of these
measures are subject to “after the fact” revisions, which makes the
job even more challenging.

In order to actually manage policy to stated goals, central banks
rely on several different tools, including changes in the discount rate,
open market operations, and changes in bank reserve requirements.

e Changes in the discount rate: The most visible, and frequently

used, tool of monetary policy involves changing official short-
term interest rates. For instance, the central bank may raise

Table 10.4 Sample of key economic measures

Measure

Indication

Gross domestic product
Employment

Producer price index
Consumer price index

Industrial production

Durable goods orders

Merchandise inventory
Merchandise trade
Housing starts

New home sales
Construction spending

Retail sales

Amount of goods and services produced, overall
size and pace of economic growth

The level of the employment pool and the
amount of workers that are unemployed

Level of retail prices/inflation in the

wholesale sector

Level of retail prices/inflation in the

consumer sector

Level of production in the wholesale sector and
the degree to which productive processes are
utilized

The amount of durable goods, plant, and
equipment processed

The level of inventory on hand

The balance of trade (exports minus imports)
The amount of new home construction started
The amount of new homes sold

The amount spent on commercial and
residential construction

The amount of sales conducted at the consumer
level
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interest rates to slow an overheating economy that is showing
signs of inflation. When the central bank raises its short-term
rates all other risky short-term rates rise as well. As we’ve
already noted, higher rates cause firms and individuals to
borrow less. Less borrowing, in turn, means less investment/
expansion in productive endeavors, a slowdown in production,
and less debt-financed purchases by consumers and companies.
A smaller amount of purchases translates into less price pres-
sure, which leads to a gradual slowing of the economy and a
decline in inflation. The opposite scenario holds true: if the
economy is sluggish and free of inflationary pressures, the
central bank can lower rates to stimulate borrowing, spending,
and investment in productive processes; these lead ultimately to
an expansion in economic growth.

Open market operations: A subtle, but effective, tool that cen-
tral banks frequently employ involves open market operations,
or management of liquidity in the financial system. For
instance, when the financial system at large is awash with
liquidity (e.g. an excess of cash) banks continue making loans,
spurring economic activity and placing upward pressure on
prices. To keep inflation in check the central bank’s dealing desk
may issue government securities to financial institutions. Since
banks and dealers must pay cash for the securities, the central
bank draws liquidity out of the system, giving banks less cash
by which to make loans; this flows through the system and
leads to some curtailment of economic activity. The opposite is
also true: the central bank can offer to buy holdings of gov-
ernment securities from financial institutions, reinjecting
liquidity into the system; banks can then use the additional
liquidity to make loans, thereby stimulating economic activity.
A central bank can also balance the requirements through
repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements; as noted earlier,
a repurchase agreement is simply a collateralized borrowing,
while a reverse repurchase agreement is a collateralized lending.
Changes in bank reserve requirements: Central banks can also
implement monetary policy through a third tool, though they
tend to do so infrequently. Specifically, they can influence the
level of interest rates, inflation, and economic growth by altering
the reserve requirements applied to banks operating in the
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national system. In most financial systems a bank must set
aside in non-interest bearing assets a particular percentage of its
balance sheet. For instance, if the current reserve requirement
is 10 percent, a bank is able to create €90 of new loans with
€100 in new deposits; the remaining €10 of reserve require-
ments must be held in the form of non-interest bearing assets.
If the central bank is concerned about an overheated economy,
it will try to slow the amount of new credit being extended by
banks to individuals and companies. Rather than increase short-
term rates, it may raise the reserve requirement (e.g. from 10
percent to 15 percent); this means that a bank that previously
granted €90 in new loans for every €100 of new deposits taken
in, can now only make €85 in new loans. The credit phase is thus
less expansionary and should lead to a slowdown in the purchas-
ing and investing activities of borrowers. While the example
above is simplified, we can easily imagine the same requirement
applied to all banks throughout the system: if the entire bank-
ing system has €1 billion in deposits and the reserve require-
ment changes by 5 percentage points, loan capacity declines by
€50 million; if the deposit base is €10 billion, loan capacity

| Central bank |
l‘ v 1

Increase discount
rate

l

Sell government
securities

l

Raise reserve
requirements

1

Figure 10.1a Tools to slow

economic growth/inflation
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individuals and use liquid resources to allocate more liquid
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consumption and available for loans 2. Amount of deposits
investment declines declines available for loans

3. Economic growth slows 3. Borrowing for declines

4. Inflationary pressures consumption and 3. Borrowing for
decline investment declines consumption and

4. Economic growth slows investment declines
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declines by a rather significant €500 million; and so forth. We
can see, then, how this might be a useful macro-economic
management tool. The opposite can also occur, of course: if the
central bank wants to stimulate economic growth it can reduce
the reserve requirement, enabling banks to lend more to indi-
viduals and companies that are ready to consume and invest.

These elements of monetary policy are summarized in Figures
10.1a and 10.1b.

We must also be aware that, in addition to monetary policy,
nations rely on adjustments to fiscal policy to influence economic
growth. However fiscal policy, which attempts to influence inflation
and economic growth through changes in taxes and government
spending, is generally agreed to be a medium- to long-term process.

THE DYNAMIC MARKETPLACE

The financial markets of the twenty-first century are built on the
concepts and activities we have considered throughout the book. In
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fact, many of the financial tools, instruments, and transactions
have existed for decades, sometimes even centuries, and have
become part of the fabric of the financial process. But events of the
past two decades, in particular, have altered fundamentally certain
aspects of the marketplace. Specifically, the marketplace has
become more dynamic, flexible, and innovative, primarily as a
result of forces of deregulation, capital mobility, volatility, and
technology.

e Deregulation: As we've observed in Chapter 9, financial reg-
ulations exist to help protect end-users and/or to control the
behaviors of intermediaries. While regulations are designed to
provide proper control, they can create inefficiencies, particu-
larly in free market economies that operate on the basis of
market forces. Industrialized and emerging economies have
historically featured some amount of financial regulation.
While many rules have been useful in protecting end-users
(e.g. mandatory deposit insurance offered by banks), others
have actually led to the development of competitive barriers
(e.g. forbidding commercial banks from offering investment
banking services, prohibiting offshore insurance companies
from offering insurance in the local marketplace, requiring all
stock trading to flow through a certain exchange, placing inter-
est rate ceilings on deposit accounts). Regulatory barriers have
the effect of stifling competition and creating inefficiencies —
which can hurt end-users through higher costs and fewer
options. There has, however, been a greater turn toward
deregulation in many markets over the past few decades. Rules
that no longer fill the function originally intended have been
dismantled (e.g. commercial banks can now offer investment
banking services, interest rate ceilings on deposits have been
eliminated, offshore insurers can participate in the local mar-
ketplace). The operating environment has, in many cases,
become more competitive and innovative as a result.

e Capital mobility: We have seen at various points that capital is
the essential ingredient in corporate expansion and economic
progress. When capital can be raised at reasonable rates, com-
panies (and sovereigns) are likely to borrow or issue stock/
bonds in order to fund their investment and expansion plans;
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this, in turn, helps boost production, consumption, and eco-
nomic growth. When capital is mobile, it is able to freely search
for the best possible return opportunities. In many cases pools
of capital are no longer trapped within national or regional
borders but can circulate throughout the international financial
system.

e Volatility: Financial market volatility drives investment, fund-
ing, and risk management decisions. If the financial markets
were perfectly stable, there would be no risk and little need to
make complicated financial decisions. The very forces of dereg-
ulation and capital mobility mentioned above have led to steady
increases in the volatility of asset prices and market indicators
over the past few decades, meaning that the marketplace at
large has become much more dynamic. The seminal event con-
tributing to the rise in financial volatility was the dismantling,
in 1972, of the fixed exchange rate regime that had pegged the
value of major currencies for nearly three decades. Once the
major global economies moved to a floating exchange rate
regime, financial asset volatility began to rise. Various sub-
sequent events have compounded the volatility effect, e.g.
elimination of interest rate ceilings, removal of commodity
price controls, dismantling of fixed stock commissions, and
deregulation of energy distribution systems, to name but a few.

e Technology: Advanced computing, communications, and net-
working technologies have been instrumental in changing the
shape of the financial landscape and there is certainly no indi-
cation that the pace of change will slow. The creation of new
technology allows intermediaries, end-users, and regulators to
conduct their business and duties more efficiently and accu-
rately, generating cost savings in the process. We must, of
course, remember that recurring cost savings and incremental
revenues generated by new technologies represents only the
cash flow portion of the NPV framework; the initial investment
in technologies, which is often quite substantial, has to be fac-
tored into the equation. Nevertheless, it is clear that long-term
investment in technology is often a positive NPV decision.

The dynamism created by these forces has changed the face of
finance over the past few decades, and there is little to suggest that
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things will slow. The effects of market impact are widespread, and
include:

e Greater competition: Deregulation and the race for new busi-
ness in various international financial markets has intensified
the level of competition amongst traditional intermediaries
(banks, insurers) as well as “new” intermediaries (e.g. non-
bank financial institutions, captive finance companies). What
are the implications of this competition? Margin and profit
compression within the group of intermediaries as they try to
gain or preserve market share, and greater economic advantages
for end-users, who become the beneficiaries of cut-rate pricing.

e More innovation: The financial markets have long provided
participants with innovative ways of solving financial problems.
Intermediaries are likely to develop increasingly innovative
solutions as technology advances permit more precise pricing of
risks, the capital bases and risk-taking abilities of intermediaries
continue to expand, and competitive pressures threaten profits.
In fact, there is already substantial evidence that this is occur-
ring: many new derivative instruments and corporate financing
techniques have been created in recent years, and electronic
trading conduits (e.g. electronic communications networks, or
ECNs, which allow for virtually instantaneous online trading)
have become commonplace, supplementing more traditional
trading forums.

e Greater transparency: We have stressed the importance of
financial statements in the analysis and decision-making pro-
cess, and we’ve noted some of the efforts that have occurred in
recent years to inject a greater level of transparency into the
corporate accounts (e.g. moving off balance sheet items back on
the balance sheet, disclosing more information about risks, and
so on). As the major accounting approaches of the world begin to
harmonize, and as investors and analysts continue to demand more
information as part of the governance and accountability pro-
cess, financial statement transparency should continue to improve.
Competitive pressures should also play a role: as one company
begins to publish increasingly detailed accounting information,
peer companies may be “forced” to do the same — again, to the
benefit of investors, creditors and other stakeholders.
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e Increased efficiencies: Enterprise value can be enhanced through
improved efficiencies. We know that companies that are able to
reduce SG&A or operating expenses and manage their working
capital and risks more efficiently can boost value. Technology
is, of course, central to enhanced efficiencies. We cite just a few
of many examples: workplaces are increasingly automated,
meaning firms spend less time and expense on manually
intensive work processes; computer-based real-time inventory
management is also increasingly common, allowing firms to
keep a minimal amount of raw materials on hand - this leads to
smaller inventories and lower inventory financing costs; e-
commerce distribution/sales solutions, an important channel of
revenue generation for small and large firms, are increasingly
used to shrink or eliminate aspects of the physical distribution
system; and so forth. Deregulation can also generate effi-
ciencies. Since forces of deregulation lead to the opening of
markets to new competitors, price competition often results.
Those operating in a previously regulated market may be ben-
eficiaries of such price competition through lower input prices.
Naturally, firms that must generate revenues in a deregulating
market will feel the same price pressures; to preserve profit
margins they will be forced to find new ways of cutting costs
or, in more extreme scenarios, merge or acquire in order to
achieve economies of scale.

e Deeper global penetration: The concept of the global cor-
poration has been mooted for many decades and appears now to
be a reality. Firms with a national focus have long sought to
expand their geographic presence by creating operations in
other countries or acquiring/partnering with foreign entities.
Deregulation and mobile capital, coupled with increasingly
simple and efficient forms of technological communication
across borders, means that companies choosing to establish a
global footprint can do so with greater ease. This has impor-
tant implications for various aspects of finance: greater oppor-
tunities to source raw materials in offshore locations; larger
currency exposures that need to be managed actively; more
chances to distribute goods and services to a wider audience,
accompanied by faster inventory and receivables turnover; and
$0 on.
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Forces of change
Deregulation Capital mobility Volatility Technology
Market impact
Greater competition More innovation Greater
transparency
Increased Deeper global
efficienci per

Figure 10.2 Forces of change and market impact

Forces of change and market impact are summarized in Figure 10.2.

Our list here is not, of course, all-inclusive. Other benefits will
invariably accrue to companies that use the latest financial techni-
ques, products and instruments to manage their daily operations.
And others as yet unknown will appear over time as the landscape
continues to evolve. However, many of the core financial operating
principles we have discussed in this book will continue to remain a
relevant, and important, cornerstone of prudent management.
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